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CRISWELL FAMILY AMONG EARLY SETTLERS 

AND HEROES OF TEXAS HISTORY 

(Documented by Raleigh R. Criswell & Martha Criswell Bailey) 

John Yancy Criswell, Sr. (b. 1786) and his wife, Eleanor Vannoy 

(b. 1795), with their eight children (ranging in age from 16 to 1 year) 

emigrated from Barbourville, Knox County, Kentucky in 1829. Traveling 

overland by wagon by way of the Missouri State, evidently intending to 

settle there, but not liking that part of the country moved on to Texas 

as members of Stephen F. Austin's Third Colony. They crossed the 

Sabine River into Texas November 29, 1830 and arrived in the township 

of Matagorda, Texas in early 1831. Upon their arrival, John Yancy 

Criswell, Sr. purchased town lots and in June 1831, the Mexican govern­

ment issued him Land Grant //ll, containing one league on the West Bank 

of the Colorado River, Matagorda County, Texas. Land grants to new 

settlers of Stephen F. Austin's Colonies were made available by the 

Mexican government to encourage colonist to settle their country. 

After living on the land the required three years, the family moved on 

in December 1834 to Fayette County, Texas. They settled in a community 

on Woods Prairie near the Colorado River where in early 1835, Eleanor 

Vannoy Criswell passed away and was buried on the homesite. (The 

property was later deeded to the Old Plum Grove Baptist Church & 

Cemetery on Criswell Creek, near West Point, Texas on Highway #71, 

across the Colorado River from La Grange, Texas.) The settlement was 

protected from Indians by a fort (Woods Fort) built by Zadock Wood who 

had also moved from Matagorda, Texas a t an earlier date. 

There were some twenty thousand settlers in Texas by 1830, mostly 

Americans who had emigrated into the country since 1820. The Mexican 

government became fearful the colonists would try to join the United 

States of America and considered closing their borders. To discourage 

further settlers, the Mexican government imposed import and export 

-f̂ p taxes and increased their militia to control the activities of the 

r0^ settlers and also encouraged the various Indian tribes to harass them. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

As a result, some military events took place — Battle of Nacogdoches, 

August 2, 1832 and Battle of Fort Velasco, June 26, 1832 — both won by 

the settlers. Stephen F. Austin went to Mexico to try to convince the 

government that the colonists did not wish to join the United States, 

but was unsuccessful and imprisoned for two years. Mexico had a 

revolutionary change in its government and came under the control of a 

tyrant dictator by the name of Santa Anna. In June 1835, Col. Travis 

took the Mexican Garrison at Anahuac, Texas. Upon his release, Austin 

returned and began to form an army as he knew the Mexican dictatorial 

government could not be dealt with. 

At this time in history (1835), John Yancy Criswell, Sr. was 

widowed with eight children ranging in age from twenty-two to six 

years. (Leroy Vannoy 22; William Vannoy 20; Candace Ann 19; Mary Jane 

18; James Henry 13; John Yancy, Jr. 11; Joseph Eve 8; and Andrew 

Jackson 6.) They lived in an area harassed by the Commanche Indians 

and Tehuacana Indians and on many occasions were called upon to 

provision members for the Texas Volunteer Army. In July, 1835, John 

Yancy, Sr. joined Col. John H. Moore to go to the aid of Capt. R. M. 

Coleman's Company which was being attacked by Indians as they were on a 

mission of peace with the Tehuacana Indians near Parkers Fort. They 

pursued the Indians as far as the forks of the Trinity River and then 

down the Brazos River. They failed to locate the escaping Indians but 

did have encounters with several roving bands, killing and capturing a 

few. 

On September 28, 1835, Leroy Vannoy Criswell (22) and William 

Vannoy Criswell (20) enlisted in the Texas Volunteer Army and went 

directly to Gonzales, Texas where they were assigned under the command 

of Col. J. C. Neill's Artillery Company as privates. They were engaged 

in protecting a little cannon furnished the Gonzaleans by the Mexicans 

at an earlier date to protect themselves against hostile Indians. The 

Mexican militia sent from Bexar (San Antonio) now demanded its return, 

however the Texans interpreted the request as an attempt to disarm them 

of both large and small fire arms. Their answer was delayed until 
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reinforcements arrived and then they erected a flag saying, "COME AND 

TAKE IT". The battle that followed on October 2, 1835 was considered 

as the opening of "hostilities" against the Mexican dictatorial 

government, and the Mexican militia was soundly defeated. Stephen F. 

Austin arrived from his headquarters at San Felipe and took charge and 

reorganized the army with intentions of driving the Mexicans back 

across the Rio Grande River. Leroy and William Criswell accompanied 

their command to Camp Near Bexar (San Antonio) to lay siege to that 

city. On October 9, LJ35, Goliad was captured by Capt. Collingsworth 

and Bowie and Fannin defeated four hundred fifty Mexicans at the Battle 

of Conception, near Bexar. On November 3, 1835, Adjutant Westover 

captured Lipantitan (near Corpus Christi). The Grass Fight, near Bexar 

— four hundred Mexicans retreated from two hundred Texans on November 

8, 1835. The Mexican militia under command of Gen. Cos, was well 

entrenched in its fortifications at Bexar — they were fourteen hundred 

in number. The Texans withheld their assault for fear of having too 

many casualties. Stephen F. Austin returned to San Felipe to care for 

pressing government affairs and the Texans became weary of waiting to 

attack — many left to return home to care for their families. Leroy 

V. Criswell received his honorable discharge November 24, 1835, however 

he remained at Camp Near Bexar and on December 5, 1835, he joined Col. 

Ben R. Milam in answer to his call of "WHO WILL GO INTO BEXAR WITH OLD 

BEN MILAM"! Milam's Battalion advanced down Calle de la Acequia 

(street) and Johnson's Battalion advanced down Calle de la Soledad, 

while Col. J. C. Neill's Artillery Company (of which William V. 

Criswell was a member) bombarded the Alamo Mission to divert the 

attention of the Mexican troops. The battle lasted until December 10, 

1835 and is considered as one of the hardest fought during the revolu­

tion. Leroy V. Criswell witnessed the killing of Col. Ben R. Milam on 

December 7, 1835 at the Veramendi House. (He named his youngest son 

Milam Criswell in honor of his commander.) The Mexican militia was 

again soundly defeated and Gen. Cos surrendered unconditionally, 

retreating to Mexico. William V. Criswell's honorable discharge is 

dated December 13, 1835 and Leroy V. Criswell was later credited for 

serving to December 13, 1835. (On December 27, 1835, William & Leroy 
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Criswell issued a draft to cover expenses during this period, as 

follows: "The Provincial Government of Texas to Leroy and William 

Criswell Dr.; Sept. 1835, % 3 lbs. coffee bought of Tatum & Lee $1.00; 

% 5 lbs. sugar bought of Lee — $1.00; Oct. 4, % 5 lbs. of sugar bought 

at Gonzales $1.00; % cash paid out for sapp and corn meal at St. 

Antonio .75; December 27, two dollars paid a doctor at Gonzales $2.00, 

Total $5.75". (The money paid to John Y. Criswell, Sr. assignee.) 

Leroy and William Criswell probably returned to their home on 

Woods Prairie with thoughts of peace and settling down; however, news 

quickly spread through the colonies that the Mexican dictator, Santa 

Anna, was leading a huge army to crush the revolution. General Sam 

Houston was elected to lead the Texas Volunteer Army but was having 

problems gathering and arming a sizable force. Tragic events began to 

happen: an expedition against Matamoros by the Texans in January, 1836, 

proved an entire failure; (Feb. 11, 1836, a squad of volunteers enroute 

to San Antonio issued the following draft in favor of John Y. Criswell, 

Sr.: "This is to verify that we in behalf of a Squad of Volunteers 

traveling to St. Antonio, being out of provisions called upon John Y. 

Criswell who fed us in his own house with his own provisions for the 

night and next morning breakfast, eight of us two meals @25 cts. Say 

five dollars for which the government will no doubt reimburse him. We 

being authorized to draw on said government for provisions. Signed M» 

Autry, D. W. Cloud, Agents for Squad." ("These men later perished at the 

Alamo) The town of Bexar (San Antonio) was again taken by the Mexicans 

and the Texans retired to the Alamo Mission Feb. 21, 1836; Assault of 

the Alamo by Santa Anna — put to the sword March 6, 1836; Mexicans 

defeated in first fight of Mission del Refugio by Texans under Capt. 

King, March 9, 1836; Second fight of Mission del Refugio, Col. Ward 

attacked and drove back a large body of Mexicans, March 10, 1836; Wards 

retreat from Mission del Refugio, March 11, 1836 — surrendered March 

24th, massacred on 28th; Defeat of Col. Fannin, with four hundred 

fifteen men, all massacred by Mexicans March 19, 1836. General Sara 
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Houston, unable to gather enough forces to meet and battle the large 

Mexican force, began an orderly retreat from Gonzales on March 19, 

1836. Gen. Houston retreated to the east, up the La Bahia Road through 

Woods Prairie (The Criswell's Home) to Burnham's Crossing (La Grange) 

on the Colorado River. John Y. Criswell, Sr. and his family and 

neighbors prepared the best they could to get out of the way of the 

advancing Mexican Army. They crossed the Colorado River at neighbor, 

Wm. Barton's, place by floating families and light possessions across 

on inflated beef hides, but were turned back by Commanche Indians. 

After a few days delay, they again crossed the Colorado River at 

Burham's Crossing (La Grange) and followed the La Bahia Road to 

Washington on the Brazos and then on to Robbins Crossing on the Trinity 

River. They were awaiting their turn to cross the Trinity River when 

news was received on April 21, 1836 that the Mexican Army had been 

defeated at San Jacinto. (John Y. Criswell, Jr. wrote an editorial for 

the La Grange Journal, Vol. 9, No. 52, dated Dec. 20, 1888, under the 

by-line of "Thoughts of By Gone Days" in which he gives a vivid 

description of the Wood's Prairie Settlers escape from the Mexican 

Army.) Leroy V. Criswell remained with his father to help with the 

younger members of the family, while on March 24, 1836, William V. 

Criswell re-enlisted in the Texas Volunteer Army (to June 27, 1836) 

while Gen. Sam Houston's forces were camped at Beason's Crossing 

(Columbus). He was assigned to the First Regiment, Texas Volunteers as 

a Private in Company "C" under command of Capt. Jesse Billingsley. He 

remained with his command during Gen. Houston's further retreat to San 

Felipe, Groce's Ferry, Harrisburg, New Washington and then to San 

Jacinto where the Texans made a stand and defeated the Mexican Army, 

capturing its leader Santa Anna, thereby ending the war on April 21, 

1836. (William Vannoy Criswell was declared a hero of the Texas 

Revolution and his body is buried in the State Cemetery at Austin, 

Texas.) 

Once again, the Criswell Family returned to their home on Woods 

Prairie only to learn that the Commanche and Kiowa Indians were on the 

warpath, raiding and plundering various settlements. The Texas 
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Congress responded by creating a battalion of "mounted riflemen" known 

also as "rangers". John Y. Criswell, Sr. was again called upon to 

provision troops and was issued the following draft: (1) "This is to 

certify that the Ranging Corps, under the command of Col. E. Burleson, 

made use of three bushels of corn at one dollar and fifty cents per 

bushel and one bushel of potatoes at one dollar, property of J. Y. 

Chriswell. Colorado, July 22, 1836. Signed John G. McG , Capt. M. 

R. Corps." (2) "Colorado City, June 5, 1837. The Government of Texas 

will pay John Y. Chriswell on order, four dollars and .50c for pro­

visions furnished my company. Signed Wm. M. Easterland, Capt. of 

Rangers". 

The Indian problem became acute in 1837 and Pres. Sam Houston 

created forces that became the foundation of the Texas Rangers. In 

1838, Leroy V. Criswell (age 25) served as an Indian fighter and was 

issued the following discharge: "This is to certify that Leroy V. 

Criswell served as a private in the mounted rifle company under my 

command in Col. Moore's Battalion, fifty days and as such faithfully 

discharged his duty October 23, 1838. Signed by R. M. Williamson, 

Capt. thru John H. Moore Commanding." 

On September 30, 1839, John Yancy Criswell, Sr. passed away and 

was buried on the homesite next .to his wife, Eleanor Vannoy Criswell. 

He died of inflamation of the lungs contracted during a March 1839 trip 

back to Kentucky on business. He died intestate and Leroy V. Criswell 

was appointed administrator of the estate. (Homesite is now Old Plum 

Grove Cemetery.) 

In 1840, the Commanche Indians gave up their claims to the lands 

in central Texas and retreated to the West and North. The Colt 

Repeater Pistol (five shots) furnished the Rangers proved to be the 

deciding factor. 
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Problems with Mexico continued to exist as Santa Anna, upon his 

return to Mexico, denied the Treaty of Velasco and swore to some day 

retake the lands claimed by the Republic of Texas. The lands between 

the Rio Grande, Nueces and upper San Antonio Rivers were principally 

settled by Mexicans and were in dispute. In March, 1842, a large 

Mexican force invaded the Republic of Texas and captured Golaid, 

Refugio, Victoria and San Antonio spreading general terror across the 

countryside; however, they retired back across the Rio Grande River 

before Texas forces could be mobilized. In September, 1842, a much 

larger force of fourteen hundred under Gen. Adrian Woll, a French 

soldier of fortune, recaptured San Antonio. Six hundred Texas Rangers, 

under command of John Coffee Hays, tricked the Mexicans to leave the 

fortifications of San Antonio and do battle at Salado Creek. The 

Texans killed about sixty while losing only one before the Mexicans 

retreated to San Antonio. When news of Woll's capture of San Antonio 

reached La Grange, a small relief column of fifty-five men led by Capt. 

N. M. Dawson marched to San Antonio, They were met and defeated by a 

superior force of Mexicans, losing about thirty-three men including 

their leader before surrendering. Those that surrendered were either 

executed or imprisoned in Mexico; however, a few did manage to escape 

prison. (See John Y. Criswell, Jr.'s article in the La Grange Journal, 

Vol. 10, No. 13, dated March 21, 1889, under the by-line, "A Correc­

tion" in which he gives his version of who returned among the La 

Grange, Texas volunteers led by Dawson.) General Woll held San Antonio 

about nine days before withdrawing to the border with a number of Texas 

prisoners in tow. News of Mexico's second invasion and the capture of 

San Antonio by General Woll led Pres. Sam Houston to declare a state of 

emergency to satisfy the outpour of public opinion. Many Texans rushed 

to join the army and in the fall of 1842, an expedition led by Gen. 

Alexander Somervell headed toward the Rio Grande. While the purpose of 

the expedition was to rescue the captured Texans, terror and pillage of 

the border was all that was accomplished as it was realized the pris­

oners could not be rescued. They managed to capture Larado and 

Guerrero, seventy miles to the south, when ordered on Dec. 19, 1842, to 

return to Gonzales, Texas. (Records show that Leroy V. Criswell (29), 
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William V. Criswell (27) and John Y. Criswell, Jr. (18) served as 

privates in the expedition raised for the purpose of repulsing the 

invasion of the Republic of Texas by the Mexicans under Gen. Aderian 

Woll in the fall of the year 1842. Leroy V. and John Y. Criswell, Jr. 

were not assigned as members of any organized company, but served from 

the commencement to the conclusion of the campaign. William V, 

Criswell's records show that he served under the command of Capt. 

Thomas Rabb during the expedition.) A number of Texans did not agree 

to disband but chose to reorganize and follow the command of Col. W. S. 

Fisher. A company of Texas Rangers under the command of Ben McCullough 

had scouted the Mexican side of the Rio Grande to Meir and discovered a 

large force and advised Col. Fisher to give up his plan to attack Meir. 

Col. Fisher and his followers scoffed at the Rangers' advice. They 

attacked Meir on December 23, 1842 with about two hundred and fifty men 

against a superior force of about three thousand Mexicans and were 

defeated. The survivors were ordered executed, but instead were 

imprisoned. Later their fate was decided by drawing beans from a small 

earthen mug, white bean-exemption, black bean-death. Seventeen were 

executed and the remainder imprisoned — only a few escaped. Finally, 

on Sept. 16, 1844, a general amnesty won the release of all prisoners. 

(Somervell Expedition lasted from Nov. 25, 1842 to Jan. 8, 1843.) 

Pres. Sam Houston disbanded the army because it was too costly to 

maintain; however, he kept and enlarged the Texas Ranger force to 

protect the borders and keep the peace with the Indians. The Rangers 

were especially kept busy fighting and pursuing Mexican raiders that 

crossed the borders and attacked various cattle ranches. The Mexican 

government made no effort to control the raiders — in fact, they 

encouraged the practice. In 1844, James K. Polk became President of 

the United States — he favored the admittance of Texas to the U.S. — 

and in 1845, Texas was admitted by a joint resolution of Congress to 

become the 28th state of the Union. Mexico had often threatened it 

would declare war if the U.S. admitted Texas; however, it only broke 

diplomatic relations. The admittance question could have been settled 

without bloodshed; however, other quarrels developed. Mexico claimed 
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its borders to the Nueces River while Texas claimed the Rio Grande 

River, The Mexicans crossed the Rio Grande River in May, 1846 and made 

an atcack upon American troops stationed near Corpus Christi under the 

command of Gen. Zachary Taylor. President Polk responded by declaring 

war on Mexico. Records show that Andrew Jackson Criswell (16), John 

Yancy Criswell, Jr. (21) and Joseph Eve Criswell (18) were volunteer 

members of P. Hansbrough Bell's Company, Texas Mounted Volunteers 

(Corpus Christi Rangers), composed of personnel recruited primarily at 

Corpus Christi, Texas, mustered into federal service on Sept. 10, 1845, 

reorganized on March 10, 1846, and mustered out of federal service on 

July 6, 1846 at Matamoras, Mexico. Joseph Eve and Andrew Jackson 

Criswell returned to their homes in Fayette County, Texas while John 

Yancy Criswell, Jr. re-enlisted in Mabry B. Gray's Company, Texas 

Mounted Volunteers at Matamoras, Mexico on July 21, 1846 to July 17, 

1847. The Mexicans lost all battles and the Texas Rangers made a 

significant contribution to the campaign with their Colt revolver 

pistols. 

The children of John Yancy Criswell, Sr. moved into the area south 

of Woods Prairie (Vest Point, Texas), aarried and settled on farms near 

such settlements as Black Jack Springs v. near Muldoon), Oso (Flatonia), 

Praha, High Hill and Lvensviiie (Scfctulenberg); served by the old La 

Sania Road. In addition to livestock-, the families raised corn, ccttcn 

and their own vegetables. Wild cattle l_Longhoru} roamed the Texas 

prairies in great numbers and thrived on the lands that wcmld not 

support : arming. They were act claimed by anyone and were killed only 

tor their hides, tallow and "table meat*. They had no real -tcaetary 

value until it was learned that they could be driven, great distances 

through drought-stricken areas and survive rather well. A large 

oastera market seen developed as the easterners had develotre-c a taste 

-or aeat — th* "cattle drives'* vere ett J large herds were _-_i«__*_ to 

the rail "twa-is in Colorado and Kansas for shlgaenc ta market- and 

drives were ais-o made to the grasslands and ranges cf tiie central U. 5. 

ugctt wttioh to* fatten the cattle. The gra_rdc___l.-ire__ of John Taney 

Criswell* ST.. were anxious to- "follow the trail1* arid d i d scatter tc 
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different parts of the state and country to get away from the hard life 

of farming on poor soil and drought areas. Letters from Tom Menefee 

Criswell to his brother, David Robert Criswell, give a vivid descrip­

tion of his life as a foreman for the Driskill Ranches. Other family 

members' letters show the everyday trials of making a living in those 

days. 

FINIS 
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CHILDREN OF JOHN YANCY CRISWELL AND MARY ELEANOR VANNOY 
(Six boys and two girls) 

1. LEROY VANNOY CRISWELL, b.1813 
2/24/1842 

Children (14): 
Eliza Jane 
Mary Elander 
John Fines 
Waymond Wesley 
William Milton 
Henry Elias 
James Harvey 
Ruth Ragsdale 
Thomas Menefee 
David Robert 
Joann E. 
Larking 
Leander Vannoy (Lee) 
Milam 

d.1868, m.Elizabeth A. McMicken 

b.02/02/1843 
b.06/15/1844 
b.12/25/1845 
b.11/23/1847 
b.08/01/1849 
b.03/22/1851 
b.11/22/1853 
b.12/23/1855 
b.11/05/1856 
b.10/18/1858 
b.06/27/1860 
b.12/01/1862 
b. 1864 
b.03/18/1866 

d.02/19/1933 

d.10/28/1882 

d.02/22/1952 

d.04/12/1886 
d.01/02/1944 

d.03/01/1926 

2. 

3. 

WILLIAM VANNOY CRISWELL, b.4/15/1815, d.1/19/1858, m.Mary 
Elizabeth McMicken 10/12/1844 

Children (7): 
Elizabeth J. 
Martha 
Sarah E. 
Mary A. 
John H. 
Lillie M. 
J. Yancy (Yank) 

CANDACE ANN CRISWELL, b.1816, d.7/28/1900, (Married three times) 
(1) Underwood (2) L. F. Cottle (3) 0. T. Fitzgerald 
Children (7): (None by Underwood) 
Ellen Cottle 
Henry S. Cottle 
Cordelia Cottle 
Leander Cottle 
Amanda Jane Fitzgerald 
Nancy Ann Fitzgerald 
William David Fitzgerald 

MARY JANE CRISWELL, b.1817, d.1861/66, m.M. William Eadden 
9/ /1838 

Children (4): 
David Hadden 
Thomas Hadden 
Virginia Hadden and twin, name unknown 
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JAMES HENRY CRISWELL, b.1822, d.(c) 1875, m.Cary Millie Harkins 
1856 

Children (3): 
Thomas Jefferson b. 1858 
Mollie L. b. 1861 
Emma P. b. 1864 

JOHN YANCY CRISWELL, JR., b.11/27/1824, d.10/7/1896, m.Mary 
Rebecca 0'Daniel 1847 

Children (7): 
Martha F. 
Sophronia 
Mary E. 
Lucy A. 
Joel Silas 
Leander (Lee) H. 
William John (Jack) 

JOSEPH EVE CRISWELL, b. 
1848 

Children (11): 
Anderson 
Sophronia 
Amanda 
William David 
Eliza Kate 
Sarah Ellen 
Joseph Eve (Jr.) 
Dora Ellen 
Elias Fares (Buck) 
George Alexander 
Emily 

8/6/1827, 

b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 
b. 

d.(c) 1883, 

04/26/1849 
12/28/1850 
02/06/1853 
03/25/1857 
12/12/1858 
07/01/1860 
07/01/1862 
10/30/1865 
09/04/1867 
02/22/1869 
04/20/1871 

m.Sarah 

d. 
d. 

d. 

d. 
d. 

Ann McMick< 

08/30/1917 
10/11/1861 

11/24/1875 

08/31/1900 
03/03/1875 

ANDREW JACKSON CRISWELL, b.1829, d.(c) 1862, m.Sarah Trimble 1847 
Children (2): 
James Jackson (Jack) 
Sara Martha 
(Andrew and Sarah divorced and Andrew moved to Louisiana, 
settling near Mansfield. Indications are that he changed his 
name to "Jack" Criswell. Soon after the Civil War began, he 
had an occasion to meet one of his nephews at a Confederate 
camp — see write-up about Candace Ann Criswell.) 
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LEROY VANNOY CRISWELL 

(1st child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

Leroy Vannoy Criswell, b. 1813, Barboursville, Knox Co., Kentucky, 

emigrated to Texas 1829-30 at age 16 with parents and brothers and 

sisters. Settled at Matagorda, Matagorda Co., Texas and moved with 

family in 1835 to Woods Prairie (West Point, Tx.). Participated in 

opening battle of the Texas Revolution at Gonzales, Tx., Oct. 2, 1835 

as member of J. C. Neill's Artillery Co., protecting a little cannon 

from being surrendered to a Mexican militia. Fought at the Battle of 

Bexar (San Antonio, Tx.) in J. C. Neill's Artillery Co.; discharged 

Nov. 24, 1835 and joined Col. Ben R. Milam's Battalion and witnessed 

the death of Col. Milam during the hardest fought battle of the 

revolution, Dec. 5-10, 1835. Accompanied his father and younger 

members of the family while "moving out of the way of the advancing 

Mexican Army" in March and April 1836. Served as an "Indian fighter" 

in Col. J. H. Moore's Mounted Rifle for fifty days through Oct. 23, 

1838. Served in Somervell Expedition to repel the invasion of Texas by 

Mexico led by Gen. Aderian Woll, 1842-43. Married Elizabeth A. 

McMicken on Feb. 24, 1842. (His brothers, William V. and Joseph Eve, 

also married daughters of Andrew and Eliza McMicken who had emigrated 

from Tennessee after the Texas War for Independence.) Leroy was 29 at 

the time of marriage, she was 17. Immediately after the marriage, they 

took into the household 15 year old Joseph Eve and 13 year old Andrew 

Jackson (his younger brothers whose parents were dead at this time). 

Also, part of the household was a "Negro" girl owned by the John Y. 

Criswell, Sr. Estate. As administrator of his father's estate, he 

farmed the family land in addition to his own. Leroy and his family 

first settled at Black Jack Springs (near Muldoon) and his children 

attended the Black Jack Springs School taught by Mr. William Gorham, 

whose wife was a close friend to Candace Criswell Cottle. The Cottles 

also lived in the same area. Later, Leroy's family moved and settled 

near "old Flatonia" (Oso) and Praha. In his will, dated August 5, 

1862, Leroy states he owns "land, Negroes, cattle, horses and 

tenements" to be shared equally among his children for their education. 
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It is believed that Elizabeth A. Criswell died after giving birth to 

Milam, who was born March 18, 1866 and that Leroy V. Criswell also died 

soon after. "The Honorable Court of Fayette County, having been 

solicited by the Relatives of Leroy V. Criswell to take charge of the 

State. I hereby make application for letters of administration of 

estate of Leroy V. Criswell & wife deceased at the next term of said 

court on this 29th day of June 1866." Wm. Boykin, husband of the 

eldest daughter and oldest child Eliza Jane, was appointed one of the 

administrators of the estate. The younger children were taken into the 

Boykin household. Leroy Vannoy Criswell and Elizabeth A. Criswell were 

buried at Duff Cemetery (also known as Mulberry Cemetery) about 

one-half or one mile southeast of the village of Praha. The property 

adjoining the cemetery was sold to a Chec or Bohemian farmer who, not 

realizing his actions, removed grave markers and planted grain in their 

place. He later replaced some markers, but many locations were lost. 

Leroy and Elizabeth (along with son, Larkin) had no markers on their 

graves. 

There were fourteen (14) children born by Elizabeth A. and Leroy 

V. Criswell: 

(1) Eliza Jane Criswell, b. Feb. 2, 1843, m. Sep. 30, 1858 to William 

Joseph Boykin. In 1886, the family was living in Elmendorf, Bexar Co., 

Texas where he farmed cotton. A daughter, Callie Boykin, wrote in 1886 

that "brother Bobie has gone to the RR to work. He is doing well, has 

not been sick in a good time". Eliza Jane died Feb. 19, 1933 in 

Estelline, Hall Co., Texas. 

(2) Mary Elander Criswell, b. June 15, 1844, m. March 15, 1860 to 

Benjamin W. Garey in Praha, Fayette Co., Texas. She died after 1880. 

(3) John Fines Criswell, b. Dec. 25, 1845 at Black Jack Springs, 

Fayette Co., Texas, m. Feb. 5, 1868 to Margaret Rhilie Jackson in Oso, 

Texas. In 1881-82 he and family were living in Bandera, Bandera Co., Tex. 

He was farming, raising some cattle and trading horses and mules 

Migrated to Bayard, N. M. where he died after 1918. His wife 
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died August 1, 1915. Children: Oliver b. 1870, James Harvey 

b. 1874, William Henry b. 1877, John Yancy b 1883, Qeorge Leroy 

b. 1886, Clarence Martin b. 1895, Eva, Etta, and Anna, daughters 

(4) Waymond Wesley Criswell, b. Nov. 23, 1847 in Black Jack Springs, 

Fayette Co., Texas. He served with the Confederate Forces in the Civil 

War and disappeared during the battle of Vicksburg; although his 

remains were not found, he is presumed to have died in battle. 

(5) William Melton Criswell, b. Aug. 1, 1849 in Black Jack Springs, 

Fayette Co., Texas, m. Nov. 1, 1871 to Martha L. (Nellie) Warwick in 

Bastrop Co., Texas. Numerous letters from him between 1879-82 - he had 

some cattle, but seemed to be primarily an itinerant horse trader; two 

letters indicate some trouble with the law. He was assinated in Comfort 

Texas by a "man named Kelly" on Oct. 28, 1882. The widow wrote 

they "only charged the Irishman with manslaughter". (See E 31 ) 

(6) Henry Elias Criswell, b. March 22, 1851 in Black Jack Springs, 

Fayette Co., Texas, m. April 13, 1871 to Mary E. Riffer (Rief) in 

Gonzales Co. He lived in De Witt Co., both in the Terryville Community 

and in Yoakum for nearly fifty years, and was the first Marshall of 

Yoakum. He held that job nearly twenty years and was elected Justice 

of the Peace, a position he held until his death in March 1922. The 

city of Yoakum named one of its streets in his honor. He died as a 

result of blood poisoning after having pricked his finger with an ice 

pick. His three children who survived him were W. H. Criswell, Mrs. B. 

0. Townsend and Mrs. J. D. Perkins. 

(7) James Harvey Criswell, b. Nov. 12, 1853 in Black Jack Springs, 

Fayette Co., Texas. Upon the death of his parents, when he was about 

13 or 14 years of age, he learned that his brother-in-law, Bill Boykin, 

was to be an administrator of his father's estate; "not liking old Bill 

Boykin worth a dam", he saddled his horse and left. "Went up the trail 

to North Dakota". Later he returned, married Melletta Jane Hester on 

March 14, 1872 in De Witt Co., Texas. In August 1883, he was living in 
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Johnson City, Blanco Co., Texas where he was engaged in farming. (He 

had, in fact, just won a $20 premium for bringing in the first bale of 

cotton for the season.) His letter states that he is thinking of 

moving to Kimble Co. He died on Feb. 22, 1952, in Corpus Christi, 

Texas eight months before his 100th birthdate. 

(8) Ruth R. Criswell, b. Dec. 23, 1855 in Fayette Co., Texas. She 

married twice, the first time to — Spinks. In 1885, she was living in 

Gonzales, was a widow with children (who she said had been helping her 

pick cotton), and had a job as a cook for two old people and their two 

boarders; she wrote, the job gave her and the children a nice place to 

live and paid $8 per month besides. She apparently later married 

someone named Thomas. Died in New York. 

(9) Thomas Menefee Criswell, b. Nov. 5, 1856 in Fayette Co., Texas. 

He never married, but had "followed the trail" (the old cattle trails) 

by the time he was 21; he was later responsible for running the 

Driskill ranches in Kansas, the Dakota territory, Indian territory and 

Montana. Numerous letters written between 1880-85 which still exist, 

give a fascinating look at the old cattle empires and how they 

operated. In 1885, his brother, Lee, wrote brother David Robert to 

"come get Tom as he is in a bad fix". He died in his brother's home in 

Buckholts, Milam Co., Texas on April 12, 1886. 

(10) David Robert Criswell, b. Oct. 18, 1858 in Fayette Co., Texas near 

the present day town of Flatonia. He was about 7 years of age when his 

parents died and was taken into the home of his brother-in-law, Bill 

Boykin. He "hit the cattle trails" at an early age and by the time he 

was 17, was a "trail boss" driving cattle from the Mesquite ranges of 

Southwest Texas. He worked for the Driskill range properties gathering 

large herds at Gonzales, on Padre Island and other points before 

driving them north to Colorado for delivery to markets. At the age of 

22, in the year 1880, received a "Life Scholarship" from Jones 

Commercial College, Austin, Texas upon the completion of a prescribed 

business course. He married Sophronia Isabelle Secrest (Belle) on 
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April 14, 1881. She was the seventh child of Thomas Secrest and Maria 

Dismuke Secrest who migrated to Texas from Ohio and settled in Fayette 

Co. on Mulberry Creek near the present day Schulenberg, Texas. After 

their first child was born they moved north to Milam County in 1883, 

settling on a farm and ranch land on Lapan Creek. He taught school in 

Milam County for a number of years, among his first schools at North 

Elm to which he rode six miles horseback each way. He was also a land 

surveyor and in 1902 he was admitted to the Bar of Texas and practiced 

law at Buckholts, Texas. He served continuously as Justice of the 

Peace for Precinct 6 at Buckholts, Texas for a half century. Six 

children were born to Sophronia Isabelle (Belle) and David Robert 

Criswell: 

1. Annie Bird Criswell, b. Jan. 22, 1882, Fayette County, Texas, 

m. John Taylor 19 , two daughters, d. 

a. Johnie Maud Taylor, m. Bill Harris, one son named 

Billie. 

b. Floris Taylor 

2. Dallas Vard Criswell, b. Oct. 28, 1884, d. Nov. 29, 1901, 

buried at North Elm Cemetary, Milam County, Texas. 

3. Pearl Roy Criswell, b. Sept. 1, 1886, Milam County, Texas. 

Married three times: T. M. Jackson (one son, Francis M. 

Jackson, b. Sept. 7, 1919, m. Dorothy Kelly, two children, d. 

19 ). Mr. Jackson died in 1934 and Pearl also outlived her 

next two husbands, a Mr. Lassiter and a Mr. Heliums. She 

died on April 16, 1966. 

4. Thomas Floris Criswell, Sr., b. April 28, 1888, d. July 21, 

1970, at Cameron, Texas, m. Annie Irene Lupton on Jan. 11, 

1914, four children: 

a. Thomas Floris Criswell, Jr., b. Feb. 9, 1915, m. 

Dorothy Marie Maerki. (Two children: Patricia Ann, b. 

Feb. 7, 1940 and Jean Elizabeth, b. April 5, 1944). 
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b. Dallas Lupton Criswell, b. Dec. 23, 1916, m. Muriel 

King. (Three sons: Rex Kirby, b. March 4, 1958, Scott 

Thomas, b. May 14, 1960, Glenn Dallas, b. July 13, 

1963). 

c. Ralph Munger Criswell, b. Dec. 13, 1919 (twin), d. 

June 27, 1983. Twice married: Olga Hendrick, (one 

child: Ralph Barry Criswell whose name was later changed 

to Borden). Second marriage to Diane Sullivan, (four 

children: David Sullivan, Cindy, Tracy Ann, Mark 

Sullivan). 

d. Raleigh R. Criswell, b. Dec. 13, 1919 (twin), m. 

Gertrude Marie Glider, (one child: Carol Leigh 

Criswell). 

5. Lennis Vannoy Criswell, b. May 30, 1890 at Buckholts, Milam 

County, Texas, m. Frank Nathan Craven, had two children: 

a. Frank Nathan Craven, Jr., b. May 16, 1918, m. Margie 

Burdett, (two children: Frank Nathan, III and a 

daughter). 

b. Joyce Isabelle Craven, b. May 26, 1920, m. James Dow 

Huggins, (two sons) 

6. Zorus Belle Criswell, b. Feb. 22, 1895, only nine months old 

when his mother died. Served in U. S. Navy during WWI, died 

Oct. 23, 1923 as a result of injuries received in an 

automobile wreck near his home. Was engaged to be married. 

Buried at Corenth Cemetery. 

Sophronia Isabelle Criswell died Nov. 1, 1895 and was buried at North 

Elm Cemetery, Milam County, Texas. The children ranging in age from 13 

years to nine months were taken in the household of Washington Hampton 

Secrest (Belle's oldest brother) and his wife "Aunt" Minnie, where they 

were kept until David Robert Criswell married. 

In June, 1897, David Robert Criswell married Stella Pollock Law, a 

widow of Tom Law with one daughter named Mildred. Stella was born Aug. 

18, 1867 in Tallahatchie County, Mississippi. Five children were born 

to this marriage: 
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1. Naomi Lee Criswell, b. July 7, 1897, m. W. L. English on 

Aug. 30, 1922, d. April, 1985, buried at Moran, Texas. Two 

children: 

a. Marie Joyce, m. Dallas Johnston on Aug. 7, 1948 

(three daughters: Lynn, b. July 23, 1949; Lisa, b. May 

21, 1951; Laurie, b. Aug. 5, 1959). 

b. Dona Louise, m. W. S. Moore on May 23, 1951 (two 

children: Leslie Ann Moore, b. Oct. 9, 1953 and William 

Shoffner Moore, b. June 29, 1956). 

2. Audrey Criswell, b. April 14, 1900, m. George Goree (no 

children). 

3. Cecil Robert Criswell, b. July 10, 1902, m. Lula Ezzell (no 

children). 

4. Delmar Ray Criswell, b. July 31, 1904, m. Viola Bowman on 

Feb. 14, 1938, two children: 

a. David Robert Criswell, b. Aug. 16, 1940. 

b. Martha Lynn Criswell, b. Oct. 6, 1943, twice 

married: Bailey, (two sons: Ray Bailey and Michel 

Bailey). Second marriage to John M. Lee, no 

children« divorced 1986. Bailey name reclaimed 

5. Waymond Criswell, b. Dec. 23, 1909, d. Sept. 20, 1914 -

drowned in stock tank near his home. 

(11) Joann Elizabeth Criswell, b. June 27, 1860 in Fayette County, 

Texas. She married G. W. Izard on Nov. 8, 1877 in Fayette County. In 

1880 G. W. Izard wrote from the couple's home in Schulenberg, Texas 

that "Joe and the children are well and that he expected a good crop of 

corn". In July 1882 Joe wrote from Pine Ridge, Nebraska that they had 

arrived safely and that "Mr. Izard was going to morrow to look at A 

ranch". However, by March 1883, D. R. Criswell was receiving 

correspondence addressing him as the administrator of the estate of G. 

W. Izard. Joe and her children subsequently returned to Texas. 

-19-



CRISWELL FAMILY 

(12) Larking Criswell, b. Dec. 11, 1862. Little is known about his 

brother. In 1883 T. M. Criswell wrote D. R. Criswell that he would pay 

for rail (fence) and headsones for Ma, Pa and brother Larkin's grave. 

(13) Leander Vannoy "Lee" Criswell, b. 1864, Fayette County, Texas. 

Early family letters refer to him and his younger brother, Milam, as 

the "younguns" and that they should be in school instead of working "on 

the trail". The family letters, c1879-1885, refer to Lee as being in 

one scrape after another: getting cut up in a knife fight, being in 

jail in Montana, getting drunk and "busting up Nellie's furniture", 

etc. Evidently, he reformed in his later years for a publication 

(History of Motley County) refers to him as "one of our most respected 

founding pioneers". He married Mrs. Priscilla (King) Blackshear, a 

widow with eight children on Dec. 11, 1895. They had two children: 

Oda, m. George Birchfield and Zora Lee, m. Riley Day. 

(14) Milam Criswell, b. March 18, 1866, named after his father's 

commanding officer in the Texas War for Independence. Little is known 

about Milam. In family letters, c1879-1885, he is mentioned first as a 

schoolboy; later, his desire to follow the trail is discussed. Several 

letters mention his "wasting his money on Spreeing" as soon as he 

earned it. No information about marriage, children, time of death, 

etc. is available. Was living with brother William Melton Criswell 

in Comfort, Kendall County, Texas in 1882 when William was 

assinated by a man named Kelly. (Census of Kendall County, Tex. 

in 1880 gave Milams age as 14 and occupation as cattle raiser) 
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WILLIAM VANNOY CRISWELL 

(2nd child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

William Vannoy Criswell, b. April 15, 1815, Barboursville, Knox 

County, Kentucky. Emigrated to Texas in 1829-30 at age 14 with parents 

and brothers and sisters. Settled at Matagorda, Matagorda County, 

Texas and moved with family In 1835 to Woods Prairie (West Point, 

Texas). Participated in opening battle of the Texas Revolution at 

Gonzales, Texas on Oct. 2, 1835 as a member of J. C. Neill's Artillery 

Co., protecting a little cannon from being surrendered to a Mexican 

militia. Fought at the Battle of Bexar (San Antonio, Texas) in J. C. 

Neill's Artillery Co. Discharged Dec. 13, 1835. (His brother, Leroy 

Vannoy also served in these battles.) William Vannoy re-enlisted in 

the Texas Army on March 24, 1836 and was assigned to Capt. Jesse 

Billingsley's command as a private. He fought at the Battle of San 

Jacinto and was discharged June 27, 1836. (His body was later removed 

from a marked grave in Duff Cemetery (Mulberry Cemetery) and re-buried 

at the State Cemetery at Austin, Texas.) Served in the Somervell 

Expedition to repel the invasion of Texas by Mexico led by Gen. Aderian 

Woll in 1842-43. He married Mary Elizabeth McMicken on Oct. 12, 1844 

and settled at Black Jack Springs, Texas. He died intestate on Jan. 

19, 1858. A listing of his estate: horses, oxen, cart, wagon, hogs, 

one Negro man (_ $900.00, one Negro girl @ $200.00, household furniture, 

farming tools, cash, cotton, 1050 acres of land - total value of 

$5,536.50. 

There were seven (7) children born by Mary Elizabeth and William 

V. Criswell: 

(1) Elizabeth J., b. 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

Martha 

Sarah E. 

Mary A. 

John Henry 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 9/12/1852 

m. John C. Jones, Nov. 7, 1865. 

m. James Jackson, June 24, 1866. 

m. W.H.S. Lee, Jan. 8, 1867. 

m. J.W. Lyons, June 2, 1870. 

m. Lattiticia J. Jones,Sep.2,1875. 
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John Henry Criswell and his wife were both born in Fayette County, 

Texas and with their family moved to Motley County in 1896, settling on 

a ranch at Four Corners, east of Whitflat. In 1898, they moved to 

Matador, Texas where they were active in the business and social life 

of that city. He died on Sept. 23, 1899. His death was caused by 

roping a cow and in dropping the coil and stopping his horse. He 

dropped the last coil around his neck. The cow, running at high speed, 

jerked him from his horse almost severing his head from his body, as 

the rope was tied to the horn of his saddle. His cousin Joseph Eve 

Criswell, Jr., realizing the great danger, ran and cut the rope. John 

became conscious and decided he could ride home, a distance of four 

miles; however, he died hours later. At the time of his death, he had 

land holdings in the south and southeastern section of the county, as 

well as his original ranch at Four Corners. His wife died in 1909. 

Their eight (8) children were: 

a. Alice Bertha Criswell, b. Oct. 30, 1876, d. July, 1958, twice 

married: 

1. Albert Sydney Johnson (one daughter - Alma Johnson, b. 

Jan. 6, 1908, m. Robert Hoyt (one daughter, Shirley Hoyt, b. 

Dec. 1, 1934, m. John E. Sheets (one daughter, Sandra Elaine 

Sheets, b. Oct. 29, I960))) 

2. Homer Sheats (one daughter - Kathryn Sheats, m. Rev. Murry 

0. Johnson (two children: Albert Powell Johnson and Alice Mae 

Johnson) 

b. John Claude Criswell, b. d. m. Betty Darden 

c. Effie Olive Criswell, b. June 23, 1880, d. July 10, 1959, m. 

Ransom P. Moore and had five children: 

1. John Criswell Moore, b. Sept, 23, 1899, m. Lila 

Byrd and had two children: a) Charles Criswell 

Moore, m. Loletta - 4 boys, 1 girl b) William 

Moore, m. Nancy - 5 girls. 

2. William Rans Moore, b. 1901, m. Velma Walters and 

had one daughter, Billie Beth Moore. 
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3. Olive Ora Moore, b. Nov.,1903, m. John C. Russell 

and had two children: a) Olive Areene Russell, m. 

William Mantooth, no children b) John M. (Sunny) 

Russell, m. Dorothy Mae Cox - 4 children. 

4. Mary Josephine Moore, b. 1908, m. John A. Hamilton 

- 4 children: a) Thomas Earl Hamilton, m. Jan 

Barton b) Richard Hamilton, m. Patty Craven - 3 

children c) Harry A. Hamilton, single d) Mary 

Jane Hamilton, m. Carl Mack Carter. 

5. Marjoria Arlene Moore, b. May 28, 1920, m. J. 

Merrell Harper - 2 children: a) Beverly Jean 

Harper, m. Virgil Dean Rutledge - 1 child, Lisa 

Dianne Rutledge b) Jon Criswell Harper. 

6. Ray Payton Moore, b. 1922, d. March 23, 1933 

d. Ora Maude Criswell, b. m. Roy McLain, no children. 

e. Orlena Josephine Criswell, b. Sept. 19, 1883, d. Aug. 18, 

1961, m. Luther F. Davis and had four children: a) Raymond 

Davis, m. Hettie Patton - 1 child, Donald b) Lena Mae Davis 

c) Donald Davis d) Juandell Davis. 

f. Mary Lettitia Criswell, b. April 25, 1885, d. March 30, 1961, 

m. Andrew E. Herring, no children. 

g. Albert Bertram Criswell, b. d. March 21, 1935, never 

married (died in Magdelena, New Mexico, buried at Matador, 

Texas). 

h. Myrtle Florence Criswell, b. Sept. 5, 1894, d. m. 

Frank Stubblefield, d. 1943, no children. 

(6) Lillie M. Criswell, b. d. m. John P. Waddell on 

Oct. 4, 1875. 

(7) J. Yancy "Yank" Criswell, b. d. m. Ardela Burk on Feb. 

6, 1876. Children: Wm Thomas, L. Mary, Jessie, Bernice & Mittie 
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CANDACE ANN CRISWELL 

(3rd child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

Candace (Candacy-pronounced Can-day'cy) Ann Criswell, b. August 

1816 in Knox County, Kentucky; d. July 28, 1900, Black Jack Springs, 

Texas, in the home of her niece, Bettie Criswell Jones (Mrs. John 

Calvin Jones), dgt. of Wm. V. Criswell. She is buried in the old BJS 

Cemetery beside her 3rd husband, Obediah Fitzgerald. There is another 

grave, unmarked, beside her that is thought to be her second husband, 

Leander Frederic Cottle. 

In 1888, Candace's brother, John Y. Criswell, Jr. wrote a most 

interesting story for the La Grange Journal about the "Runaway Scrape" 

in which the Criswell family were participants. He tells of the attack 

the Indians made on the party, and names several of those who were in 

the group. John Y., Jr. was only 11 at the time. His brother, Wm. 

Vannoy Criswell, was at San Jacinto and was not in the flight. John 

Y., Jr. mentions Candace as Mrs. 0. Fitzgerald...(she later married 

Obediah Fitzgerald), and her closest friend, Lucinda Kenner, whom he 

refers to as Mrs. Gorham, although she was Mrs. Thomas 0. Serry at the 

time, and was Mrs. Josiah 0'Daniel, the step-mother of John Y. 

Criswell, Jr.'s future wife, before she married Mr. William Gorham. He 

(Gorham) was also a veteran of San Jacinto. He also mentions Lee F. T. 

Cottle whom Candace married soon afterward. (He also mentions some of 

my kin, Faires, Karnes, and Scallorn although he was in error in saying 

that Wesley Scallorn was along, for Wesley too was at San Jacinto, and 

had been dead 46 years when the story was written. SRD) 

After Thomas 0. Berry died, Lucinda married Josiah 0'Daniel and 

was the adored stepmother of Mary Rebecca 0'Daniel and her brothers. 

Mary R. 0'Daniel was married in 1847 in Lucinda's home, two years after 

Josiah died. Lucinda married Wm. Gorham, March 19, 1848, the first 

teacher in BJS who taught many of the Criswell children. Candace and 

Lucinda were close friends and neighbors from about 1835 when Candace 

went to Fayette County from Matagorda County until her death in 1900. 
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Candace m. (1) Underwood, who died about 1836-1837. She m. 

(2) January 29, 1838, Plum Grove, Texas, Fayette County, Leander (Lee) 

Frederic Trent Cottle, b. about 1788, Vt.; d. August 8, 1845, BJS, 

Texas and is thought to be buried just outside the fence enclosing 

Candace's grave and that of her 3rd husband, Obediah Fitzgerald, in the 

Black Jack Springs Cemetery (now known as the Pin Oak Cemetery). When 

they were first married, Candace and Lee lived at Lyon's Station which 

was later Lyonsville, and is now Schulenburg. The day Lee took sick, 

he had been hunting and stopped by to visit a neighbor, Wm. B. Bridges. 

They gathered a large sack of peaches for him to carry home. When he 

arrived home, he was very warm and exhausted, and sat down to a cool 

place to rest and refresh himself, and becoming chilled, took pnuemonia 

and died. 

Lee was the son of Joseph Cottle and Azubah Power, and the 

grandson of Abigail Sherman. He was also a descendant of Edward 

Winslow of the Mayflower. All of Candace's and Lee's descendants are, 

therefore, eligible for membership in many patriotic organizations. 

Mrs. LaVina Ware (Candace's grand-daughter who is age 85 years, tells 

me that she has known as long as she can remember that Lee came to 

Texas in the early 1820's, and made one more trip back to Lincoln 

County, MO, where Joseph and Azubah were living in 1830 with another 

daughter, Azubah, and her husband, James Robinson, who came to Fayette 

County soon afterwards. LaVina's brother had a letter Joseph wrote to 

his son, Lee, who was in Texas, in 1827. He also had Lee's commission 

in the Missouri State Militia, and he still has the coat to his 

uniform. Lee was a Lt. Col. The old coat was homespun and handmade. 

The Cottle family was a large one, and many of them came to Texas 

in the early 1820's and 1830's. One of them was George Washington 

Cottle who died at the Alamo and for whom Cottle County, Texas is 

named. He came to Texas from Lincoln County, MO, but the relationship 

between Lee and G. W. Cottle is not know at this time. There is, of 

course, no doubt they were closely related. Lee's older sister, 
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Minerva, married Zadock Woods, and their daughter, Minerva Woods, m. 

October 4, 1818, Wm. Harrell, all of whom came from Lincoln County, MO 

near Troy, to Texas, as did James Robinson and his wife, Azubah Cottle, 

who was a younger sister to Lee Cottle. 

Lee was a surveyor, and a good fiddler. He had an old violin and 

he played for his neighbors and the community dances. He gave it to 

his son, Henry, (LaVina*s father) who took it with him when he went to 

Louisiana during the Civil War. Lee seems to have been a much loved 

friend and neighbor. John Y. Criswell, Jr., named his first son, 

Leander (Lee) for his brother-in-law, who had died about three years 

before the birth of his son. Lee was on the 1840 List of Freeholders 

in Fayette County, along with Candace's father, John Y. Criswell, Sr., 

and others. He was one of the appraisers of the estate of Asa McCIure 

(brother of my g.g. grandfather) when he died in May 1844. Candace and 

Lee were among the first settlers in BJS community in the early 1840's 

- coming from the Plum Grove area where her father's home was located. 

They settled on the Thomas 0. Berry league of land which was known as 

Black Jack Springs. At the time of his death, Lee owned 460 acres of 

land "where he resided at the time of his death", and on which the 

springs were located. Candace received 200 acres and their four minor 

children were allowed 260 acres by the Probate Court, Fayette County. 

Appraisers of Lee's estate were Jackson Coffee, Carrol Smith, John E. 

Lewis, and Leroy V. Criswell, and consisted of cattle, horses, a rifle 

gun, one certificate for one league and labor of land (which shows that 

he was in Texas before March 12, 1836 and was a married man, as a 

single man in Texas before that date received 1/3 league as their 

headright) which was granted by the Fayette County Board of Land 

Commissioners. The league and labor were located by James P. Hudson, 

County Surveyor, Fayette County. The land was in Brazoria County and 

was later bought by John A. Green (brother of General Thomas Green) and 

Nathaniel W. Faison, both of Fayette County, for the sum of $300.00. 

The present town of Alvin is located on part of this grant. Lee also 

owned 445 acres in Nueces County which he received for work done as a 
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surveyor. This land was never sold but was fenced in by the King Ranch 

who also paid taxes on it until it was finally owned by them. LaVina 

says a cousin went to see about it 45 years ago, but nothing could be 

done about it. 

The fact that Lee's land grant was for 1 league and 1 labor may or 

may not mean that he was married before March 2, 1836. We know he was 

in Texas before that date. Since the grant was not made until after 

Fayette County was organized, (established by the Republic of Texas 

Congress in 1838) it is possible that the Board of Land Commissioners 

gave him a married man's allotment because he and Candace were married 

at the time he applied. 

After Lee died, his brother-in-law, James Robinson, was appointed 

guardian of the 4 children, all minors. (See next page) 
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CHILDREN OF LEANDER (LEE) FREDERIC TRENT COTTLE 

AND CANDACE ANN (CRISWELL) 

(l.) Elender (Ellen) Azubah Cottle, b. 1838, near Lyons Station, 

Fayette County, Texas; m. February 1, 1855, BJS, Texas, William 

(Bill) Shank, b. 1833, Germany, as were both of his parents; d. 

about 1910, Abilene Texas, and is buried there. After her father 

died in 1845, Ellen lived for a while with the George W. Brazeale 

(Brazil) family, Bill and Jim Criswell, Ellen's uncle who married 

in 1856, bought 50 acres of land each from J.C.C. Smith and both 

built their homes on this land. J.C.C. Smith was great grand­

father of Joe A. Cole, Smithville, Texas, who now owns the 50 

acres where Jim and his wife, Millie, lived. It is now known, as 

it was then, as Criswell Hill. 

In 1870 Ellen and Bill Shank were living in Oso, near Flatonia, 

and had seven children, including a set of twins. By 1880 they 

had moved to Bell County where they were living next door to her 

brother, Henry Sherman Cottle, and had had another set of twins! 

They had 9 children: 

A. Candace Shank, b. 1857, Oso, Texas; d. ; m. Bascom McAda; 

8 children. 

B. Charles L. Shank, b. 1859, Oso, Texas; d. (c) 1922; m. 

Matilda A. Moore; —children. 

C. Abigail Bell Shank, b. 1861, Oso Texas; d. in Lubbock, 

Texas; m. Richard Levy; 11 children. 

D. William Joseph Shank, b. 1864, Oso, Texas; d. 1938, Garden 

City, Texas; m. Sarah Jane Wilson; 13 children. 

E. James Henry Shank (a twin), b. 1867, Oso, Texas; d. June 16, 

1954; m. Emma Singleton; 4 children. 

F. Nancy Elizabeth Shank, b. 1867, Oso, Texas; d. ; m. Samuel 

Matlock; 3 children. 

G. Mary Shank, b. 1869, Oso, Texas; d. ; m. Jack Wilson; 1 

child. 
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H. Paul Shank (a twin), b. 1874, Bell County, Texas; d. -1959, 

El Paso, Texas; m. Ida Gates. 

I. Silas Shank, b. 1874, Bell County, Texas; d. ; m. Mamie 

Gober; 3 children. 

(2.) Henry Sherman Cottle, C.S.A., b. September 27, 1839 near Lyons 

Station (now Schulenburg, Texas); d. January 23, 1917, Rochelle, 

McCulloch County, Texas; m. June 21, 1865, Lyonsville (now 

Schulenburg, Texas), Frances Martha Lyons, b. February 9, 1843, 

Lyons Station, Texas; d. December 10, 1917, Rochelle, Texas, where 

both are buried. 

Frances was the dgt. of Seymore Clinton Lyons, b. about 1820, N.Y. 

or Ohio; d. early 1848, Fayette County, Texas; m. November 27, 

1841, Lyons Station, Texas, Mary Bridges, b. 1825; d. December — , 

1895, Bell County, Texas, and is buried at Nolansville, Nolan 

County, Texas. Mary Bridges was among those in the "Run-away 

Scrape" and was old enough to help carry some of the little 

children. Seymore C. Lyons was the son of James Lyons, one of the 

early settlers of Fayette County. He was killed by the Commanche 

Indians (when raiding through Fayette County) on October 15, 1837. 

The Indians captured his young son, Warren F. and kept him about 

10 years. They told him all his family was dead except his 

mother. He did not want to return home but did so in 1848 shortly 

before his brother, Seymore died. It was not safe for a young 

woman with children to live alone, so Mary married again just two 

days before Frances' brother, James Warren Lyons, was born. On 

December 14, 1848, Mary Bridges Lyons married William Alexander 

Ranne, b. 1825, Navoo, Illinois; d. about 1900. They had a large 

family. One of their dgts., Laura Ranne, married Henry's younger 

brother, Leander (Lee) Cottle. 
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Mary Bridges was the dgt. of W. B. Bridges, b. 1795, North 

Carolina and Frances Cook, b. Ireland. The Bridges were also very 

early settlers as Mary was born in Texas in 1825. They lived at 

Lyons Station. A daughter of James Lyons also married a Bridges. 

When his father died in 1845, Henry lived for a while with his 

first cousin, Montraville Woods, and his family. Montraville's 

mother was Minerva Cottle, Leander's (Lee) older sister. She had 

married Zadock Woods and they too lived in Lincoln County, 

Missouri before coming to Texas. He fell heir to his father's 

fiddle which he played so much in the early days to entertain his 

friends. Soon after the Civil War began, Henry was sent to 

Louisiana, just across the Sabine River, near Mansfield, where 

they made their camp. At night he would play for the boys. One 

night he and one of the boys went to a nearby house for some milk, 

as Henry liked people and used any excuse to become acquainted. 

The man asked who it was he heard playing the fiddle at night, 

that it sounded like one he had heard when he was a boy. It 

turned out that he was Jack Criswell, Henry's uncle, and that he 

had indeed heard the same fiddle many times when he was growing 

up. (Jack Criswell moved from Fayette County a few years earlier, 

changing his name from Andrew Jackson Criswell to Jack Criswell.) 

When she first married, Henry and Frances lived in Black Jack 

Springs where they were living in 1870. They moved to Phillips 

Crossing in Bell County, near Salado, before 1847, and in 

December, 1882, they moved to McCulloch County. When Henry's 

cousin, Yancey, son of William Vannoy and Mary (Polly) Criswell, 

was killed there in 1888, Henry took his oldest child, William 

Thomas, to live with them. Henry and Frances had 7 children: 

A. James Leander Cottle, b. September 7, 1866, BJS, Texas; d. 

February — , 1868, BJS, Texas. 

B. William Henry Cottle, b. May 22, 1868, BJS, Texas; d. June 

26, 1916, Rochelle. 
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C. Joel Alexander Cottle, b. February 21, 1870, BJS, Texas; d. 

December 27, 1940, Rochelle. 

D. Obediah (Obe) Seymore Cottle, b. November 17, 1871, BJS, 

Texas; d. October 27, 1935, Rochelle. 

E. LaVina Margaret Cottle, b. April 17, 1874, Phillips Crossing 

on Lampasas River near Salado, Texas; m. October 22, 1893, 

Round Mountain community, McCulloch County, Texas to David 

Franklin Ware, b. December 2, 1872, Hurds Prairie, Robertson 

City, Texas; d. November 10, 1945, Kingsville, Kleberg 

County, Texas. LaVina lives with a daughter, Mrs. George E. 

Berry, (1960), 5675 Hazen Street, Ho, Texas. They had 11 

children, 3 of whom died at birth and were unnamed. One was 

buried in the Cowboy Cemetery in McCulloch County and the 

other two in Fluvanna, Scurry County, where LaVina and David 

lived for 30 years: 

a. Clinton Livingston Ware, b. December 13, 1895, San Saba 

County, Texas; m. Margie Eunice West, had three 

children: 

1. Ray Wilsford Ware, b. August 7, 1924, Snyder, 

Texas; m. April 16, 1949, Elena Cantina, two 

children: 

A. Kenneth Lester Ware, b. March 6, 1952, 

Galveston, Texas. 

B. Alan Keith Ware, b. July 13, 1954. 

2. James Ronald Ware, b. August 16, 1926, Dallas, 

Texas; m. September 9, 1945, Dorothy Lee Baynes, 

three children: 

A. Sandra Kaye Ware, b. April 15, 1947, Austin, 

Texas. 

B. Linda Lee Ware, b. November 15, 1948, 

Beaumont, Texas. 

C. Sherry Lynn Ware, b. June 26, 1952, Beaumont, 

Texas. 
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3. Robert Kenneth Ware, b. December 6, 1930, Dallas, 

Texas; m. Virginia Lee Green, one child: 

A. James Kelly Ware, b. April 9, 1958, Austin, 

Texas. 

b. William Henry Ware, b. October 19, 1897, San Saba 

County, Texas; m. Mrs. Irene Merchant Cruikshank, three 

children: 

1. Henry Emerson Ware, b. August 5, 1924, Snyder, 

Texas; d. October — , 1924. 

2. Mary Ruth Ware, b. October 17, 1926, Snyder, Texas; 

m. Louis Newman, one child: 

A. Larry Larce Newman, b. April 24, 1949, 

Phoenix, Arizona. 

3. Doris Imogene Ware, b. April 6, 1930, Snyder, 

Texas; d. August 3, 1931. 

c. Martha Ida Ware, b. May 16, 1899, Scurry County, Texas; 

m. Delbert James Cramton, four children: 

1. Helen Jean Cramton, b. March 17, 1927, Orange, 

Texas; m. Clifford Normont Pfeltz, two children: 

A. Deborah Louise Pfeltz, b. November — , 1952; 

d. soon after. 

B. Richard Frederic Pfeltz, b. October 2, 1958, 

Radford, Virginia. 

2. Kathrene June Cramton, b. September 17, 1928, 

Holredge, Nebraska; d. March 8, 1931. 

3. Don Orvel Cramton, b. June 23, 1931, Holredge, 

Nebraska; d. April 19, 1932. 

4. Thonas James Cramton, b. October 23, 1938, Chadron,Neb. 
F. Orville Lee Cottle G. Ida Cottle No information 

(3) Leander ''Lee" Cottle m. Laura Ranne 

(4) Cordelia Cottle m. Sam Powell 

CHILDREN OF 0. T. FITZGERALD AND CANDACE ANN (CRISWELL) 

(THIRD MARRIAGE) 3 

1. Amanda Jane Fitzgerald 

2. Nancy Ann Fitzgerald 

3. William David Fitzgerald 
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MARY JANE CRISWELL 

(4th child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

Mary Jane Criswell, b. 1817 in Barboursville, Knox County, 

Kentucky. Migrated to Texas in 1829-1830 at the age of 12 with her 

parents and brothers and sister. Settled at Matagorda, Matagorda 

County, Texas and moved with family in 1835 to Woods Prairie (West 

Point, Texas). Her mother died when she was 18 and with the help of 

her older sister, Candace, provided the daily care of her father and 

brothers. She participated with other family members in evacuating the 

home on Woods Prairie in order "to move out of the way of the Mexican 

Army" in March, 1836. She married W. M. Hadden in September, 1838. 

She died between 1861-1866. There were four (4) children: 

1. David Hadden 

2. Thomas Hadden 

3. Virginia Hadden 

4. Twin-name unknown 

JAMES HENRY CRISWELL 

(5th child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

James Henry Criswell, b. 1822, Barboursville, Knox County, 

Kentucky. Migrated to Texas in 1829-1830 at the age of 7 with his 

parents and brothers and sisters. The family settled at Matagorda, 

Matagorda County, Texas and in 1835 moved to Woods Prairie, (West 

Point, Texas), located in Fayette County. He married Cary Millie 

Harkins in 1856 and there were three (3) children. He died cl875. 

1. Thomas Jefferson Criswell 

2. Mollie L. Criswell 

3. Emma P. Criswell 

Fayette County marriage records show Thomas J. Criswell as a 

"Step-son" of Jim Criswell when T. J. married Francis A. 

McCormic in 1878. Evidently they divorced as the records 

show Francis A. Criswell married A. M. Karnes in 1882. Emma 

P. Criswell married A. D. Karnes in 1883. No record of 

marriage of Mollie L. Criswell. 
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JOHN YANCY CRISWELL, JR. 

(6th child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

John Yancy Criswell, Jr., b. November 27, 1824, Barboursville, 

Knox County, Kentucky. Emigrated to Texas in 1829-1830 at the age of 5 

with his parents and brothers and sisters. Settled at Matagorda, 

Matagorda County, Texas and moved with his family in 1835 to Woods 

Prairie (West Point, Texas). Participated in family's flight from 

Mexican army in March 1836. His mother had died in 1835 and when his 

father passed away in 1839 he was taken into the household of William 

Scallern, a close friend and administrator of his father's estate. At 

the age of 18, he joined an independent company of Rangers and engaged 

in desultory (at random) Indian fights. In 1842-1843, served in the 

Somervell Expedition to repel the invasion of Texas by Mexico led by 

Gen. Aderian Woll. In 1845, he entered the service of the Republic of 

Texas and served in the company of G. H. Bell. At the breaking out of 

the war between the U. S. and Mexico, he joined the company of M. B. 

Gray of the Texas Rangers and served throughout the war, mustered out 

July 17, 1847. John Yancy Criswell, Jr. and Mary R. 0'Daniel married 

December 2, 1847. He died October 7, 1896 and is buried at 

Texas. There were six (6)children born by Mary R. and John Yancy 

Criswell, Jr.: 

1. Martha F., b. ; d. ; m. R. P. Kirk-May 30, 1867 

2. William John "Jack" b. 1855 
3. Mary E., b. 

4. Lucy A., b. 

5. Joel Silas, b. 

d. ; m. James F. Ayers-January 18, 1871 

d. ; m. W. R. Campbell-December 2, 1875 

d. ; m. Mary Nickle-April 12, 1893 
ChUdren: Robert b. 1894, Owen b. 1896, Mary b. 1898, 
Aucirene b. 1900, Frankie b. 1903, Ora b. 1905, 
Louie b. 1907. 

6. Leander "Lee" H., m. Emma Neeley (Dumont) 6 children. 
Wallie Amos m. Annie Carrie (Parents of W. A. Criswell 
R. P.(Pugh) m. Lena of Dallas, Texas) 
Grover 
Daily 
Joel 
Mary m. Ben West 
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JOSEPH EVE CRISWELL 

(7th child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

Joseph Eve Criswell, b. August 6, 1827 in Barboursville, Knox 

County, Kentucky, migrated to Texas in 1829-1830 at the age of 2 with 

his parents and brothers and sisters. The family settled at Matagorda, 

Matagorda County, Texas and in 1835, moved to Woods Prairie, (West 

Point, Fayette County, Texas). He was with the family when it fled 

from the Mexican army in March, 1836. His mother died in 1835 and when 

his father died, he was taken into the home of his oldest brother, 

Leroy. He served in the war between the United States and Mexico. In 

1848, he married Sarah Ann McMicken, whose two older sisters had also 

married Criswell brothers. He died in cl883. 

There were eleven (11) < 

Criswell: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

6. 

7. 

8. 

9. 

10. 

11. 

Anderson 

Sophronia 

Amanda 

William David 

Eliza Kate 

Sarah Ellen 

Joseph Eve, Jr. 

Dora Ellen 

Elias Fares (Buck) 

George Alexander 

Emily 

children born to 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

b. 

04/26/1849 

12/28/1850 

02/06/1853 

03/25/1857 

12/12/1858 

07/01/1860 

07/01/1862 

10/30/1865 

09/04/1867 

02/22/1869 

04/20/1871 

Sarah Ann anl Joseph Eve 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

d. 

08/30/1917 

10/11/1861 

11/24/1875 

08/31/1900 

03/03/1875 

ANDREW JACKSON CRISWELL 

(8th child of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 

Andrew Jackson Criswell, b. 1829 in Barboursville, Knox County, 

Kentucky. Migrated to Texas in 1829-1830 with parents and brothers and 

sisters and settling at Matagorda, Matagorda County, Texas. In 1835, 
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the family moved to Woods Prairie (West Point, Texas) where his mother 

died soon after. He was cared for by his sisters and was with the 

family when it retreated to the east to "get out of the way" of the 

advancing Mexican Army In March of 1836. When his oldest brother, 

Leroy, married in 1842, he was taken into that household. He partici­

pated in the war between the United States and Mexico. In 1847, he 

married Sarah Trimble and they had two (2) children: 

1. James Jackson Criswell 

2. Sara Martha Criswell 

(Andrew and Sarah divorced and Andrew moved to Louisiana, settling 

near Mansfield. Indications are that he changed his name to "Jack" 

Criswell. Soon after the Civil War began, he had an occasion to meet 

one of his nephews at a Confederate Camp-see write-up on Candace Ann 

Criswell.) 
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EXHIBITS 

E 1 Letter from John Y. Criswell, Sr. to Col. Stephen F. Austin dated 
June 18, 1831. (Original held in University of Texas Archives as 
part of the Austin Papers.) 

E 2 Deed information from records of Matagorda County Courthouse at 
Bay City, Texas. (Spanish translation and map of Matagorda County 
showing location of league #11 granted John Y. Criswell by the 
Mexican government.) 

E 3 Old Plum Grove Cemetery (also known as Criswell Cemetery) history 
and map of cemetery plots. Fayette Public Library, La Grange, 
Texas has maps. 

E 4 Map of Woods Prairie showing approximate location of families 
during the 1830's. 

E 5 "Notes on the Life of Col. John H. Moore" by Eli Moore Townsend as 
reprinted in a book on "Early Life of Fayette County" shows that 
John Y. Criswell, Sr. joined Col. Moore to go to the aid of Capt. 
R. M. Coleman who was being attacked by Indians in July, 1835. 

E 6 Copy of Discharge of Leroy V. Criswell showing service in J. C. 
Neill's Artillery Company from September 28, 1835 to November 24, 
1835; however, Exhibits E 7 and E 8 give proof that he served to 
December 13, 1835. 

E 7 Copy of Pay Voucher dated February 12, 1836 to Leroy V. Criswell 
for service in Texas Volunteer Army from September 28, 1835 
through December 13, 1835. 

F. 8 "Fayette County-Past and Present" article gives evidence of Leroy 
V. Criswell's witnessing death of Col. Ben R. Milam as reported in 
"A Comprehensive History of Texas" by Wooten. 

E 9 Discharge of William V. Criswell dated December 13, 1835 showing 
service in J. C. Neill's Artillery Company for the period of 
September 28, 1835 through December 13, 1835. 

E 10 Copy of Pay Voucher to William V. Criswell for service in the 
Texas Volunteer Army for period of September 28, 1835 through 
December 13, 1835. 

E 11 Copy of Voucher #269 drawn against "The Provintial Government of 
Texas to Leroy and William Criswell" covering the period of 
September, 1835 through December 27, 1835 for supplies and payment 
to a doctor. Money paid to John Y. Criswell, Sr., Assignee. 
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EXHIBITS (continued) 

E 12 Copy of Voucher dated February 11, 1836 drawn by A. Autry and D. 
W. Cloud, Agents for squad of volunteers traveling to St. Antonio, 
payable to John Y. Criswell, Sr. for shelter and provisions. 
These men perished at the Alamo on March 6, 1836. 

E 13 "Thoughts of By-Gone Days", an editorial journal written for the 
La Grange Journal, December 20, 1888, by John Y. Criswell, Jr. 
gives his description of the Criswell Family escape from the 
Mexican army during Sam Houston's retreat. 

E 14 Certificates issued William V. Criswell for pay from March 27, 
1836 to June 27, 1836 as a private in Capt. Billingsley's Company, 
Texas Army. (Fought at Battle of San Jacinto) John Y. Criswell, 
Sr., Assignee. 

E 15A J. Y. Chriswell (Sr.) one month service in Army Of Texas 
E 15 Draft issued July 22, 1836 to J. Y. Chriswell for provisions 

furnished Ranger Corps under command of Col. E. Burleson. 

E 16 Draft issued June 5, 1837 to J. Y. Christwell by Wm. M. 
Easterland, Capt. of Rangers, for provisions four dollars & .50C. 

E 17 Discharge of Leroy V. Criswell as private in Mounted Rifle Company 
under command of R. M. Williamson, Capt. in Col. Moore's Battalion 
dated October 23, 1838. 

F 18 "A Correction" - an article written by John Y. Criswell, Jr. for 
the La Grange Journal, March 21, 1889, giving his version as to 
who returned among the La Grange, Texas volunteers led by Col. 
Dawson. 

E 19 Sworn Affidavits by Leroy V. Criswell, William V. Criswell and 
John Y. Criswell, Jr. of their service as privates in the 
expedition raised for the purpose of repelling the Invasion of 
Texas by the Mexicans under General Aderian Wall in the fall of 
the year 1842. 

E 20 Succession of John Y. Criswell, Sr., deceased in 1839, intestate 
with Leroy V. Criswell appointed as administrator. Estate took 
several years to settle during which period farmed the lands for 
the benefit of the heirs. (A transcript of John Yancy Criswell, 
Sr.'s land holdings before emigrating from Kentucky.) 

E 21 Records of Texas Veterans in the Mexican War, 1845-1847 showing 
service by John Yancy Criswell, Jr., Joseph Eve Criswell and 
Andrew Jackson Criswell. 

E 22 A map (maker unknown) showing where various families settled in 
the area South of West Point, Texas near the present day town of 
Muldoon. 
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EXHIBITS (continued) 

E 23 Criswell marriages, Fayette County, Texas, 1838-1903. 

E 24 Transcription of Leroy Vannoy Criswell will, estate records. 

E 25 Inventory of the estate of William Vannoy Criswell. 

E 26 Transcription of letters to/from members of Leroy V. Criswell 
family. (Thomas Menefee Criswell worked for Driskill Ranches as a 
foreman.) 

E 27 Certificate from Jones Commercial College, Austin, Texas 
certifying that David Robert Criswell completed business course. 

E 28 Pages from "Residents of Motley County 1891" showing some 
Criswells settling in that county. 

E 29 Letters of interest. 

E 30 The Vannoys Family. 

E 31 A Hundred Years Of Comfort in Texas 

E 32 Republic & State Settelers1. Grants 

E 33 Fayette County Brands 

E 34 Libel Suits, filed against Jackson CC. Smith by Criswells 

E 35 MC MICKENS 

E 36 John Yancy 
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JRISWELL FAMILY 

JOHN- / . CRISWELL TO AUSTIN 

Matagorda June the IS—1831 
-H___E .SIR after my respects to you although an entire stranger 

1 

1 have moved along way into your Colony from Kentucky by Land 
by the way of the Missoi.ru Stare and not beinu pleased with that 
country I made my way with a wife and Eight Children six sens and 
two daughters I made applycation at Mr. Williams office for League 
no 10 on the west of the Colorado Mr Wight man at that time 
thought it was vacant but it was entered to Mr Xorton Sir if 
you can with any Degree of propriety Let me have the League of 
Land no 11 on the West of the Colorado although it was reserved 
by you for a Governmental town Mr Wightman thinks you men­
tioned to him as the Government had selected a Cite on the l_abaca 
and at Galveston for their towns that the four reserved Leagues at 
the mouth of this river might be Entered, I mentioned this to 
Mr Williams your Secretary Mr Williams thought perhaps you 
might consent for me to have no 11 as you Could attach another 
League adjoining to No 12- 13- and 14 and Let me have League no 11 
and Mr Williams Entered my name and League so it Stands for you 
to approve or reject and as I have Bought Some town lots in this 
place and will settle Here it would suit me well as I Could git tim­
ber from that by water. My trade is that of a Blacksmith and I will 
also observe I am not wealthy but can say to you I Came to this 
Country Clear of anything Debt or Bad fame and I have sold a 
*aggon I brought with me and am prepared to pay in to your otoee 
the first installment besides settling the surveyors foes and you will 
much oblige me and not disoblige yourself by Letting me have the 
League and mv settlincr in this country will be no disadvantage 
for If I am pleased with this Country a Good many more Good 
Citizens will emigrate from Kentuclry you will be good enough 
to write me an answer by some safe hand so I will know what 
Course to pursue If I Cannot be accomodated with that League I 
Expect to go into Dewits Colony to be Suited in a League 

JOHN* V. CRISWXLL. 

[A«:Jr.y .ed:] Col8 Stephen F Austen San Philip Texas favour by 
Mr .Yi£fitntan 
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CKISWELL FAMILY 

DEED mgaam 

MAtAGOfiDA COUNTY COUHT HOOSB, BAY CITY, TEXAS 

INDEX TO DEEDS Reverse Voluae I 

Naae of Grantee; John Y. Criswell 

Name of Grantor: S. F. Austin 

Nature of Instrumenti One league of land on the Colorado River. 

Date: June 16, 1831 

Date filed: March 5» 1838 

Book & Page: B - 225 (Spanish) 

GENERAL INDBS OF DEEDS 

Book Q - pages 495 thru 512, record transactions of inheritance by 

children of John Y. Criswell and also records sale of land by children 

in 1848 at a price of appro*. .894-0 P*r acre. 
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S. F. AUSTIN REGISTER OF FAMILYS 

Municipality of Austin 
Register of the famalies introduced by the Citizen Empresario 
Estevan F. Austin by virtue of the contract mad* to the effect 
with the Government which have taken the due oath prescribed 
by Article No. 3 of the Colonization Law of the State of Coahulia 
and Texas dated 25 March 1825* 

NO. Name Age State Children Profession Orgin Arrived 
M F 

561 John Y. Criswell 44 Married 6 2 Farmer Ky. Jan. 183 
Elenor (his wife) 36 
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CONSTITUTION OF THE PROPRIETORS OF THE TOWN OF MATAGORDA 

League of land originally granted Elias R. Wrightman by the 

Mexican Government, dated May 25, 1827, situated near the mouth of 

the Colorado River and on the Bay of Matagorda, East of said river, 

a place known by name as Matagorda -- owned by Elias R. Wrightman (1/4), 

Estate of James B. Austin (1/4), Stephen F. Austin (1/4), A. H. League 

(3/8), and Ira Ingram (1/8). Above proprietors,in order to settle the 

said Matagorda, hereby place their properties for sale in lots to 

industrious , good mechanics and labourers people. Lot owners also 

have voteing privledge according to number of lots owned. 

Signed by above individuals as 

BOARD OF PROPRIETORS 

Lot purchased by John Y. Criswell, Sr. in 1831 in the townsite of 

Matagorda on the Colorado River,Tier #2, Block #1, Lot #6 with remarks 

as "Conditionally". 

Excessive rains in November and December 1833 and January 1834, 

together with successions of high water in the Colorado River, over­

flowing its banks from November 1833 to March 1834 made it impossible 

to complete the orgainization and settlement of Matagorda townsite 

until a much later date. 

The Criswells moved to Fayette County in 1834. 
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Bello Segundo: Doce Reales. Habilitado porJUtdB^Ecoahuila Y Texas para El Bienio De 182 
Williams-

Y 29, 30 y: 31AEstevan F. Austin, Empresario para establecer Eros cient&s Families WXXXl\ 

Sobro las Dies Leguas Litorsles en La Casta del Seno. Mezicano Entre lot Rlos La* Baca* 

San Jacinto f . Comissionado. Especial Del Supremo Gobierno Del Estado De Co abulia, y Texaj 
do 

para de el repartiatento y poeesion de tiervas y expedicionATituloa a Las Nuevas Colonti 

Dentro De Let Limites de La Propia Empress- Por Cuanto so Ha Recibido John Y. Criswell, 
al 

colona on la ftnpresa do Colonisacion Arriba Mencionado nemo, Cons to, A folio— Sol Libit 

Becerro y. Habiendo El dicho John Y. Criswell justificado, que es Casado 7. encontrarse 

persona Las requisitos que previene La Ley de Colonisacion del estado de 24 de Marzo de 1 

de Conformidad Con La Ley el Contrato Y. Comision Eztendido por el Gobierno del Estado en 

de Julio de 1828 y. aceptado el 29 del misno mes y de Las Instrucciones de Comisonadaa 

de Fecha 4, de Septieabre de 1827. y en nombre del Estado Concedo Confiero y. meto1 en pel 

real personal de on Sitio*— de Tierra al mencionado John Y. Criswell- cuyo Terreno esti 

por ol agrimensor Elias R. nightman nenbrado previamente al intento y. su Situacion 7, 

Linderos son Las Soguientes Situado sobro La nargen derocha del Rio Colorado, y Conocidt 

el Sitio No. 11 abajo del Sltioi Concedido a1 H. H. League y Cosa logua y medio arriba 

embocadura dedicho Rio y desde La eajquina inferior del Sitio No. 10 Toberedtha i 

Del. Rio dela eual on Taisno Marcado .No. 11 demora al sur U oeste siete varaa distal 

y un boxelder marcado No. 10 demora ol norto 11* 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 225 

County and called for tho express purpose, which I certify and Authenticate by Signing with 

a••dttiag witnesses and affixing the seal of office according to law. 

Instrumental Witnesses: 

Simon Mussina 

James T. Belknap 

Assisting Witness 

James S. Jones 

Republic of Texas \ 

County 0/ Matagorda. 1 

Sinclair D. Gerrais C.J. 

& E*jc-officio Notary Public, 

the word not on 1st. page the 
word one w on 4th page 
wordsTown line of the on 5t_*| 
page Words thirty acre on 6ti 
page and words condition on 7th 
page all interlined before sign­
ing. 

G. W. Ward. 

Assisting Witnesses 

A. t, Clements. 

Before me Thomas Harvey Clerk pro tea of tho County Court of Matagorce 

and Recorder for the same Personally appeared Jas. T. Belknap, who being duly sworn deposeth 

and saith that he saw G. W. Ward sign the above Mortgage & acknowledged his signature as one of] 

the witnesses which I certify the 2nd. day of February 1838. 

Reo'd for Record 1 Feby 1838. 

Reeorded 5th Maroh 1838. 
Thoa Harvey Clerk Pro Tem & Recorder. 

T=»* ̂•w-

n 

4o 
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CEISWSLL FAMILY 

(ENGLISH TRANSLATION OF SPANISH DEED TO JOHN Y. CRISWELL) 

2nd Seal: 12 quarters. Provided by the state of Coahuila and Texas for two 
two year tenns 1828 and 29, 1830 and 31 Willianv-Stephen F. Austin, the per­
son selected to establish (settle) three hundred families over the 10 leagues 
along the Mexican shoreline between the rivers I_a Baca and San Jacinto. 
Special oooinissioner of the Supreme Governor of the state of Coahuila and 
Texas for the distribution and possession (ownership) of lands and expedition 
of titles to the new colonists. Within the boundary of the Proper Enterprise 
for how much he has received Jon Y. Criswell, as a colony in the above men­
tioned colonization as evident in the folio-of the book Becerro and having 
a justified saying John Y. Criswell, who is married and can be found in him 
the requirement that is contained within the law of the colonization of the 
state on 24 March 1825 in compliance with the law the contract and extended 
ccrardssion by the governor of the state on 9 July 1828 and accepted 29 July 
1828 and of the instructions of the caiinissioners dated 4 September 1827 
and in the name of this state I conceive and give my personal possession 
of this site- my land to the above mentioned John Y. Criswell- whichland 
is engaged by the surveyor Elias R. Wightman previously named in the in­
tend and his position and boundaries are the following situated over the 
right margin of the Colorado River and known yb place (site) #11 below 
the place known as H.H. League and Cosa Iegua and half way up the mouth 
of said river and from the lower corner of place #10 Tbberadtha- river 
margin of which is Taisno marked #11 bearing southeast seven yards- dis­
tance and boxelder marked #10 bearing north 11 degrees. 
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CHISWELL FAMILY 

OLD PLUK GROVF CEKFTFRT 

a l so 

Criswel l Family Cemetery 

•^he Old Plum Grove Cemetery i s located in what was c a l l e d Woods P r a i r i e 
or th? Gorman Woods Survey and on the eas t ed?e of Vest Po in t , Texas, a t 
coo rd ina t e s ?9057'02MN 97001I20"VJ and inc ludes the Cr iswel l Family Ceme-
t e r y . 

1The cemetery was e s t ab l i shed by John T. Cr i swe l l , S r . as the Cr iswel l Fam­
i l y Cemetery upon the b u r i a l of h i s wi fe , E leanor , sometime between Ju ly 
1B3< and r ebruary 1*3*. f l ) 

The Criswel l family came t o Texas'from Kentucky i n December I83O. The fam­
i l y cons i s ted of John Y. S r . , h i s wife , Eleanor , daughter of William and 
Mary Vannoy;' l e roy V., age 17; William V. , ape 15 ; Candace, age l l i ; >-ary 
.lane, ace 13 ; James Henry, ape 8; John Y. J r . , age 6; Joseph E . , age 3 
and Andrew Jackson, age 1 . 

The Cr iswel l s l i ved in Watar.orda County for foi:r y e a r s , and t h e n , ir. Dec­
ember lB3c, movpd to F a y e t t e County w'-ere thpy s e t t l e d on Woods ^ r a i r i e 
n*ar Woods F o r t , th*8 f o r t i f i e d res idence of Zadock Woods cons t ruc ted in 
1825. (1^ ""he Criswell l o r cabin was probably Iocs ted on a r i s e cf ground 
a v out 200 yards south of the cemetery. 

There i s some ques t ion as t o whether Eleanor Cr iswel l 
died in Katagorda County or Faye t te County. The author 
b e l i e v e s she d id , in f a c t , come to P a y e t t e County with 
her family and died h e r e . I t i s inconceivable t h a t a 
man with eight ch i ld ren would pu l l up roo t s in Matagor­
da County, move overland more than IOC miles in ox ca r t s 
or covered wagons and s e t t l e on the raw f r o n t i e r in In -

• ^ C u ^ ^ t * ^ : ) \ x j dian country without the presence cf the c h i l d r e n ' s moth* 
• £ ' ; s ^ f c f W ' / p r - Tr- A ^ v 1 0 3 5 J r — y - S r - w € n * "!**• n *lo*el John **• 

Mocre 's ccr-parv on an Indian peace mission. 2^ I t i s i r .ccnreivable t h a t Kr. 
Cri sviell would leave h i s ch i ld ren and ^o en t h i s expedi t ion i f the ch i ld ren ' s 
n e t h e r was not there to p ro t ec t and care for then . The pureway Scrape occur-
ed in the Spring of 1836. Information handed down from genera t ion to gener­
a t i o n i n d i c a t e s Eleanor Criswell was not involved in t h i s f l i g h t al though 
some of hpr ch i ldren were. ^ 1 ^ Aposrent ly , F l r a n o r , born about 179b, died 
sometime between July* 1̂ 3*5 and r p^ruary 1336 and was the f i r s t grave in the 
cemetery. 

The ea r ly s e t t l e r s bur ied t h r i r dead on t h e i r own proper ty u s u a l l y on a h i l l 
i n o r near a grove of t r e e s . The s i t e theor i sed a s the Criswel l Family Ceme­
t e r y i s on a small h i l l near a prove of t r e e s ; a l i k e l y p lace t o have been 
des igna ted by John Y. as a b u r i a l ground. The^author b e l i e v e s he bur ied h i s 
wife a t the very peak of the lev; h i l l a t S i t e \Z], 
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Candace Cr i swe l l , horn 1516, daughter of John Y. 
C r i swe l l , S r . , f i r s t married a f'r. f'nderwood, f i r s t 

•«*/.,.. r,.^,-- . name unknown, about ld3«». V.c was dead hy l a t e 
/ ' - • f ^ i y ^arch I836 when Candace was on the Runaway Scrape 

W 3 f » ^ # 3 B a s t h e H * r i o w Underwood, Tandactf married Lee F.T. 
C o t i l e 29 January I838 . (1) flost l i k e l y Candace 
bur i ed her f i r s t husband in the Criswell P l o t . 
Theory has i t t h a t the peak of the h i l l where Elea­
nor Criswel l and Mr. Underwood were buried and the 
area immediately west of them was reserved for fu­
tu re Criswel l family b u r i a l s . 

Druc i l la M i l l i e 0»Daniel , daughter of Robert and 
<^\ \* j Rebecca Maxwell, and f i r s t wife of Josiah 0*-

'Dariiel, was born 2» February 1810 in Alabama. She married Jos iah 0 r -
Caniel about 1027 and died 31 May 1838, the day a f t e r her f i f t h c h i l d , 
Robert w\ 0 ' D a n i e l was born , Rosa (Berry) Cole, R n ^ d a u g h t e r of 
Lucinda (Renner)(Perry^ O'Dani*!, s t a t ed thai, firucilia.was buried 
near Eleanor Cr i swe l l on the s i t e designated by John V. Cr iswel l as 
a b u r i a l ground, t ha t Lucinda bur ied Josiah by her s i ce and t h a t the 
Eraves did not have markers , ( l ) 

Even though the re i s some doubt as t o who was f i r s t buried h e r e , the author 
b e l i e v e s t h a t a l l t h r e e , Eleanor C r i s w e l l , " r . T'nderwood and Druc i l la /-fillie 
0 'Daniel are bur ied in the Criswell Family Cemetery, 

Robert W. 0 ' D a n i e l , son of Jos iah and Druci l la O-Osnipl, was bom 30 Mby 1836 
and died 10 August I 838 . (1) Mo doubt he was bur ied next to h i s mother in 
the C r i s v e l l D l o t . 

I p-ohert Maxwell, born about 177?, died in 1?38 probably in Woods P r a i -
•J r i e where he had been l i v i n g . Rebecca Maxwell, R o b e r t ' s wi fe , born 
il about 1777, died in IS38 c r i n the ea r ly - a r t of 1839. The Maxwells 
ll came to Texas from Pickens County, Alabama, sore time between 2 March 
/I I836 and 1 October I837. (1) Most l i k e l y both are buried in the C r i s ­

well F l o t . 

George W. Spier was named to the f i r s t Board of Land Commissioners of 
. Fayet te County. ( 3 ) . Fie died 29 December 1*338 and was survived by h i s 

f / wi fe , Rebecca J . Gil l iam Spier and daughter , J-ftriam Spier , by h i s 
/ f i r s t wife . Miriam married 20 June 1^39 John W. S c a l l o r n . who was k i l l ­

ed in the lawson Massacre and i s buried on Monument K i l l . 3oth C e orge and Heb-
ecca were bur ied in t h e Criswel l " l o t . (1) 

John I . C r i s w e l l , S r . , bom about 1756, f a t h e r of e i*ht ch i ld ren , (1) , 
served on the Serins: 1839 term of the Grand Jury . • ? _ _ c ^ = ^ ^ 7 ^ - - ' - ' f 
Fe died 30 September 1039. ( l ) - His ch i ld ren were 
s t i l l i n the area and, no doubt , they j u r i e d him bes ide 
h i s wife in the fami.lv cpmetery. He r e g i s t e r e d h i s c a t t l e brand in February 
1533 a s : £ + (11) 
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Jos iah 0 ' D a n i e l , son of William and Mary Abercrombie, whose f i r s t 
hus>and was Benjamin Wil l iams, 01 Danie l , born 27 September lROii 
in South Caro l ina , married Druc i l la M. Maxwell about 1822 In Pick­
ens County, Alabama. Druc i l l a died in IB38 and Jos i ah married f ' r s . 
Lucinda (Kinner) Berry i n 1839. (1) The F a l l IB30 term of the Grand 
Jury cons i s t ed of some fo r ty people inc lud ing Jos i ah 0*Daniel . (3) 
Jos i ah served under Colonel John H. Jfocre in an Indian campaign in 
I8I1O. (1 ) Jos iah went to . Black Jack Springs with h i s b ro the r - in - l aw , 
Abraham £ v l e r , o n 9 DPCPmher I8li5 to look a t some l and . He l e f t home 
in Wonds P r a i r i e in h i s s h i r t s leeves because the d*y was sunny and 

warm. A sudden norther-blew up with cold d r i z z l i n g r a i n and, by 

the time tljev re turned t o Woods P r a i r i e , Jasi-jh became very s i c k . 
of pneumonia 17 December l8tf*i> ^ I . 
buried by t h e s ide of h i s < ^ ^ ^ ^ ^ r ^ : c c - r ^ « > ^ . 

cS^iBL 
He died 
and was b 
first wife in Plum Grove Cemetery. 
(1) 

• 

The Cr i swel l Family Cemetery ou tda tes the Hopewell or Plum Grove B a p t i s t 
Church ant* Cemetery hy one to four years depending on who was f i r s t bur ied 
on the cemetery. Tn the a u t h o r ' s opinion, the C a s w e l l Cemetery extended 
from a few fe*t e a s t of Albert Owen S c a l l o r n ' s marker, S i t e 68 , t o a few 
fee t west of the marker on the (iravp of E l i z a b e t h Karnes, S i t e 3V an£^ f r c m 

a few feet nor th of E l i sabe th Karnes' marker to a few f e ' t south of E l i z ­
abeth CVDaniel 's marker, S i t e 66 . The space i s approximately 36 f ee t wide 
and SS fee t lon£ . The IB fe^t of space between the rows of c raves con ta in ­
e r t he markers mentioned! above i s probably thp b u r i a l p lace of some of the 
e a r l y s e t t l e r s . 

I t i s be l i eved the layout of the Criswell Family Cemetery i s as fo l lows: 
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I t _ i s p o s s i b l e t h a t S i t e 29 , in the sketch on the prev ious page, i s the 
bur ia l o lace of John Y. C r i s w e l l . S r . : the concrete foundation a t t h i s s i t e 
has a ?nx2u" s l o t to r ece ive a f l a t marole headstone of the type used i n 
the 1830s and a piece of sandstone l i e s on the s i t e with the f i g u r e s 7_6 
on i t which corresponds t o 1786, the year of h i s b i r t h . I f John Y. i s bur ied 
a t t h i s s i t e , then S i t e 30 would be Fleanor Cr i swe l l . 

Also, i t i s p o s s i b l e S i t e 32 i s the b u r i a l place of Josiah O ' P a n i e l ; the 
sandstone foot marker appears to have t h e - l e t t e r s " J . O . " etched on i t . I f 
Josiah i s bu r i ed h e r e , then s i t e 31 would be P r u c i l l a 0 'Daniel and the un-
rrarked space between the s i t e s would be the b u r i a l place of t h e i r son, Rob­
ert W. 0 ' D a n i e l . 

The area in which Old Plum drove Cemetery i s s i t ua t ed was f i r s t refered to 
as Woods P r a i r i e named a f t e r the Woods family. After discovery of the i n ­
i t i a l s " J . D . " on a t r e e i n a grove of plums, the imrpdiate area was c a l l e d 
J.D. Grove. L a t e r , the neighborhood was ca l led Plum C-rove and, today, the 
towns of West Point and Plum are very near the old J.D. Grove. f 2 ) 

The Plum Grove B a p t i s t Church, a l so refered to as Hopewell Church, was 
named a f t e r the community. Rev. Z.ftf. Morrell preached h i s f i r s t sermon in 
Fayette County in the log cabin of William Scal lorn during the Winter of 
I838. This f i r s t s e r v i c e l e d to the organiza t ion of the church in Apr i l of 
1839 with "As ie l " Danser as the f i r s t p a s t o r . (2) The d a t e , 1839, on the 
granite s tone a t the cemetery gate which i s the nameplate of t he cemetery 
is taken from the o rgan iza t ion da te of the congregation which i s the same year 
the b u r i a l ground became a church cemetery. The f i r s t grave here a f t e r the 
organization of the church was tha t of Albert Owen Scal lorn who died on the 
11th day of August, A.D., I839 . 

In ear ly 18L.2 there was d i s sens ion amcnc the members over the missionary 
question, the c r r a n i c a t i .n s p l i t , and another congregation or church was 
fnr-ed near the p resen t town of Plum. Both organiza t ions claimed to be the 

o r i g i n a l church. (2) 

The s i t e of the church buildin-z a t Plum i s marked with a g r a n i t e stone which 
reads as fo l lows : 
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The 0aotists of the Plum Grove neighborhood apparently held services in 
various homes until they erected a church building on land owned by John Y. 
Criswell, Sr. The, building was probably a modest 20 x 30 feet structure 
of leys erected during the Winter of 1839-18JIO and was situated southeast 
of the Criswell Family Cemetery. fli,5) In later years the cemetery expand­
ed and extended beyond the site of the church which would place it in the 
approximate center of the present bounds of the cpmetery. 

Tn 1851 the land was deeded to the church by John Click shown in Feed Re­
cords as follows: 

-cr STATF 0* TEXAS 

rr\\vp?y oc FAYTTrF 

John Click for *1.00 paid by Willis P. Darby, one of the trustees of the 
Plum Grove Baptist Church, sold to William Scallorn, W.P. Darby, C. I-'oore, 
A. ̂ airres and T.^. Sorelle as "rustees of the Plum Grove Church situat­
ed and including the graveyard on the tract of land known as the former 
residence of John Y. Criswell containing 2n*9 souare rods beginning at a 
post oak Harked C, Thence South 17 rod to a stake, Thence West 17 rod to 
a stake, Thence Korth 17 rod to a postoak Marked C, Thence Fast 17 rod 
to the place oi berinning. 

20 October l£5l 

(1 ^od * 34.5 ft.) John Click 

(M/297) 

The author believes that small log church buildings were erected at both 
sites, present Wpst Point and Plum. The lop church erected at Old Plum 
Grove Cempterv was probably dismantled about 1&E»1 when the land was deed­
ed to the church and a new, larger building was constructed with board and 
batten siding. This second Priding probably burned about 18°3-

In l89i| the West Point Baptist church was cmnstructpd in the town of West 
Vff%*t. Mrs, tula Thornton has a wine pitcher and two silver plated goblets 
inscribed: "West Point Baptist Church- l89l\" . '!P 

The log church at present plum was probably removed about 1870 when a 
larger building was erected with board and batten siding. This building 
was uspd as a barn from 190lf to 1958 when it was dismantled. (1) 

Cemetery records are presented in two forms. Section 1 is an alphabetical 
listing showing names, dates of birth and death, age, and grave site. This 
section can be used as an index to locate each ^jrave. Section II is a list­
ing by grave number corresponding to numbers on the accompanying map. Section 
TT shows the actual inscriptions, description of the grave markers and pro­
vides additional information concerning the individual buried on the site. 
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I . ALPHABETICAL LISTING: 

W E : Names marked with an a s t e r i sk do not have a tombstone. Their 
probably bu r i a l here i s based on research and theory. 

-
NAME: 

Allen, Vergie G. 
Aubrey, Carr ie E. 

Rreeden, Fl izabeth 
James Granville 

drowning, ^ e r n e t t a , S.J. 
James H. 

Bush, Bedford "orest 
Verna*S. Fverre t t 

Cain, ^ess i e 
N.A. 
Thomas P. 

Car te r , Rob C. 
Ruby S. 

•or *Criswel l , Eleanor 
a -> John Y., Sr. 

Collum, S.E. 

Daniels , Claudie Mae 
Hope Jenkins 

Darby, Mary Ann 
Wi l l i s P. 

Dunn, R.F. (Dick) 
S a l l i e 

F a s t e r l i n g , Mazie M. 
Kinenra F. 
Robert H. 

^ a i r e s , Ada 
Ada A. 
James W. 
William Alexander 

^arquhar, ( infant ) 
r a r r i s , v l i z a 
p l o r a , Harold F . , J r . 
Folkes, V.A. 

E.F. 
T'anda J . 

^ r i e r son , Erie 
9 

Ger t rude 
Sidney H. 

DATE OF BIRTH: 

Unknown 
?3 Feh 18R-5 

1 Jan 1872 
3 Dec 1^70 

11 ?eb 1891 
8 Dec 1892 

17 Sep 1893 
13 " a r 1894 

5 Feb 1878 
Unknown 
18 Mov 1905 

5 Jan 18*0 
28 Dec 1898 

17-7U 
1786 

1 Feb 1867 

13 Ju l I88I1 
21 Feb 188U 
26 v a r 1826 
12 Aug 1821 
18 Feb 1*59 
10 Mar 1866 

2h Jun 1898 
11 Aug 186U 

8 Apr I863 

1 Feb 1810 
25 Feb W I 
22 Ju l 1*70 

S Dec 1«06 
30 Jan 1892 
12 Dec 1*3* 
Unknown 

6 Feb 1*83 
22 -Feb 1*83 
22 Jan 1*62 
28 Jun 1916 

1888 
1886 

DATF OF DEATH: 

Unknown 
25 Jan 191U 

6 * far 19ii7 
2 Apr 1937 
h Dec 1966 

2h Oct 1970 
6 Oct 1976 

11 Jun 191,5 
Unknown 

Ix Kay 196=-: 
19 Sep 19o0 

1835 
30 Sep I839 
2U Aug 1889 

21 J u l 19li3 
17 Jun 19U7 
17 >*ay I89L 

6 Jun 1895 
11 " a r 193U 

6 Jun 191U 

\ $ Sep 1900 
3 Oct I960 

26 Nov 1923 

19 Kay l87h 
1 Jan 1868 

10 Sep 1870 
22 Tar 188£ 

1 Feb 1892 
9 Tun 1906 

27 Oct 19L.3 
2 Oct I883 

29 Kay 13*3 
9 Mar I8R3 

l h May 1918 
19li8 
1938 

AGF IN: 
Yrs Mos 

28 

75 
66 
75 

77 
80 

67 

59 
80 

•n 
53 
22 

59 
63 
68 
73 
75 
L18 

2 
96 
60 

6h 
16 

0 
78 

0 
67 

0 
0 

21 
1 

60 
52 

11 

2 
3 
9 

1 
6 

ll 

5 
8 

0 
0 
6 

0 
3 
1 
9 
0 
2 

2 
1 
7 

3 
10 

1 
3 
0 

5 

7 
3 
2 

10 
0 
0 

Dys 

3 

6 
30 
2U 

8 
2U 

7 

17 
15 

0 
0 

2U 

9 
27 
22 
25 
2U 
27 

22 

23 
19 

19 
7 

19 
18 

3 
28 

27 
8 

18 
17 

0 
0 

GRAVE 
SITE: 

152 
171 

15U 
153 
221 
220 

87 
88 

73 
76 
72 
83 
8ii 
U7 
U8 
92 

130 
179 
158 
157 
155 
156 

192 
190 

191 

116 

1U5 
lUli 

1U7 
56 

207 
91 
71 

69 
70 

189 
188 
187 
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I . A l p h a b r t i c a l L i s t i n g ( " m t ) : 

Gregory, Madison F. 
Rober t A. 

H . , C.P. 
H., F . 
H., G.K. 
F a l l , A l b e r t J . 

A r t h u r 
Jennie 
x"ammie L. 
* 'ar tha E. 
Sus i e R. 

Hamil ton, r ' i lam 
Harper , L . J . 
H a t f i e l d , Sam. 
Hubbard, Tda P . 

Lu the r E. 
Thomas 

Jackson , E a r n e s t L. 
Fmma K. 
John L. 
Murray L. 

J akesch , F l v i e 
" rank 
Tda 

Johnson, ^ i n fan t ) 
•J . _ . 

F r a n k l i n J . 
Henry A. 
Lula r ' ae 

Kahn, F l v i r a 
Karnes, E l i z a b e t h 

E l i z a b e t h S. 
p r a n c i s F. 
George W. 
George W, J r . 
^ e t t i e 
Mat i lda 
**'attie 
Dr. T.C. 
' • r i l l iam ? e r r v 
W.S. 

^ i d d , Alfred S. 
Kirk, Will iam Simon 

Huldah D e l s h a 
"ranees Kocurek, ' 

Lewis, 'WiUiam H. 
* " a t i l d a J . 

20 Feb 1*66 
2 Feb 18^3 

Unknown 
Unknown 
Unknown 
il l may 1867 

1 Aug 1*93 
31 v a r l °7h 

3 Feb 1912 
3 Mar 1**1 

IU T'ay 1905 
Unknown 
27 Dec 1*23 
12 J u l l89li 

6 Nov 1*56 
1872 

28 Apr 1*10 

2 Oct 1902 
Li Feb 1*67 

29 Nov 1*57 
1 Jun 1*99 

2li D e c 1Q?L 
5 ' 'ay 1865 

25 Jan 1*8U 
Jan 1906 

17 Sep 18U5 
26 Oct 1*1.0 

3 Dec 1908 
19 Oct 1925 

h Jan I87li 
1 K-ar 1802 

2* Mar 18UU 
1 Nov I83h 
3 F eb 1832 

2b J u l 1*62 
20 Aug l*51i 
22 May 1*36 
2* "eb 1*57 
2* Jan 1*<* 
16 Jan 1*29 
11 Peb 1*55 
?h J u l 1Q17 

1803 
1811 
1*70 

10 Oct l*!il_ 
rnknown 

6 Oct 1890 
9 Dec 1888 

Unknown 
Unknown 
Unknown 
19 Dec 193U 
12 J u l 1930 
22 Jan 1901 
23 Kay 1912 
29 May 1951 
13 Aug 1909 
;rnlmown 
15 Feb l q 9 1 

5 Apr 193* 
26 Mar 1911 

1922 

6 Jun 1903 
26 Aug 1938 
26 Jan 1939 

2 Dec 191U 
26 Jun 1977 
2* Apr 19U5 
12 Oct 1935 

Jan 1906 
26 J a n 1921 
16 Nov 1925 
19 J u l 1931 
22 Oct 1925 

l h D e c 1890 
3 Feb 1868 
8 J u l 1931 

10 May 1861 
30 Dec 1913 

* Vov 1925 
7 ^ a r 1*56 
* Oct 1915 

15 Oct 1*69 
19 Aug 1*9* 
13 Arr 1905 
11 Jan 1**1 
l * D e c I876 

1*67 
1869 

5 Oct 190L 

19 Jan 18*5 
Unknown 

2U 
35 

67 
36 
26 

0 
70 

h 

67 
13 
5L 
50 

0 
71 
81 
15 
52 
79 
51 

0 
75 
85 
22 
0 

16 
^ 
87 
26 
81 
63 

1 
79 
12 
1x0 
76 

?S 
59 
6I1 
58 
3a 

LO 

7 
10 

7 
11 

9 
3 
2 
3 

1 
8 
li 
0 

8 
6 
1 
6 
6 

11 
8 
0 
h 
0 
7 
0 

11 
11 

1 
6 

10 
3 
6 
1, 
7 
6 
2 

11 
u 
0 
0 
0 

3 

17 
8 

6 
12 
22 
20 
27 

0 

19 
2k 
21 

0 

5 
23 
28 

2 
3 

2_t 
18 

1 
10 
21 
17 

li 

11 
3 

11 
10 
28 
15 
18 
17 
18 
22 
28 

0 
2̂> 

0 
0 
0 

10 

159 
160 

16 
9 

10 
202 
200 
201 
205 
203 
206 

28 
111 

11 
175 
177 

5 
3 
2 
h 

127 
126 
128 
193 
186 
185 
208 

35 
173 

3lx 
213 
119 

22 
20 
33 
21 
23 

21h 
212 
l h 8 
115 

98 

99 
2_i 

80 
81 
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CJUSWELL FAMILY 

I . Alphabetical List ing (cr-nt) 

Marshall, 
Marshall, 
-Maxwell, Rebecca 
•» Robert 
VcDonnel, Fannie 
Miller, S. * 
*Koore, Clark 
* Jane 
Morris, Johnie R.T. 

0., J. 
•aO'Daniel, Drucilla M. 

Elizabeth 
•Tsmes 

* Josiah 
* Robert W. 

Rhem, Rev. Dr. W.«. 

Sawyer, Lidy F. 
Scallorn, (infant) 

Albert Owen 
Alice 
Arnanda 
°arbara A.G. 
Nancy A. 
Thomas J. 
Tom J. 
Verna E. 
William Madison 

Dr. William Madison 
William Thomas 

Simpson, ̂ ryan 
Emma G. 
James F. 
Jimmie E. 
Joshua G. 
Lula K. 

Solenvefg, V.E. 
-«*3pier, Gporge W. 
* Rebecca J.G. 
Svenson, Lois K. 

Unknown 
Unknown 

1777 
1775 

5 May 1*75 
TTnknown 
29 Dec 1809 
9 Sep 1*13 
6 Aug 1923 

TTnknown 
27 Feb 1*10 
7 Apr 1*21 
2 "ay 1313 
27 Seo 1*0)4 
30 May 1*38 

2li Oct 1*08 

Li Dec 1*1.6 
111 Nov 1867 
30 Dec 1*33 
12 Kar 1795 
25 Nov 1827 
11 Dec 1*62 
11 Dec 1PU5 
10 Feb 1392 
23 Oct 1857 
31 Aug 1*68 
18 Dec 1^96 
2_i Dec 1*29 
2k Jul 1861. 
27 Oct 1*97 
18 Jun 1882 
1 Feb lQ*k 
23 Aug 1890 
13 Mar 1*55 
li Sep 1*59 
Unknown 
Unknown 
rrn known 
31 Dec 1907 

1868 
1868 
1838 
1838 

11 Jan 1896 
Unknown 
27 Jul 1396 

Jul 1903 
12 >'py 1955 

Unknown 
31 May I83S 
12 Kar l*5u 
9 Dec 1885 
17 Dec 181*5 
10 Aug 1*3* 

1 Aug 1859 

2 Jul 1*83 
16 Nov 1867 
11 Aug 1*39 
17 May 1*81 
17 Jan 1*U5 
29 Sep 1863 
30 Oct 1872 
9 Jan 1971 
17 Sep 1933 
* Pec 1^52 
1 Jan 1838 
5 -Jun 1*80 
29 Sep 1866 
23 Sec 1932 
IU Sen 1832 
15 Nov 1885 
5 Jun 1*91 
9 Dec 193*-

21? May 1939 
Unknown 
29 Dec 1*3* 

1*68 
2b Apr 1927 

61 
63 
20 

86 
89 
31 

28 
32 
72 
lil 
0 

50 

36 
0 
0 
86 
17 
0 
26 
78 
75 
3U 
91 
50 
2 
35 
0 
1 
0 
83 
79 

io 

0 
0 
8 

6 
10 
9 

3 
11 
7 
2 
2 

9 

r \ 

0 
7 
1 
1 
9 
10 
10 
10 
3 
0 
5 
2 
1 
2 
9 
9 
8 
8 

3 

0 
0 
7 

29 
0. 
7 

5 
6 
8 
21 
11 

8 

29 
3 
12 
26 
23 
19 
20 
10 
25 
8 
IU 
12 
6 
27 
27 
15 
13 
27 
22 

2lx 

25 
26 
51 
50 
9k 
Sk 
198 
199 
103 

32 
U5 
66 
65 
Ui 
L6 

116 

57 
166 
68 
162 
67 
16U 
lb3 
82 
35 
86 
161 
163 
165 
216 

> 167 
168 
6 

217 
218 
178 
52 
53 
18 
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C&ISWBLL FAMILY 

T. A l p h a b e t i c a l L i s t i n g ( c o n t ) 

T a v l o r , Sarah C. 
J . S . 
John W. 
John W., J r . 

^ h o r n t o n , Dr. Lyle Gunn 
T o l b i r t , Cor tz o r Cortey 

Cordie 
Henry L. 
>'artha L. 
Ruthven Champion 
v r s . T. 

-Underwood, 
-"-Williams, 
W i l l i a m s , " r e d r i c k 

James F. 
Lucy W. 
Wal ter 

' •• i lson, Cy 

Ycung, F l i z a b e t h S. 
E r n e s t R. 
E r n e s t S. 
Robert G. 

Unknown 
Unknown 

k Sep 1QQ7 
19iil 

111 Oct 1*7L 
2k Sep 1Q57 
12 Sep l*<->3 
25 v a r l q * 0 

* ^eb 1*<9 
1Q90 

Unknown 

Unknown 
Unknown 
12 Jun 1*50 

May 1*73 
Feb 137* 
Jun 1878 

17 Dec 1912 

3 Oct 18*5 
3 Feb 1*83 

19 Oct l ? l i i 
26 Jan 1913 

Unknown 
Unknown 
26 Mar 19h7 

19hl 
15 Jan 1920 
2(- Dec 1920 
23 Sep 189L 
17 Sep 1935 
10 Apr 19LLi 

2 >'ay 1913 
Ju l 1Q*7 

1836 
:Tn known 

3 ->>- 1805 
Sep 18 7b 
J u l 1*78 
Nov 1*79 

2* Dec 195U 

29 Hay 1967 
1 Dec 1966 

17 Dec 1970 
5 Dec 1915 

^ 

kS 
63 

1 
^ 
85 
23 

hb 
1 
0 
0 

Li2 

31 
83 
56 

2 

6 

3 
3 
1 
5 
2 
0 

7 
k 
5 
5 
0 

7 
9 
1 

10 

23 

2 
3 

12 
23 

3 
0 

22 
0 
0 
0 

12 

27 
29 
29 
10 

106 
105 
lOli 

93 
12h 
150 
112 
215 
151 
169 
170 

19 
b3 
1.2 
Id 
ho 
39 

125 

223 
222 
22h 

1 
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CBIStoBLL FAMILY 
. t . . te cf TRX_»S, . 

County of Fayette. 0 .n;w -_11 hen by 7'._.c f re . :nts t:.u. i , Jo:.:. Clici: cf cf t..e Ct.: ty 

ind S ta t , aforesaid for end In ccn. id.rat ion oi t..o su.a cf One Collar to ne in Land paid 

by Willie P. Daxtey one of the Trustees of the Plua Grove Baptift Church of the Ccunty & 

State aforesaid the receipt whereof i s hereby acknowledged a t and before the sealing and 

del iver/ of these presente hare t h i e day granted, bargained, sold, released & conveyed and 

give by these presents doth grant, bargain, s e l l _ Conveyed and Given unto t*e said '..illi__a 

Scallorn, W.?.D_rby, C.Koore, A.Fairea, U T.B.Screlle, as t rustees of the Plun grove Cr.rch 

and the i r successors for l i f e a certain t r a c t cr parcel of land in the County and State 

aforesaid si tuated and including the grave yard on the t r a c t of land known as the former 

W) 
residence of John (5. Criswell, containing tew hundred and eighty nine square rod beginning 

A. 

at a post oak narked C. Thence South 17 rod t c a stake, thence rest 17 rod to a stake, 

thence North 17 rod to a postoak marked 0. Thence East seventeen red to the place of begin­

ning. I do hereby bind nycelf, ty heirs and legal ref repent at Ives to w-.rrant and defend the 

t i t l e of the s_jas to the aforesaid Trustes and the i r successors against the lawful claim or 

clalxts of any and every person or persons claiming the saae in throu^t or under s*e in any 

ssy whatsoever. In witness whereof, 1 have hereunto set ay hand and seal on t h i s the 28" 

day of October Eighteen hundred and f i f ty one. Sipped, Sealed & delivered in presence cf 

Test 
Nathaniel Traasell John Click 'seal C 

- • ^ y 

State of Texas, Q 

County of Fayette. 0 Before ne the undersigned Cleric of the County Court in and fcr said 

County personally appeared Nathaniel Trarjjell and Cide o._th that John Clicx whese na*-e ap-

peare to the instruaent of writing hereunto attached bearing date 23th. October A.D. 1851 

signed, 3ealed and delivered the s&oe in h i s presence that he acknowledges the sane to be 

his act and deed for the considerations and fwrposes therein stated and that a t the request 

of said Click he signed the sane ae a witness. In tcstiaeny whereof I have hereunto set ey 

haM and affixed ay Official Seal, at Office in the Tc-*n of UCrange, 15" day of aove-_ber, 

A.D. 1851. N. '»'. Pal sen Clerk 

L.S. 

1 do hereb;* cer t i fy that the foregoing ie a true copy of the origL'Al deed fi led fe rn-curd 

at 11 o'eloek A.li. Saturday 15" November 1851 and recorded a t 9 o'clock A.C. Friday 21st 

.•'.veaber 1851 
N. Vi. Faieon C.C.F.C. 

Notarised by Lecna C Giese, Deputy, fcr John A. hubena, Clerk County Court, Fayette County, 
Texas, June 23, 1955, U Grange, Texas. 



BASTROP COUNTY COURT HOUSE 

BASTROP, TEXAS 

GENERAL INDEX TO DEEDS: 

Vendee Vendor Instrument Date Book Page 

Criswell, J.Y. Norman Woods Deed 4/24/1835 A 113 

DEPARTMENT OF BRAZOS) 364 3/4 Acres out of Norman Woods League 
JURISDICTION OF MINA) situated in Austins Old Colony. 

Note: The above is the original homesite of John Yancy Criswell, Sr. 
and his wife, Eleanor after they migrated from Matagorda Countj 
to Fayette County, Texas in 1835-

INDEX TO CATTLE BRANDS IN BASTROP COUNTY: 
Book Brand Page 

Chriswell, Jno. Y. (nonresident) A J Q 2 

Faires, Wm. A. (nonresident) (*) A 3 10 

(*) William A. Faires and his wife, Ada were neighbors to 
John Y. & Eleanor Criswell on Woods Prairie. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

_.J EARLY HISTORY OF FAYETTE COUNTY K 

\ f 1--

fev 

and children and several hundred horses were -
brought in. A few old men and women were r e - / 
pleased on the ground. Among the trophies weri 
joods taken from Linnville. Quite a number/of 

Mfc-ore's men were wounded, but none killed. /Col. 
Moore doubtless felt that hi? ill success on the 
San ^Saba was counterbalanced by the /terrible 
punishment inflicted by him on the CoK>rado."o8 

After these defeats the Indians became submissive. 
When Houston succeeded Lamar he found the Indians more 
willing to consider peace. This fact was .due, no doubt, to 
Lamar's aggress ive\methods in dealing vnth them.59 

That the Republic of Texas was/highly appreciative 
of the services of Colonel Moore is s__Hown by the following 
letter: 

War DepV. City ?f Austin, Nov. 7, 1840 
To Col. John H. Modre 
and his volunteer Assteiates: 

Gentlemen: 
Letter from 

Thomas Gale's Forster thanking Colonel 
Moore for his services to the state in the recent 
Indian campau 

"The official report of taur late military 
achievements, has been receiveckby this Depart­
ment. Permit me as an organ of the government 
to hail you as citizen-soldiers; the>champions of 
our liberty, the bulwarks of our safetV and at the 
same/time to tender you, my cordial \ongratula-
tiotfs on your sate return. 

To you, citizen-soldiers, are we indexed for 
le prospects of safety, and beams of peace by 

which our frontier is animated and enliveneck.60 

58-Brown, "History of Texas," II, 182-183. 
59-Barkar, "Hittory of Texas," 353. 
60-Eli Moore Townsend, "Notes on the Life of Colonel John H. 

Moore," 6-7. 
In July, 1835, Captain R. M. Coleman organized an expedition 

of twenty-five men to go to the Indian village at Tehuacana Springs 
(Now in Limestone County,) for the purpose of holding a council 
and making a treaty with the Tehuacanas. But Coleman and his 
party were discovered by Indian spies as he was approaching the 
village. The tribe had not been advised of the purpose of his visit, 
and supposing its disposition to be war-like, they took up a strong 
position in rifle-pits dug in the ground, and fired upon the whites 

o 
•t 

(1 
o 
f 

t 
t 
c 
c 
> 

. 
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EARLY HISTORY OF FAYETTE COUNTY 83 

A sketch of Moore's life would not be complete with­
out mentioning the part he played in the initial battle of 
the Texas Revolutionary War. This battle was fought at 
Gonzales, October 2, 1835, and waa prompted by the in­
opportune demand of Col. Ugartechea. Mexican general in 
command at San Antonio, for the cannon given the people 
of Gonzales by the Mexicans some years before. Volun­
teers from the colonies rushed to Gonzales to save the 
cannon. In this immediate emergency Moore was elected 
colonel. In the clash that followed, the colonists, led by 
Moore, were successful.6l 

as they approached. A fierce conflict between the Indians and the 
Texans ensued. Captain Coleman killed several of the warriors, but 
he was unable to dislodge them. After having one of his men killed 
and several wounded, he withdrew and fell back to Parker's Fort. 
From the fort, he sent messengers to the settlements requesting re-
enforcements. He was soon joined by four companies of volunteers 
under the commands of Captains George W. Barnett, John H. Moore, 
R. M. Williamson, and Philip Coe. These troops, in accord with a 
pre-arranged plan, assembled at Tenoxtitlan on July 31. and marched 
in a body to join Captain Coleman at Parker's Fort. The combined 
force was organized into a single body, and Colonel John H. Moore 
was elected to command. Captain Barnett's company formed the 
advance guard, and reaching the site of the Indian village, he found 
it abandoned. On the arrival of Moore's party, a council was held 
to agree on a course of action. Captain Barnett favored chasing the 
Indians, and the plan was agreed on. Major Moore led his troops in 
pursuit of the savages as far as the forks of the Trinity, then across 
the Brazos and down that stream. Captain Barnett continuing to 
act as advance guard with his company. They failed to locate the 
escaping Indians, but they encountered several roving bands whom 
*"iey routed, killing several warriors and capturing a few women 
and children. These captives were taken to the settlements and 
**old as slaves." This is said to be the only recorded instance of 
attempted Indian enslavery in Texas. The experiment proved a 
'ail-ire for the simple reason that while you can take an Indian to 
the job, you can't make him work. 

These men are known to have followed Moore on this campaign: 
Anders. Samuel 
Blackburn, A. J. 
Brown, Lionel 
Criswell, John Yancy 
Dawson, Nicholas M. 
Eastland, Nicholas W. 
Eastland, Wm. M. 
Harnes, Abel 
Goodman, J. B. 

Ingram, J. hn 
Jones. Meyers Fisher 
Munson, Mordello 3. 
Rabb, Andrew 
Rabh, John 
Rabb. Thomas J. 
Shaw. Josiah 
Shaw. Peter V. 
Smith. Dr. Wm. P. 

*>1 Wooten, "History of Texas," l..">-loo. 

jet/* /*«eYCk/s*/eu~,s*. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

st*i4jr*4*^£*f 

'%i*r S f t i "| 

If 

***** & 

'/lt-i-1 
\ 

Camp near Bexar 24th Nov. 1835 

te do hereby certify that L. Criswell has served in J. C Neills 

urtilery Compnay from 28th Sept. up to this date and is pne hundred 

and thirty five miles from home and is he_Mjw K$no_i»bly discharged. 

J, C. Neill Capt. 

S. F. Austin 

_ 1 

VZZ,'. 
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Sec 283 Book B 

Leroy Criswell 

Audited 12th Feby 1836 

By J. W. Moody Auditor 

Military Service 

28th Sept 1835 

To 12th Feby 1836 

No. Draft 333C 

$43.o6 

REPRODUCED FROM TO 

E-6 HOLDINGS OF THE 

TEXAS STATE ARCHIVE 
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San Felipe De Austin 

before me, John V. Moody, came Leroy Criswell and says the annaxed 

is just, true & original and he owes nothing to the Government 

• Sworn to 12th Feby 1836 

before J. W. Moody Auditor 



CRISWELL FAMILY 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

FAIBTTI COUITY - PASf * PRBSJBTC 

PRAHA—ONCE VISITED, NEVER FORGOTTEN 
Catherine Berger 

Passing through Fayette County on Farm to Market Road 1295. a 
traveler could very easily by-pass the small community, if it were 
not that the corner of his eye catches sight of the church. It is a 
beautiful church, gothic in structure, that blends in perfectly with 
the valley in which it stands. The valley and the community sur­
rounding it are known as Praha. Praha. a simple, rural Fayette 
County community, is situated about three miles east of Flatonia. 
south of the Southern Pacific Railroad on the James Duff league. 

This area was first known as Mulberry. When the Czechs moved 
in. the Anglos and Germans, in laughing scorn, called the Czech 
community Hottentot. When the post office was established, it was 
known as New Prague. Later it was renamed Praha. 

The first and most prominent of the settlers was Mathias Novak, a 
penniless Bohemian who came in 1854 as an immigrant. After work­
ing for wages among the Americans, he saved enough money to buy 
several hundred acres of land and to build a log-house with a 
shingled roof. By 1870 there were about twenty-five Czech-Mora­
vian families who helped build the community. These included 
Frank Branitsky. Joseph Nykel. Joseph Viviala, Joseph Matula. 
Bedrich Berkenhoff, Martin Chdloupka. H. Greive. Carl Gallia. 
Philip Bucek. Andreas Gallia. Frank Vacl, George Morysek. Joseph 
Hajek. John Baca, and M. Jares. James C. Duff. WiUiam Criswell (a 
veteran of the Battle of San lac into), and Leroy V. Criswell (a soldier 

. in the siege of Bexar, witnessing the killing of tien" Rfilam), were also 
early settlers. 

The first church services in Praha were held in the Matt Novak 
home with Reverend Martiniers from Hallettsville saying the Mass. 
Staying for only a short time. Reverend Victor Gury from Frelsburg 
replaced Reverend Martiniers and came to Praha once a month to 
hold services. Families came from twenty to thirty miles around to 
attend the services in the Novak home. As more settlers came, a 
small frame hut was built to serve as a place of meeting and wor­
ship. It was evident that Mulberry was growing. 

Reverend Joseph Bitkowski. a Benedictine Father, was the first 
resident priest. Reverend Bitkowski. who came in 1866. directed the 
construction of the first church, which became a part of the old rec­
tory. Through a lot of hard work, the parishioners built a church 
measuring thirty by sixty feet, utilizing lumber hauled by ox-wagon 
some one hundred and fifty miles, from Spring Branch, about twen­
ty miles west from Houston. It took them three weeks to make the 
' rp here and back. Mathias Novak donated about twenty acres of 
'he present-day parish property for the church site. The new church 
was dedicated at Midnight Mass on Christmas Eve. Catholics from 
up to thirty miles away, from Navidad. Bluff (Hostyn). High Hill, 
and Fayetteville came to attend Mass in the new church. 

Reverend Bitkowski had missions in the surrounding com­
munities of Bluff. Ross Prairie, and Navidad. The people who lived 
'•'—*••' were very pleased with the missions, but they were so poor 
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2 0 0 A COMPREHENSIVE HISTORY OF TEXAS. - * * u/o* 

second day of the attack, the Texans had five wounded. The night of the 6th 
occupied by the enemy in keeping up a languishing fire, in opening a trench on 
Alamo side of the river, and in strengthening their batteries on Main Street, 1« 
from the plaza to the Alamo. The Texans were engaged in strengthening 
lines. ^P*C, 7 USS* 

On the morning of the 7th, the enemy opened a brisk fire from the trench o 
structed the night before ; also of artillery and small-arms from other positions. 

eleven o'clock that day, the deadly fire Q| , 
Texan rifles had silenced that from the tr«___ 
and also from some of the Mexican artfl_T^ 
The only house between the Garza house 
the buildings on the plaza was about mid«^ 
but back from the street About noon, 
gallant Karnes advanced with a crowbar, 
a heavy fire from the enemy, and forced 
entrance. Captain York's company folloi 
and held the position. In the evening tin 1 
of the Mexicans became active from all 
works. Colonel Milam, in passing from 
position to that of Jo h n s o n a t t n e Terarntyj^ 
house, was instantly killed by a rifle-shot 
the head. He fell just as he entered the yj 
In his death, Texas lost a commander and 
soldier whose place could not be easily 
plied.' The Texans, however, felt a new 
centive to avenge his death. They imr 
ately set on foot a party to take possession 1 
the house of Jose" Angel Navarro, situated 

the north side of Main Street, one block west of the main plaza, but commandingi 
portion of the military plaza, and the Mexican redoubt on the second block we_t 
the main square. The party consisted of portions of the companies of Caj 
Llewyllen, English, Crane, and York. They advanced from the house takes 
Karnes and forced an entrance. The enemy endeavored to retake it by 
through loopholes made in the roof; but the Texans returned the fire through 
same loopholes, and drove them off. 

Immediately north of and adjoining the Navarro house, fronting on 
Street, stood a row of buildings known as the " Zambrano Row." The taking 1 
these buildings was part of the work of the 8th of December. The morning 
cold and wet, and but little was done. About nine o'clock, however, the 
party who had taken the Navarro house, being reinforced by the Grays, commet 
the attack. The row consisted of a series of rooms, separated by thick partitk 
walls. These walls were pierced, and thus the Texans advanced from room 
room. The enemy disputed every inch of the ground, and kept up a trenu 

COLONEL BEN R. MILAM. 

• [Milam was buried in a trench near the east wall,—Harvey also, killed on the 
W. JOHNSON'S MS. " HISTORY OF TEXAS."] 

5th. f* 

_5/j7-r_<s of 3 s * - * * - (Si* fi»r<^'e,) - DJSC. S. _i - / _ ? S V « T 
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December 13th 1835 

This is to Certify that Wm Criswell of tne Brass Gun Battilatien 

Entered the Volunteer Army of Texas on the 28th of September and 

has discharged his duty with hournor and applause he is also one 

who so galantly distinguished himself in the Seige of Bexar 

he is hereby Honorably discharged 

Almeron Dickinson , Capt. 

By Order J- C- N # m ' C o l o n e l 

Wm. T. Austin Edward Burleson 
Aid de Camp Comd. in Chief 
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HOLDINGS OF THE 
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d̂o hereby Certify that William Criswell has served as a private in the _ 

>ermanant Volunteer Company of Texas Milita and as such discharged his 
l % for fifty days under my command in Col. Moore's Battalion 

Mina September 13th 1835. 

1 * 
* * . 

>£ 

R. M. Williamson 
Capt. Commanding 

J. a Moore Col. 
Commandant 

! ^ 

^ 3 
_A 

* 
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fr't . . * * : . . .. . ~7~~-*-

The provintial Goveiient of Texas To Leroy and William Criswell Dr 

Sept 

1835 % ? i lbs Coffee Bought of Taytum fc Lee $1.00 

i* 5 lbs of sugar Bought of Lee — - 1.00 

Oct 4 % 5 lbs of Sugar Bought at Gonzales 1.00 

% Cash paid out for Sapp and corn St Antone 75 
27 
December % two Dollars paid a Doctor at Gonzales 2.00 

the Money paid John Y Criswell $5.75 
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T£XAS STATE ARCHIVES 
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y,***-

ieby 11th 1836 

his is to certify that we in behalf of a squad of volunteers traveling 
o St Antonio being out of provisions called upon John Y Criswell who fed 
fl in his own house with his own provisions for the night and next morining 
reakfast, eight of us two meals © .25 cts. Say five dollars for which the 
overnment will no doubt renumerate him. We being authorized to draw on 
aid gov. for provisions. ^ Autry 

D. W. Cloud 
Agents for Squad 

he above squad of men perished at the Alamo in March 1836. 

US ANTONIO, TEXAS) 

(ABOVE DOCUMENT IS ON DISPLAY WITHIN THE ALAMO SHRINE, 
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Vol. 9. No. 52 

THOUGHTS py gfcflftp fi^ (Bd. Journal) ]_y John lancy Criswell, Jr. 

In ay co-naunication of the 20th ult. ia speaking of the LaGrange Intell-
gencer, the first newspaper published in LaGrange, carries my mind back 
to the spring of 1836. the few families that were living in the neighbor* 
hood of Wood * s Prairie , in which West Point ia located, get ready as beat 
they could, to fall back east out of the Mexican's a m y reach* Some fan* 
Hies in sleds, some in 2 wheel wodden carts, but few had wagons, all 
using ox teams, they met. at the old Woods place in said prarie, crossing 
the Colorado River at the Grassaeyer place, above the $rim farm, then 
owned by Wm. Barton. The families were as follows: Wm. Barton, Zedeck 
woods, Norman Woods, Montroville Woods, James Robinson, George Speers, 
Noah Karnes (the father of W. P. & G. W. Karnes, living near Plum Post 
Office) and W. A. Faires, the father of &. 0. Faires and brothers, L.F. T. 
Cottle and my fathers family, and some others the names of whom I have 
forgotten* 

The families effects were floated over the river on beef hides.s After 
crossing the river we camped the first night at the old Cunningham place 
near the river. Some of the teams wandered off that night, whioh caused 
two Qt three days delay in hunting them. On the morning that we intended 
to make an advancement for the town of Washington, on the Brazos Rives, 
just as day was breaking, the Commanche Indians, who had concealed them­
selves that night in the river bottom, made a dash through the field, 
rattling little triks of their make, stampeeding and running off nearly 
all of the horses that were in the crowd. The night previous, the Indians 
pulled the fenoe in various places so as to pass out of the field with 
the stock. W. A. Faires was up that morning quite early an* went out to 
get his ponies, in going along the fence he found some gaps In it. He out 
up two of the gaps and found one of his ponies out side the field, hobled 
and his head tied down to the front feet. As he got lUs-horse untied the 
Indians made their start through the field and Faires started for camp 
without saddle* Stopping and putting up those two gaps in the fence saved 
him from being cut off from the camp by the Indians. 

Some of the crowd were up and saw the Indians run the horses out of the 
field and off. I saw the sight, but it was done so quick that there was 
not much to be seen. After the sight was over the men concluded it would 
be best to recrosa the river which they did and camped the first night 
at the Barton place. Next morning £_u_ee-ef the nan started out to hunt 
some of the lost teams* Thay were Montroville Woods, Wesley Scallorn, the 
other name I have forgotten, cane very near being cut off by the Indians, 
they .making a charge on us that morning, but having to run over the ground 
that had been plowed that spring, saved the three men. 

From the Barton place we went down and crossed the river at the old Labide 
crossing, which is at or near the R. R. bridge at LaGrange; camped at 
Col. John F. Moore's little log cabin and a block house in the yard used 
as a fort against the Indians. This was about the first week of April 1836* 
The ground where Col. Moore's cabin stood is some 4 or 5 blocks up the 
street from the northwest corner of the public square of your city. Then 
no one ever dreamed of a town being built on that ground and afterwards a 
railroad built over the land. 
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The families being destitute of teams as well as veh. e_ es and horses to 
ride, the women and children that were big enough to walk had to do it, 
and besides walking had to carry grub and bedding on their backs. It was 
a very wet spring that year, we had mud and water without end. 

Don't talk about hard times during the Confederate War. It was nothing 
to be compajfe^Lwith those days* To see nearly the whole crowd walk through 
mad and wafceV.up to-their knees, men, women and children, and then bedding 
d e w and sleeping on the wet gtoundat nights without tents was surely "a 
trying time. About half way between the Colorado and the Brazos Rivers, 
Noah Karnes was killed accidently by Wayne Barton, he was rapt up in a bed 
quilt for his coffin and buried where he was killed. On reaching the 
Brazos, it was ug over all the low bottoms,wagons, carts, etc. were - .„ 
crossed ovej;in a*ferry.boat, each wagon by turn* The boat was run £ay 
and night until all was crossed. The families arrived at Robbings £err.y 
on the Triniti River on or about he 15th of April, 1836. At*the Trinity 
River we found'a.large number of families awaiting their turn to cross'the 
river, the Trinity was up and over all bottom land; it waa five miles wide 
and took one day, to make two trips with the boat which was slow work. 
Before our crowd'got, to cross we got news of the Mexicans being whipped 
at Sam Jacinto on the eve of memorial day, the 21st of April, then the' 
shouts of women and children went up for joy, at the prospect of going 
back through the mud and waterjto their little log cabins they left behind 
them. 

Mrs. 0. Fitzgerald and Mrs. Gorham are the only two women that I knew:of, 
who was in our crowd that was anything like grown and W. P. And &. fc^r 

Karnes of £Iu£-neighborhood, and myself, are the only men living th^f were 
in the crowd**that were not grown. There may be others living, if'soi*. I 
have entirely'forgotten them by name* 

In those days there was no fencing, and nobody to want a fence, but plenty 
of hostile Indians, buffalo, mustangs (wild horses), wild cattle, deer, 
turkeys, and''other-small game, but few people to eat the game. In those 
by-gone-days,* all we had to do was take our guns, go out and kill any 
kind of game you wished, broil it over the fire and eat it without salt 
and be happy. J. Y. C. 

E-13 



CRISWELL FAMILY 
^ ^ . V Jfcjt**?*, a ^ J l ^ a^M^y^^L *. *m . 

ZtJ>i* jyJ*~~£S 

>.?-«*-' 

THIS CERTIFICATE 
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date of the lust payment made him to a-^/ ^^CZ/ ^ / * - w 183_£ as a 

^ T O ^ m ^ r „i Captain S ^ ^ ^ J * ^ * \ Company, ( ,) 
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HH-mti l i tSi i r i 

» to ik, n T f s F * ™ ? • " * * * » » ' of Te*a. mu pay *» 

' / D ° ' h " m * a n » ™*% in the Trtcury a p . g 

v. A " 
"*t •auditor. 

Comptroller. 
m 
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^ 

«r J V O M T O R ' S O F F I C E , 

Uottston,J%<,r- / * " 183 5' 

THIS DAY came S / ' * ^ / ^ - ^ ^ * ^ ^ ^ - " " < V 

and says the anniTcd mstrument ^c*\ ^ */W5'» *rwei a/7^ original, and the only one 

+—* has offend fur liquidtition: Tliat4fc~-~~Soiccs the Government nothing on *** 

own account, cr on account of any other person. *t £^/~£*y 

Stcorn to before 

A i A 

U t zhiditor. 
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Delivery of Army Equipment & Supplies To the Government 
on completion of service by Wm. Criswell. 

- s^%_W x̂ i~e. -#z£~~< ^ ~ * * ^ ^ j j g ^ ^ X ^ 

> _t i_^_> 

j&e~£*~r^ 
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(John Y. Criswell, Sr.) 

w )7\>Cw£C V*~£*^ZZ£Ln-4 ^ ~ t ^ . 7 ^ ^ - ^ v j U -

C f̂er* - ^ 

c\$*r. Jwfc. fuju^ja^ 

This is to certify that John Y. Chriswell served in the Army of Texas 
in first regiment of Texas Militia and in the company of Minta 
Volunteers on the 7th day of February and entered for the period of 
one month during which time he faithrully preformed his duty as a 
private and is hereby honorably discharged. 

March 7, 1836 Billingsly 
Capt. Minta Volunteers 
Edw. Burleson 
Col. Comdt. 1st Regiment. 
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iiia is to Certify that the Ranging Corps under the Command of Col. S. Burleson 

ode use of three bushles of corn at one Dollar and fifty Cents per bushel 

nd one bushel of potatoes at one Dollar property of J. Y. Chriswell. 

olorado July 22, 1836 
John G Mc G Capt 

|et this be Audited A R Corps 
r 15th 1838 A. S. Thurston Bwd. Burleson 

Col. Comanding R. 
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Colorado City June 5th 1837 

The Government of Texas will pay Jno Y Christwell or order 

four dollars & 500 for provisions furnished my company 

Wm M Eastland 

Cap't of Rangers 

Let this be audited May 15th 1838 
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This is to Certify that Leroy VT Criswell Served as a private in the 

Mounted rifle Company under my Command in Col. Moore's Battallion 

fifty days and as Such faithfully discharged his duty. October 23, 1838. 

R. M. Williamson 

Capt. thru 

J. H. Moore, Cammanding 

E-l 7 



blSWELL FAMILY 

h 

<k H 
-k ' I —• X 

^ L S w & 

t 
f _>. 

^ Y i* cN 

REPRODUCED FROM THE 
MOLDINGS OF THE 

TEXAS STATE ARCHIVE? 

nu> DAY.*'••<_.* d+JL*. /_? v+%i4^d^(M~r^jZ^v. f^^ 
•ind srvjx .''<< .:u •••.•' in 'iu;..-.:'' <? just, ir>i.- and .,/._••'• / en I th-i only omt 

fmmmm/ has i.-ffi -rd J-jf tl<iuidti!tcn : II--if pCAt+^+oircs thr (Jovemmtnt a-.thug ca **n 

>irn account, or on acojv.nt •• >:.rn/ other person. •*•* 

fyscG/n t ) foi'vf. 

/ <- • -/ ^ *r~/ 
/£> 

fuditor* 

E-17 
REPRODUCED FROM THE 

KOLCINeS OF THE 
TEXAS STATE ARCHIVE 



CRISWELL FAMILY 
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Black Jack - August 24th 1851 

Fayette County Texas 

James C. Swisher Auditor public accounts Texas—Sir enclosed you 

will notice my discharge for fifty days in the Militia of Texas, also 

Texas script in favour of John Y. Criswell for twenty four dollars $24.00 

for liquidation. 
Very Respectfully 

Leroy V. Criswell 
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LA GRANGE JOURNAL 
March 21, 1889 
Vol. 10, Mo. 13 

A CORRECTION by John Y. Criswell, Jr. 

In scanning over THE JOURNAL of the 7th last, I see a communication fros 
the Weimar correspondent of the Colorado Citizen, giving some of the 
details of the late re-union of Green's Brigade, held at La Grange, Texas 
on Feb. 21st. which from the said Colorado Citizen, Weimar correspondent 
and other accounts,was a grand success. I am proud to know that La Grange 
did her whole duty in entertaining the members of Green's Brigade who were 
at the reunion aa well as all the visitors of other commands. Well old 
Fayette is the banner county of Texas. There is no doubt but she sacrificed 
as many men, if not more, from the commencement of hostilities of Mexico, 
until the close of the Mexican War of 1846 to 1848 than any other county. 
On the 18th day of September 1842, the brave Capt. Dawson with the company 
all, save one or two, were from old Fayette were slain in battle, save abon 
a dozen, who were taken prisoners and taken to Mexico* Capt. Dawson was 
trying to make his way to the command of Col. Caldwell who was camped on t_| 
Salado Creek some five miles this side of San Antonio. And right here wieh 
to correct a mistake that my friend Charlie made in the write up for the 
Colorado Citizen. 

-.• ....... 
When Charlie gets among friends he is eaeily excited, hence his miSt'aktT 
He said that Joel Robison and Edward Manton were the only two surviving 
prisoners of Capt. Dawsons Company. Now Joel Robison was not taken pri­
soner at Dawson*8 defeat as it is commonly termed. Joseph C. Robinson, 
who in his lifetime lived in Woods Px*___trie, some two miles west of West Po 
waa one of the Dawson prisoners. He married a daughter of old Uncle Billy 
Turnage, of La Grange, but has been dead for a number of years. Milburn 
Harrell of Gonzales County and Edward Manton of Fayette County are the onij 
survivors of the Dawson prisoners. My friend Joel W. Robison, of Warrenton 
was in the battle of San Jacinto, April 21, 1836, and was one of 4 or 5 men 
who captured Gen. Santa Anna. If I mistake not, Santa i_nna rode into camp 
behind Joel W. Robison. I think Robison will tell you or any one else, tha 
he saw Gen. Santa Anna "before the others did, and perhaps got to him first 
though Gen. Houston tried to take the honor (if honor it be)of capturing 
Santa Anna, from Robison and place it on Sylvester, who I think was the 
Sergent of the squad. 

Again Charlie says Fayette County was once the home of Stephen F. Austin. 
He never lived in this county, only as a part of Austin County. 

Respectfully submitted 
J. Y. Criswell 
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CglSWELL FAMILY 

SUCCESSION OP JOHN Y. CRISWELL/ DECEASED 

Republic of Texas 
County of Fayette 

Know all men by theae presents that we, Leroy V. Criswell aa principal,,John 
W. Scallorn, and Michu Andrews. Via. M. Eastland aa securities are held and 
firmly bound unto Nicholas W. Eastland, Chief Justice of the County afore­
said and hia successors in Office in the sua of twelve hundred and eighty-
nine dollars, the payment of which well and truly to be made we bind our­
selves, our heir a. Executors and administrators jointly, severally, and firmly 
by theae presents. Signed and sealed with our seals this (l6th) sixteenth 
day of December in the Year of Our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty-
nine. 

The conditions of the above obligation ia such that the above 
Leroy V. Criswell as principal has been appointed administrator upon the 
estate of effects of John Y. Criswell Deoeaaed by the probate Court of the 
County aforesaid. Now if the said Leroy V. Criswell shall well and truly 
discharge the Lawful duties of Administration upon the estate and effects of 
the aforesaid Deceased—Then this obligation to be null and void. Otherwise 
to remain In full force and virtue In Law. 

Signed, sealed, and delivered In the Town of La Grange this 
the day and date above written. 

Approved: 
Via. Eastland L. V. Criswell (signature) 
Judge of Probate John W. Scallorn (signature) 

M. Andrews (signature) 
Vta. M. Eastland (signature) 

1 certify the foregoing to be a true Record. 
March 23, 1841 S. J. Meomegay 

CPE of Probate 

Inventory 
We the undersigned appointed to take an Inventory and appraisment of the 
property of John Y. Criswell deoeaaed do find the following property with 
appraisment. Vie— 
5 Sows - 7 - $35. 5 pork hoga - - 35* ?0*°° 
2 large pork hogs. 32. 10 sheets. 30. 62.00 
1 Sow. 7. 7-00 $139.00 
3 Cows and Calves. $12. 36.00 
2 heifers 6 1 bull. 7 21.00 
2 Yoke of oxen - 50 - . 100.00 
1 oxen 25. 1 ox waggon. 50. 75.00 232.00 
1 aet of Blacksmith tools consisting: of 1 bellows, 50.00 50.00 
i anvell, 1 Viae, 3 haanera, 1 (?), 1 Sledge, 3 open 
tongs, 1 aet clawers & punch, 1 screwplate. 
2 Augera and 1 hand saw 2.75 
1 Log ehaln 5.5O. 2 plowa 2.50. 8«°° 
1 (?) coulter etc. 3.00 
1 (T) mill - 2.00. 1 Herring (?) 6.00 19.75 
1 lot of castings 25.00 
i Spinning wheel. 4.1.pr. Steelyards.1. 5*00 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

1 (t). 1 pot. A a tub. etc. 6.00 
1 coffee mill 1.25. 1 dock 5. 6.25 
Cubbard ware 4.00 46.25 
2 Beds and furniture a 2 bed steads 45.00 
4 chaira A 1 chest A trunk 4.00 
1 Earthen jar and pot 1.50 
1 lot of books-9.00. 1 rifle gun. 12. 21.00 
1 pr. apothecariee scales a watee, 1 pocket 
compass * a looking glass 6.00 
1 lot of corn. Supposed to be 80 bush. 80.00 

$65K50 
Sworn to and subscribed 
before me this 11th day Ma. Scallorn 
of December 1819 Stephen Scallorn 

John H. Scallorn 
Jaaea Robinson 

I certify the foregoing to be a true Record. March 23, 1841. 
S. J_ Msomegay 
Clerk of the Probate 

A list of property sold at the sale of John I. Criswell. Deceased. January 15, 
1840. 

John Burleson 
1 Waggon . O n e hundred & forty.50# $140.50 

William V. Criswell 
1 Yoke of Oxen 9*̂ .00 
" * " » 68.00 
Aaron Burlesson 

1 Lot of Cattle. 5 head. 67.00 
Via. V. Criswell 

1 Yoke of oxen 166.00 $535*50 
John W. Lsmaster 

1 set of blacksmith tools 61.50 
Henry J. English 

2 Augers 3*25 
Hugh W. Childress 

1 Cow 4 yearling -27. 1 Cow * calf. 31. 58.00 
lajman Stewart 

10 ahoata—4.75 ^7.50 
L. V. Criswell 

5 head pork hogs. (?) 30.00 
John A. Miller 

1 Steel Mill 7*25 $228.00 
Leroy Y. Criswell 

3 heed of Hogs 28.00 
Wilson Biggs 

1 Oven 3*50 
John W. Pendleton 

1 Stew Cettle 3*50. 1 pot. 11.50 
John W. Scallorn 

Grill Iron a baker 1.50 
Riehard Berkley. Skillet & ba(T) .50 
Leroy V. C_ri swell 

1 lot of eastings 26.00 
John W. Scallorn 

1 compass .50 
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Lea. F . T. C o t t l e . 1 c lock . 5.00 
J . L. Smith. 1 Rifle gun* 18.00 
Daniel Gray. 1 pr . Steelyards* 2.25 
Thomas Thompson. 1 Spinning wheel. 8.00 
William Scallorn. 1 hewing axe. 8.00 
Lea. P . T. Cott le. 1 Earthen pot . «50 
John C. Cunningham. 1 hand saw. 11.00 
John W. Pendleton. 1 ohurn. 5.00 
L.F.T.Cottle. 1 S.one j$r 2.50 
L. V. Criswell. v L o t of Cooper's vessels . 6.50 
John C. Cunningham. 1 log chain. 17.00 
Leroy ?• criswell . 2 Beds AN furni ture. 45.00 
Aaron Burleaaon. 1 bed stead. 3*00 
L. V. Oiewel l . • • " 3 3.OO 
Norman weeds 
1 l o t sundriess apothecaries sealee, looking 
glass, pocket compass, e t c . 4.00 
David Berry. 1 trunk. 4.75 
L..V. Criswell. 4 chairs 3.00 
" n " 1 l o t of cupboard ware 5.00 
" " • 1 (?) shear plow 5.50 
John W. Scallorn. 1 wash boal .50 
J . C. Cunningham. 1 small plow, 1 shovel plow 4.50 
L. V. Criswell 

1 l o t of corn 131.00 
Lyman Cronkrlght • 2 sows. 24.00 
Jaaea H. Criswell 3 eows • 9*50 28.50 
L. M. Stewart. 1 pork hog. 30.00 
L. V. Criswell. 1 year lease of farm. 50.00 
L. V. cr iswell . 1 year h i re of negro g i r l . 

Total of sales 1.508.75 

The above ia a true list of the property sold by the administrator of the 
estate of John Y. Oiewell. Deceased. Sold January 15th, 1840. 

John W. Scallorn/ gi^g. 
Sworn to before me Newton Scallorn / 
this 28th of March, 
A.D. 1840. 
S. J. Maornegay 
Clerk of the Rrobate 

I certify the foregoing to be a true record. March 23, 1841. 
S. J. Maornegay 
CPE of Probate 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

Republic of Texas) Probate Court 
County of Fayette) . January term, 1840 

Know all men by these presents that William Scallorn as prin­
cipal and John W. Scallorn and Leroy V. Oiewell aa eecuritiea are held and 
fin-ly bound unto N. W. Eastland Judge of Probate In the sua of Twelve hundred 
dollars for whioh sum well and truly to be paid we afarlng ourselves jointly 
and eeverally and firmly by theae preeents- Signed with our hands and sealed 
with our seals this 27th of January, A.D. Eighteen hundred and forty. 

The condition of the above obligation is such that whereas the above bound 
Scallorn haa been appointed guardian of John Y. Oiswell minor heirs of John 
Y. Oiswell deceased. Now the above said bounden Scallorn shall well and 
truly discharge all and singular the dutiee recurring of him by Law then the 
above obligation ahall be null and void. Otherwise to remain In full force. 

Approved 
January 27. 1840 ) Vii. Scallorn (signature) 
N. V. Eastland ) John W. Scallorn (signature) 

Judge of Probate) L. V. Oiswell (signature) 
I certify the foregoing to be a true record. May 12th 1841. 

S. J. Maornegay 

Republic of Texas) Probate Court 
County of Fayette) January term, 1840 

Know all men by theae presents that I Leroy V. Oiswell aa 
principal and William Scallorn and John W. Scallorn aa eecuritiea t i r o held 
and firmly bound unto N . W . Eastland, Judge of Probate In the sum of twelve 
hundred dollars for the payment of which well and truly to be made we bind 
ourselves jointly and severally our heirs executor a and administrators firmly 
by theae presents. Signed with our hands and sealed with our seals this 
27th day of January 1840. 

The condition of the above obligation ia such that whereas the above 
boundees Scallorn has been appointed guardian of the minor heirs of John Y. 
Oiewell deceased, to wit. Andrew* J.Y., Joseph E. Criswell—If said guardian 
shall well and truly discharge the duties of said guardianship agreeably to 
Law the above obligation shall be null and void. Otherwise to re,main in full 
force and virtue. 

Approved 
January 27. 1840) L. V. Oiswell (seal) 
N. W. Eastland ) Via. Scallorn (seal) 

Judge of Probate John W. Scallorn (seal) 
I certify the foregoing to be a true record. May 12, 1841. 

ESTATE OF JOHN Y. CRISWELL 
Leroy V. Oiswell Admd. 

1839 
To P2 14/100$ Texaa money paid for Taxea valued aa 4 for one. No. 1. 15*53 

,- cash paid J. W. Scallorn for auger received by J.Y.Oiswell !•# 
cash paid G. W. Tuttle for 500 rails A repairing fence 10*00 
cash paid printer for advertising administrators notice (marked X) i*»°° 
cash for taxes 9.40 Texaa money at 4 for one (Fayette Co. n2) 2.*5 
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eash paid to Sheriff of Matagorda Aeeunty No. 3 18.00 
cash paid to Sheriff Fayette Oounty No. 4 6.52 
scat, paid S. S. B. Fields for ooUeetlng Leaaetere note for 81.50 10.00 
amt. paid S. S. B. Fields for legal eervioea In obtaining partition 

of aetata NO. 5. Note paid. 25.00 
amt. paid Leo. F. T. Cottle on note with interest no. 6. 60*75 
amt. paid for probate judge'e fees. 24.00 
amt. paid for Clerks fees No. 8 28.11 
amt of sales $1310.50 comas aa admlnlatrator a t 5 per oent 65.52 

paid Conn. A surveyor for eervioea In partition of lands as appears 
by receipts A.B. A C. in Matagorda Oounty 19.00 
paid I . W. McKisick for Texas reepo D for Estate 5*80 
Cost In Bastrop County (receipt E) 14.03 
J . Y. Oiswell (receipt F ) tuition paid to Stephen Scallorn .50 
amt paid W. V. Oiswell (receipt G) 20.4) 
amt. paid S. P. Burt (reoaipt I ) 24.75 
sect, for 250 ra i l s for ay-self making hauling and laying up 24 each 5.00 
ea t . paid for cost of Probate Court 24.43 

CR 
By amount of Sales 1,310*50 

deduct $53*50 lost and collected by S.S.B.Fielde and not paid 
whose estate i s Insolvent th is was on Lomaster debt. Deduct $45.50 not 
received on the debt of lymon M. Stewart. Total deduction after deducting 99.00 
lossess balance of sale deduct suae above charged 1,211*50 

U66 

A note signed by James H. Oiswell and John W. Scallorn for $28*50 and one 
signed by William Oiewell and Leroy V* Oiewell for (?) for property purchased 
are included In the amount of sales above mentioned marked K A S. there ia 
probably a email amount due for (?) from myself to the estate which will be 
accounted for if it can be ascertained to be the fact* 

The State of Texas ) 
County of Fayette ) To the Judge of Probate 

Your petitioner Leroy V* Oiewell administrator of John Y. Oiswell states 
that the above is a correct statement and asks that notice may be given in 
accordance with law for a distribution and final settlement of said Estate. 
A list of the Heirs is attached hereto. 
31 Mareh 1847 Leroy V. Oiswell 

William V. Oiswell Fayette County 
James H. Criswell * " 
John Y. Oiswell " " 
Kandace Fitagerald " " 
Mary J. Haddon Matagorda County 
Leroy V. Oiswell Fayette County 
Joseph E. Cri«"»ll ) 1 / n ^ a t 9 ^ 4 U r o y y. Oiswell Guardian 
Andrew J. Oiewell ) 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

The above report appears to be correct and the request for a final settle­
ment ia granted to take place on the last Monday in July next. 

J. S. Sester Judge of Probate 
I do hereby eertif y that the foregoing ia a true copy of the original 
recorded 17 August 1847* 

N. W. Faison,.?. C. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

Republic of Texae ) Probate Court 
County of Fayette ) February Term 1843 

Know-all men by theae presents that I Leroy V. Oiewell aa 
principal and WUliam V. Oiswell and L. F. T. Cottle aa Securities am held 
and firmly bound unto N. V. Eastland Judge of Probate In the Sum of twelve 
Hundred Dollars for payment of whioh well and truly to be made we bind our­
selves jointly and severally,,our heir a, executora and administrators firmly 
by theae presents. Signed with our hands and seals this 27th February 1843. 

The condition of the above obligation ia Such that wereaa the above 
bounden L. V. Oiewell haa been appointed Guardian of the minor heir a of 
John Y. Oiewell deed ,, To wit, Andrew J. and Joseph E. Oiswell— If said 
guardian shall well and truly discharge the duties of guardianship agreeably 
to Law then the above obligation whall be null and void; otherwise to remain 
In full force and virtue. 

Approved Feb. 27, 1843 ) Leroy V. Oiewell (seal) 
N W Eastland ) Lee F. T. Cottle (seal) 
Judge of Probate ) William V. Oiewell (seal) 

I certify the foregoing to be a true copy of the original, Recorded this 
23rd day of Sept. A.D. 1843 

James P. Hudson 
Clerk P C Fayette County 
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CHISWELL FAMILY 
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rRAM3CRI?riCn CF JCH\T Y. CUS.V-.1-. U " D R5CCRD3 - K'XX CC'JMTY. KENTUCKY 

Deed cook : , p . >58 

This Indenture made and entered into this 12th day of March 1?2^ between Dennis 
Burns of the on» part and John Y. Criswell of the other part, both of the County 
of Knox and State of Kentucky. Witnesseth, that in and for the Consideration of 
seven hundred and thirty seven dollars in Commonwealth rank notes in hand paid 
to the said 3urns the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the said Dennis 
3urns hath .ranted, bargained, sold, aliened, and conveyed and by these presents 
doth grant" bargain sell alien and conform unto the said John Y. Criswell all that 
tract or parcel of land lying and being in the County of Knox and of the Hazle (?) 
Fork of Lynn Cam? Creek, and containing one hundred fifty-seven acres be the same 
more or less, and bounded as followeth, towit, Beginning on a double white oak, then. 
due .Vest 1-0 poles to a white oak, thence "orth 130 poles to a hickory i- dcuble 
white oak thence East 160 roles to two white oaks, and black gum, thence South 
150 poles to the beginning. Io have and to hold the said tract or parcel of land, 
to--ether with the appurtenances thereunto be Ion-ring: unto the said John Y. Criswell, 
his heirs and assigns forever, and the said Dennis 3urns for himself, his heirs, 
and assigns doth hereby warrant and **orever defend the said tract or parcel of 
land free from the claim of himself, his heirs, assigns, and all and every persor 
or persons clalnin? by through or under him and it is expressly understood that 
if said land should be lost by .1 prior or better claim the said Burns is to refund 
the said purchase money, an^ it is further understood that the land Burns sells, 
the aforesaid tract or land,* subject to a mortgage which Claiborne ,/. .Vhite is hold-
in ***• on it, which the said Criswell is to pay. In testimony whereof the D. Burns 
hath hereunto set his had and affirned his seal the day and date first written. 

Dennis Burns (Seal) 
Citnesseth: James Love. ..arshall Love. 

[>ed Book C., p. 309 

This Indenture made and entered into this the tenth day of .".ay in the Tear or our 
Lord one thousand ei^ht^.hundred and twenty four between ..iiliam Vannoy of one part 
and John Y. Oiswell Je^ the other part each of the County of Kno* and State of Ken­
tucky, Wltnesseth, that for and in consideration of the sum of ten dollars in hand 
paid, the receipt is whereof acknowledged hath granted, bargained, and sold, and 
by these presents doth -.rant bargain sell , and confirm unto the said John Y. 
Criswell his heirs and assigns forever, a certain tract or parcel of land containi— 
fifty acres by survey, lying and beinc in the county of Knox, on the Hade Fork 
of Lynn Camp Creek, and bounded as follows, towit, beginning at Pin Cak and red ca k 
on the top of a rid=re, thence **?65**'30 poles from the six mile tree on the Barbourvill" 
.̂ oad, thence 3*̂ 5260 poles to a Spanish oak, thence S25W140 poles to a double pin oa.' 
thence V.6^^0 poles to three small poplars, thence to the beginning, with all and 
singular the woods waters profit comm free from the Claims or Claim of all 
and every person claiming in and through .•**>> Tn testimony wereof I have hereuntc set 
my hand and seal this day and date above written. 

•Villiam '/annoy (seal) 
ic?corded by Clerk James F. Jallew ?0 Cay l _?.•'-.) 
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TRA^SCRIPriOM CF JOT* Y. CRIS.VHXL LAN'D K5CC33S - HOX CGH.Y. KSffnCKY 

I>ed Book C , p . 3^4 

This Indenture made and entered into this 10th day of June in the year of our Lord 
l*B2k between Henry Banks of the City of Richmond, Virginia, of the one part, and 
John Y. Criswell of the County of Knox and State of Kentucky of the other part. 
'//itnesseth that for and in consideration of the sum of seventy-five dollars to 
ne in hand paid, the receipt whereunto acknowledged, have bargained and sold, and 
by these presents do bargain, sell, alien, and confirm unto John Y. Criswell 
one certain tract or parcel of land, situated lying and being in Knox County and on 
the Hazle Fork of Lynn Camp Creek, and being a,, part of a 9302 acre Survey Entered 
and Surveyed and patented to John Lewis, con .lining two hundred and fifty acres, 
be the same more of less, and bounded as follows. Beginning at the said '-Tazle 
Fork where the upper line of Lewis1 s Survey crosses said fork-, thence north along 
the original line to where the said line crosses the road leading from Lynn Camp 
to the Salt forks, thence y/estwardly along with said road as far as to where the 
road crosses the first branch of Lynn Camp, and thence Southwardly down said branch 
to where it runs into the Hazle Fork, and thence up said Creek to the Beginning. 
Io have and to hald the said tract or parcel of land with the appurtenances his heirs 
?• assigns forever unto the said John Y. Criswell, I, Henry Banks do warrant and 
forever io fend free from the Claim orCalims of all and every person, in testimony 
whereof I hereunto s^t my hand and seal this day and date written ..hove. 

Henry Hanks (Seal) 
By J. P. Thatcher 

.witnesses: Samuel .CcHargue, James Coody 

Deed Book C, p. 395 

This Indenture made this eighteenth day of October, eighteen hundred and twenty fcur, 
between Andrew Craig and his wife Sophia, of Whitley County Kentucky of the one part 
and John Y. Criswell of Knox County and State aforesaid of the other part, ,Vit-
nesseth that the said Andrew Craig St Sophia his wife, fcr and in consideration of 
the sum of five hundred dollars to thim in hand ••-.aid the receipt whereof before the 
signing and sealing of these presents is hereby acknowledged, hath bargained and 
sol*., and by these presents doth bargain, sell, alien, and confirm unto the said 
John ':. Criswell and his heirs forever, a certain tract or parcel of land, con­
taining six hundred acres situated in Knox County of the waters of little Rich­
land and Coose Creek to include th° fork of the Salt Vorks l state read. Beginning 
at a beech and ash in the h«ad of a hollow on the north line of Lott Mo.l? it being 
the -est north eastwardly corner of a survey executed on a bond from John Logan to 
said A. Craio-, for a title thereto, fror. thence South with the East line of the sar.e 
2-J-O poles to a poplar on the top of a ridge, thence north another line of said Sur­
vey west 122 poles to a Stake on the .Vest line of said Lott, thence south 20 

poles to a Iv on the south line of John Lewis 3-500 acre Survey thence with the 
sare Sast 190 poles to a beech, rr.aple, & sourwood, thence 23283S with a line of 
Pavne's, 210 poles to two beeches, thence East 15? poles to the South east Corner 
of Lott "o.ls thence with the Sast line of the same "Sorth 320 poles to a white oak, 
thence vVest 3°0 poles crossing a branch of Goose Creek and the Salt .Vorks Road to 
the beginning. To have and to hold the said tract of six hundred acres of land 
with all the appurtances to the same belonging or in anywise appertaining to him 
the said John Y. Criswell, his heirs, assigns forever, and they the said Andrew 
Craig and Sophia his wife for themselves, their heirs do covenant with the said 
John Y. Criswell that they will forever warrant and defend the same against them­
selves, their heirs, and all forever claiming by through or under them. In Testi­
mony wereof they have hereunto set their hands and seals, the day and date first 
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Transcr ip t ion of Deed Book C . p . 393. continued 

written. 
Andrew Craig (Seal) 
Sophia Craig (Seal) 

(Recorded 14 December, 182^ by James 3allew, who certifies he explained dower ri?ht< 
to Sophia Craig as required.) 

Abstract of Deed 3ook C , p. -+22, John Y. Criswell land records 

John Y. Criswell and Elijah Harris convey to Thomas Fowler 200 acres of the land 
they jointly own in the John Lewis survey for the sum of twenty dollars, said sun 
paid in hand. 

Signed: John Y. Criswell (seal) 
Elijah Harris (his mark) (seal) 

Sale made 7 December 1.24. 
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r~:-.AXTscRi?_io: CF J C , J \ Yj. ..iis.vELL LA::D RECCSDS - KNGX COUNTY, KSNTJCKY 

De«»d "-cok C, p. ~ p l -

This indenture made and entered into this thirteenth day of July in the year 
of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and twenty four, between Henry 3anks of the 
city of Richmond, Virginia by his agent John P. Thatcher of the first part and John 
Y. Criswell and Elijah Harris of the County of Knox and State of Kentucky of the 
other cart vitnesseth "that for and in consideration of thirty five dollars to re in 
hand paid the receipt is hereunto acknowledged hath bargained and sold, and by these 
presents doth grand, bargain, and deed, alien and confirm one certain tract or 
parcel of land situated lying and being in the County of Knox and being the balance 
unsold of a 930C acre survey entered surveyed and patented unto John Lewis and 
bounded as follows: 

Beginning at a white oak and poplar the north East corner of John Watts Survev 
and on water of Lynn Camp Creek, thence 3̂orth 1200 poles to two white oak thence west 
1200 coles to two red oaks growino- from one rooth thence South 1200 poles to a stak*» 
and red oak, thence East 1200 poles to the becinning. 

Unto the said John Y. Criswell _- Elijah Harris themselves, their heirs J. assigns 
forever, free from myself, my heirs or any person claiming it or through me, and 
them only reserving from or out of said tract or parcel of land the different tracts 
or parcels of land sold by my agent to the different persons as follows, viz, John 
Y. Criswell, 400 acres, Charles Lawrence, 50 acres, Elijah Harris, 150 acres, Spen­
cer Sdrville, 100 acres, Elijah Farris, 100 acres, John Berry, 50 acres, .Villiam 
.-.ullins, 100 acres, William Dewese, 3°C acres, John Horton, 200 acres, Gilbert Far­
ris, 5? acres, James Moody, 250 acres, Samuel McHargue k00 acres, William McHargue, 
300 acres, John Horton, 200 acres, John Edwards, 100 acres, James Gray, 100 acres, 
Dorcas Kidwell, 50 acres, John Arthur, 150 acres, Daniel Duggers 100 acres,,. Zeke 
Fowler S- Levi !_oore, 5^0 acres, Joab Moore, 300 acres, Ephraim Moore, 500 acres, 
Elias Kemper 100 acres, & Benjamin 31akeley 200 acres, all of these tracts or par­
cels of land it is plainly understood is reserved out of the aforesaid 9300 acres 
survey, the balance supposed to be four thousand acres be the same more or less. 
I Henry Banks do warrant and forever defend unto the aforesaid John Y. Criswell and 
Elijah Harris free from me mv heirs and assigns or any person claiming in or through 
ne my heirs and nto the said John Y. Criswell andElijah Harris themselves and 
their heirs forever in and a/ainst the claim or claims of no other person - In testi­
mony whereof I have here unto set my hand and seal the day 1- date first written. 

Henry Banks (Seal) 
By J. P. Ihatcher 

Knox County Ky: I do certify that the forgoing Indenture of bargain and sale to 
John Y. Criswell and Elijah Harris was acknowledged before me on the 13th instant 
by J. ?. Thatcher, attorney in fact for Henry Banks, to be his act and deed for tie 
nurposes therein mentioned - and the said deed truly entered of record in my office, 
jiven und<°r my hand this 26th day of July 182**. 

James F. Ballew, CLK. 
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CRJ.SWELL FAMILY 

TEXAS VETERANS 
IN THE 

MEXICAN WAR 

MUSTER ROLLS 
of TEXAS MILITARY UNITS 

comp i l ed by 

CHARLES D. SPURLIN 

V i c t o r i a Co l l ege 

The muster rolls were created from the Compiled Service Records of 
Volunteer Soldiers who Served During the Mexican War in Organ iza-
t ions from the State of Texas, National Archives Microcopy No. 278. 

REPRODUCED FROM THE 
HOLDINGS OF THE 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

36. MENIFEE, John, 21 
37. MILLS, M. J., 29 (Died at Smith's Station, Texas on July 26, 

1847) 
38. MORRELL, H. R., 19 
39. MORRELL, W. H., 23 
40. NANNEY, Charles, 25 
41. PATTON, A. J., 26 
42. PATTON, John S., 22 
43. PATTON, W. T., 21 
44. PERKINS, E. p., 27 
45. PHIFER, Anderson, 19 
46. PHILPOT, H. V., 19 
47. PILAND, J. B., 23 
48. PRICE, Meredith, 19 
49. PRIOR, P. W., 40 
50. RIDGELL, D. P., 19 
51. ROBERTSON, Shawnee, 30 
52. RUTHERFORD, R., 27 
53. SEVERE, Charles, 28 
54. SHAW, Jim, 39 
55. SMITH, Jesse, 19 
56. STEPHENSON, S. R., 38 
57. STERRETT, James, 19 
58. STOKES, William J., 22 
59. THRASHER, James, 35 
60. TOWNSEND, Thomas, 21 
61. WALKER, Gideon, 22 
62. WEBB, T. H., 22 
63. WELCHE, John, 19 
64. WEST, W. B., 24 
65. WILSON, W. B. , 24 
66. WOODS, Cary, 23 
67. YOUNG, William, 20 

INDEPENDENT COMPANIES 

P. Hansbrough BELL'S Company, Texas Mounted Volunteers (Corpus 
Christi Rangers)—Composed of personnel recruited primarily 
at Corpus Christi, Texas. Mustered into federal service on 
September 10, 1845. Reorganized on March 10, 1846. Mustered 
out of federal service on July 6, 1846. 

ORIGINAL OFFICERS 

P. Hansbrough BELL, Captain 
Mabry B. GRAY, First Lieutenant 
Dewitt C. LYONS, Second Lieutenant 

ORIGINAL NON-COMMISSIONED OFFICER 

John T. WHITE, First Sergeant 

jpp RSPP.QCUC.O FROM THE 
HOLDINGS OF THE 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

PRIVATES 

1. 
2. 
3. 
4. 
5. 
6. 
7. 
8. 
9. 

10. 
11. 
12. 
13. 
14, 
15. 
16. 

17. 
18. 
19. 
20. 
21. 
22. 
23, 
24. 
25, 
26. 
27. 
28. 
29. 
30. 
31, 
32. 
33. 
34. 
35. 
36. 
37. 
38. 
39, 
40, 
41, 

42, 
43, 
44 
45 
46 
47 
48 
49 
50 

AARON, James H. 
ADAMS, William 
ALLEN, Daniel 
ALLEN, Hiram A. (Discharged on March 10, 1846; 
BERRY, Alfred 
BLAIR, Alonzo (Discharged on March 10, 1846) 
BLAIR, James Francis (Discharged on March 10, 
BRADLY, Charles (BRADLEY; discharged on March 

1846) 
10, 1846 
1846) 

(CLEVELAND, S. C ; discharged on March 10, 

BRADLY, John (BRADLEY; discharged on March 10, 
BRANNUM, John (BRANNAN) 
BROOKFIELD, Edward 
BROWN, Edwin K. 
CALAHAN, John (CALLAHAN) 
CASTLEMAN, Jacob 
CASTLEMAN, John 
CLEAVELAND, Soloman 

1846) 
CRISWELL, Jackson 
CRISWELL, John Y. 
CRISWELL, Joseph E. 
DIVIER, Dennis 
DOUGHTY, Daniel 
DOWNING, William J. 
EWERS, Albert 
FADDIN, Patrick 
FERREL, William 
FIFER, Jacob (Discharged on March 10, 1846) 
FRIAR, Alfred L. (Discharged on March 10, 1846 
HALL, Henry (Discharged on March 10, 1846) 
HART, H. A'. 
HELY, Michael (Discharged on March 10, 1846) 
HICKMAN, William 
HOLSTER, James 
HOWARD, James (Discharged on March 
HUMPHREYS, Jacob J. (HUMPHRYS) 
JAMES, John 
JORDAN, William 
LOOK!:, Austin D. 
MANNING, J. M. 
MARRS, James (Discharged on March 
McGLOIN, John 
McPETERS, John (Discharged on March 10, 1846; rejoined company 

on April 1, 1846) 
McPETERS, Thomas 
MILICAN, William L. 
MILLER, Henry 
MILLS, John E. 
MILLS, Lawson F. 
MURPHY, Thomas 
OMEARA, John (O' 
OSBORN, William 
PAUL, Philip C. 

10, 1846) 

10, 1846) 

MEARY) 
S.(OSBORNE) 
(Promoted first sergeant 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

25. HUDSON, G. H. 
26. I RONES, William 
27. JETT, William (Substitute for James DUNN) 
28. JOHNSTON, John 
29. JONES, Elisha 
30. LAUGHLIN, William (LOUGHLIN) 
31. LAYMAN, John (LAMON) 
32. LUCHINGER," Jacob (LUCKSING) 
33. LYCET, J. 
34. LYONS, Thomas 
35. MALLON, Nathaniel R. 
36. MARTINEZ, Graviel 
37. MCDERMOTT, M. K. (M., M. R.) 
38. McKAY, Francis 
39. MOORE, John 
40. NELSON, G. H. 
41. NICHOLSON, Andrew J. 
42. OURY, William (OUREY; acquired William BRUSH as substitute on 

March 29, 1846) 
43. POWELL, 0. C. 
44. REDDISH, James 
45. ROBERTS, James 
'46. SPAIN, Francis G. (SPANE) 
47. SPENCE, James H. 
48. STEPHENS, Washington (STEVENS, STEVINS) 
49. STOUTENBURG, J. (STOUTENBRUGH) 
50. WILLIAMS, Joseph 
51. WOOLFOLK, R. S. (WOOLFORK, Robert L.) 
52. YOUNGBLOOD, James 

Mabry B. GRAY'S Company, Texas Mounted Volunteers—Composed of 
personnel recruited primarily at Matamoros, Mexico. Mustered 
into federal service on July 21, 1846. Mustered out of 
federal service on July 17, 1847. 

ORIGINAL OFFICERS 

Mabry B. GRAY, Captain, 28 
Dewitt C. LYONS, First Lieutenant, 26 
John C. CASTLEMAN, Second Lieutenant, 26 

ORIGINAL NON-COMMISSIONED OFFICERS 

William B. SAYRES, First Sergeant, 22 (SAYRE) 
Jackson PAGE, Second Sergeant, 24? 
William CARDWELL, Third Sergeant, 26 
James FOWLER, Fourth Sergeant, 26 
Edward FITZGERALD, First Corporal, 30 
Thomas BOATWRIGHT, Second Corporal, 23 
Michael McMAHON, Third Corporal, 33 
George W. PETIGRU, Fourth Corporal, 19 (PETEGUE, PETTIGUE) 
John ST. LUKE, First Bugler, 22 

m § ?.i?ZZ~' CSQ FROM THE 
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C R I S W E L L F A M I L Y 

PRIVATES 

1. AARON, J. H., 27 (ARON) 
2. ADAMS, William (Discharged for ? on August 3, 1846) 
3. BARTLET, James, 23 
4. BARTON, John, 32 
5. BEARDS-LIE, Lewis (BEARDSLEY; discharged for ? on August 3, 

1846) 
6. BELL, P. Hansbrough, 30 
7. BLACKBURN, Charles, 35 (BLACKWELL) 
8. BOATWRIGHT, Lewis, 40 
9. BRADLEY, John, 24 

10. BRADLEY, Michael, 22 
11. BRANNON, John, 2 3 
12. BROOKS, Augustus (Died at Corpus Christi, Texas on February 

3, 1847) 
13. CLARK, William, 24 (CLARKE) 
14. CRISWELL, John, 28 (CRISWELL) 
15. CRISWELL, John T., 22 (John Y.) 
16. CROWNOVER, Chelrev, 21 (Chesley) 
17. CUMMINGS, Joseph, 21 
18. CUMMINGS, Washington, 19 
19. CUMMINGS, Wiley C. (Died at the Guadalupe River on February 

10, 1847) 
20. DIAL, William (DOYLE; discharged for ? on August 3, 1846) 
21. DOANE, James A., 31 (DOAN) 
22. DOLAN, Joseph II. , 27 (DOLAND) 
23. DOUGHTY, Daniel, 24 
24. DUGAN, Mathew, 2 4 (Michael) 
25. DWYER, Dennis, 23 (DWYRE) 
26. DWYER, Timothy, 21 
27. FRAME, William, 21 
28. GUTHERE, William A., 25 
29. HALE, Henry, 30 (.HALL) 
30. HARDY, Edward (Discharged for ? on August 3, 1846) 
31. HART, Henrv A. (Died at Camarqo, Mexico on May 1, 1847) 
32. HART, Timothy, 20 
33. HERRALD, Leander, 24 (HEROLD) 
34. HICKMAN, William, 19 
35. HODAL, Jacob, 30 (HUDLE) 
36. HOLBIN, Rubin, 22 
37. HORD, Edward R., 21 (HOARD) 
38. LEACH, Admiral W., 28 
39. LOOK, Austin D., 22 
40. MARRS, James, 30 
41. MARSHALL, Jesse D., 23 
42. McGLOWEN, John, 21 (McGLOWAN) 
43. McPETERS, George, 18 
44. McPETERS, John, 19 
45. McPETERS, Thomas, 40 
46. MILLER, Henry (Discharged for ? on August 3, 1846) 
47. MILLIGAN, Little (Died at Corpus Christi, Texas on November 

30, 1846) 
48. MIMMS, Jefferson (Died at Monterey, Mexico on April 1, 1847) 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

_b. BeirsCo.Mtd.Vols. T o x m . j 

. ^W\iQ!U^A 

..-__f_X----, Capt Bell's Co.,Texas Mounted Vols. 

Age yews. 

Appears on Co. Muater-o ut Boll , dated 

Mints, out te date - , 184 

Lait paid to ., 184 . 
' ' •• • = = = = = , = = _ _ _ _ ; • 

C-otlting aooomit: 

Last settled ,184 ; drawn since $ 150 

Due eoldier $ ISO; due U. S. $ 130 

Am't for cloth^ in kind or money adv'd $ 100 

Due U. S. for arms, equipments, <&c., | 100 

Bounty paid, $ 130; due, $ — H » . 

Valuation of horse, $ 150 

Valuation of horee equipment., % J30 

i W $ W V V ! . i _ _ _ V _ ^ ^ 
This company WM oricinally mattered in to serve 3 months from 

September 10. 1845. On expiration of service it WM continued in 
•err ice for 3 month* by order of Gen. Taylor, those men who wished 
to do so foinc home. This wts repeated on expiration of second 
service. Jane 10. Ig46 (expiration of third service), the company 
WM not mattered out owing to the '* circumstances of the service." 
Those who desired it were dismissed, a&d the rest mastered out on 
renc_u__ MaUunorw. 

Rook mark _-

4c*4k 
(861) Cnpytit. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

Bell's Go. Texas Mtd. Vol 
(Mexican War . ) 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

lo Delft Co. Mtd. Vols. | T o x - a i 

~---\K^Mil 
D " Z 

_ 1 D Bell's Co. Mid. Vols. I T e x xas. 

.J jV_VL-, Capt Bell's Co., Texas Mounted Vols. 
(H-_e._c.l©_a___ * W » r _ 

. Ve^_V 
Age years. 
Appears on Co. Muster-out Roll, dated 

Muster-out to date \ n J^Uf . . » 184^ . 

Last paid to __L^_3____, 184 . 

Clothing acooant: 

Last settled , 184 ; drawn since $ 130 

Due soldier $ 136; due IT. S. $ 130 

Am't for clotb'g in kind or money adv'd $ 138 
•e^_______m_______^——- .-. _. -. T — : ' : = - _ • J _ ' . - * * r •-•• i := -.::=__5:--_____-^__W»--__i_>w-_—i 

Due U. S. for arms, equipments, Ac., $ I3D 

Bounty paid, $ .136; due, $. 130. 

Valuation oi horse, $ 133 

Valuation of horse equipments, $ 136 

R e i w k s m k t 
^_t_a^__U.. 

\ 

This company was originally mastered in to serve 3 months from 
September 10. 184-5. On expiration of service it WM continued in 
service for 3 months by order of Gen. Taylor, those men who wished 
to do so going home- This WM repeeted on expiration of second 
service. June 10. 1846 (expiration of third service), the company 
was not mustered out owing to the " eirenmstances of the service. 
Those who desired it were dismissed, and the rest mastered oat on 
reaching Maumorae. 

Book mark _. 

(361) .iVooiA--— 

.. ..^tiL^U)3^^ 
..Ll'xM---, Capt. Bell's Co., Texas Mounted Vols. 

Appvars on 

Company Muster- in So i l 

of the organization named above. Roll dated 

}(l_J_^k^^,- .LU*|...., \BiS. 
Muster-in to date .jilVV-.lC., 184^ . 

Joined for doty and enrolled: 

When .J_u|&_tS , IH$ • 

Where U & ^ - £ W * W 
PeriodsWi\W^-- yesro. 

Bounty paid $ 150; due I- ioo 

Valuation of horse, $ .—X36 

Valuation of horse equipments, $ 136 

Remarks: _ 

->;^-r^-L-^-f iv-€--^^r:*ei i": 

This company wss originally mastered in to serve 3 month, from 
September 10. 1*45. On expiration of service it was continued in 
service for 3 month* by order of Geo. Taylor, those men who wished 
to do so going home. This wss repeated on expiration of second 
service. June 10. 1.46 (expiration of third service), the company 
was not mustered out owing to the "circumstance! of the service. ' 
Those who desired it were dismissed, and the rest mustered out on 
reacninc Maumoras. 

Book mark: 

dpfiat. (356) 
AU.. 

Ctli'l/i't. 

E-21 



CRISWELL FAMILY 

Bell's Co. Texas MM Vols. 
(Mexican War . ) 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

o U468311 £ 

W w ^ ^ b w ^ 1 ^ 

b Bell's Co. Mtd. Vols. T e x a s . 

5WLL^JIUV&^. 
_.\J*X , Capt. Bell's Co.,Texas Mounted Vols. 

Age *.!"5!5f? years. 
Appears on 

Company Muster-in Rol l 
of the organization named above. Roll dated 

__U___^_______.VV> -f i tV^. . , i«_5. 
S*k.\ 1845. Muster-in to date 

Joined for doty and enrolled: 

When ___ .5UV_A. -, L-S4a/ . 

Where \ S J ^ ^ ^ % ^ ^ - -

Yeno&ysyrrffabynetn. 

Bounty paid $ loo; due $ lob 

Valuation of horse, $ .loo 

Valuation of horse equipments, $ loo 

Remarks: _ 

->/ Zxi^Z^-nA-H^'ZEB-Q'f-
Tbis company WM originally mustered in to serve 3 months from 

September 10. IMS. On expiration of service it was continued in 
service for 3 months by order of Gen. Taylor, those men who wished 
to do so goiDg borne. Tbis was repeated on expiration of second 
service. Jane 10. 1346 (expiration of third service), the company 
war not muttered out owing to the "circumstances of the eernce. ' 
Those who desired it were dismissed, and the rest mastered out on 
reaching Maumoras. 

Book mark: 

.-kl_A/>. 
(S3«) Cpyft . 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

i_ Bell's Co. Mtd. Vols. T e x a s . 

_ * _ _ _ 

!__{__£_£_, <3_pt. Bell's Co., Texas Mounted Vols. 
i ( M e x l o m x - TH7" a_r_) 

Age years. 

Appears on Co. Muster -out Bo l l , dated 

1 & t \ t i ^ ^ 184^ . 

Mustet-ou.todato" A . . . ± , 184 . 

Last paid to ., 184 . 

(nothing aooonnt: -r 

Lastsettled ,184 ; drawn since%. 150 

Due soldier $ 156; due U. S. $ 136 

Ara't for cloth's: in kind or money advM $ 156 

Due U. S. for arms, equipments, Ac., % 166 

Bounty paid, $ *56; due, $ 166. 

Valuation of horse, $ 156 

Valuation _>_ horse equipments, % 156 

^ S e m a r k a t i ^ t ^ 

\ _ _ _ - v t A f e ^ 

This company waa originally mastered in to serve 3 months from 
September 10. 18.5. OB expiration of service it was continued in 
service for 3 months by order of Gen. Taylor, those men who wished 
to do so (ping home. This was repeated on expiration of second 
service. Jane 10. 1846 (expiration of third service), the company 
was not mastered oat owing to the " circumstances of the service. 
Those who desired it were dismissed, and the rest mastered out on 
reaching Mauunorea. 

Book mark __ 

-JCttiO-....-
(SSl) Copyist. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

CMSWEU. MAUXAeiS-̂ FAfBTIB COURTT, TEXAS 

Thla U t t lncludaa every marriage ef the CrlaweU Family who married ID 
Fayatta County, Teres, beginning in 1838* (Oriflnal apelling used) 

Candaca Crlawell 4 Laa to T. Cottle en Jane 29, 1838* (Daughter ot John Y. Crlawell, M 
Mary Jane CrlaweU 4 Vllllaa. Redden en Sept. 16, 1838s ( " » » « » 
Laroy v. Criswell 4 Bll ie HcMickan on Feb. 24, 1842* (Sen ol John t . Crlawell, Sr.) 
tfta. V, Crlawell 4 Mary E. McMicken on Ott. 12, 1844. ( " » « " » ») 
Andrew Jeekeon Crlawell 4 Sereh Triable en May 20, 1847.( a a a •» «.) 
John Y. Crlawell & Mary R. o* Daniel on Dec* 2, 1847 (Sen » • • » «) 
Joaeph B. Crlawell A Sarah Aim MeNleken on 6*1-1848, | » » « » » «) 
Jemee Renry Crlawell & Cery Harkine en Oct. 20, 1836. ( • n » " » ") 
Eliaa Jane Crlawell 4 ffta* J* Boykin on Sept. 30, 1838* (Daughter of Leroy Crlawell) 
Mary 8. Crlawell & BenJ. « . Cery en Maroh 13, I860. ( " " • " ) 
Blliebeth J . Crlawell A John C. Jones on New. 7, 1863. ( » • Wta. V. Crlawail) 
Martha Crlawell 4 Jaraaa Jeekeon on June 24, 1866. * —4- • " W^.A/rCrlawell) 
Sarah E. Crlawell 4 W. R. 8. Lee en Jen* 8, 1867. (Daughter of w*_. V. Crlawail) 
Hartha F. Crlawell 4 R. P. Kirk on Mey 30, 1867. (Daughter of John t . Crlawail, J« 
Saphronla CrlaweU 4 Jaaper R. Croaa on Aug. 13, 1867. (Daughter of Joe Criswell)-Jeuaj 
J . F. CrlaweU 4 Margaret Jeekeon on Feb* 3, 1868* (Son of Leroy Crlawail) 
Mary A. Crlawell 4 J . v . Lyona on June 2, 1870. (Daughter of fta. V. CrlaweU) 
Mary B. Crlawell 4 Jaaee to Ayers en Jem 18, 1871. (Daughter of John Y. Crlawell, Jr 
John H. Crlawell 4 Le t t l t i e l a J . Jones on Sept. 2, 1873. (Son of toa. V. Criswell) 
L i l l i e M. CrlaweU 4 John F» Vaddell en Oct. 4, 1673. (Daughter of fta. V. Crlawell) 
Anderson CrlaweU 4 Suaan M Sullivan en Dee. 2, 1873. (Sen of Joe CrlaweU) 
Lucy A. CrlaweU 4 w. R. Campbell en Dae. 2, 1673* (Daughter of Jehn Y. CrlaweU, Jr.) 
Jamea Y. CrlaweU 4 Ardelle Burk en Feb* I , 1876* (Sen of Win. V. Criswell) 
Mary Ann Crlawell 4 C. A. Ivy on Dee. 27, 1876. (Daughter of Jeaea CrlaweU) 
J . B. Crlawell 4 G_ V. Iaard en Row. 8, 1877s (This could be Leroy'a daughter)-w 
Thomaa J* Crlawell 4 Frances As McCoimic on Feb. 20, 1878. (Step-son of Jim Crlawail) 
D. R. CrlaweU 4 Belle Soereet en April 14, 1881. (Son of Leroy Criswell) 
Martha J . CrlaweU 4 M. B« Sadler en Sept. 13, 1882. (Daughter of Joe CrlaweU)•***-** 
Amanda M. CrlaweU 4 Samuel E. Powell on Sept. 14, 1882* (Daughter of Joe Criswell) 
Mra. Franeea A. Crlawell 4 A* M. Karnea en New. 13, 1882* (Divorced wife of. T.J.Ciin 
Enma Crlawell 4 A. D« Karnea en July 3 1 , 1883. (Daughter ef J l a ) 
Joel S. Crlawell 4 Mary Riekel on April 19, 1893. (Sen ef Johy Y. CrlaweU, J r . ) 
Ide Crlawell 4 M. B. Jones on Dee* 1, 1897. (Daughter ef Jehn Y., ton of Wa. V. Crli* 
L. Mey Crlawell 4 8. D. Bell on Oct. 26, 1898. (Daughter of John Y., ton of Ma. V. Cri 
Bern ice C r i s w e l l & Wesley B. Jones on Nov. 7 , 1 9 0 0 . ( D t r . of John Y. , son 
M i t t i e B. C r i s w e l l t o 0.H.Davidson on Dece 30 , 1903( " " " " " 
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TRA^SCRIPTICS OF LErtOY VANNCY C3I5WSLL .vTLL. ZS11A2Z RECORDS 

.-.ill 3ook G, p . 6 9 : 

State of Texas ) To the Honorable County Court of Fayette County, Having been 
County of Fayette) solicited by the Relatives of Leroy Criswell to take charge 

of the Estate. I hereby make application for letters of ad­
ministration on the estate of Leroy V. Criswell fc wife deceased at the Mext Term 
of Said Court this the 29th day of June A. D. 1866. 

A. B. Kerr 

..ill 3ook G. p. 69: 

The State of Texas) 
County of Fayette ) 
In the Same of God Anen. Know all men I make this my last /.ill _• Testar.ent, revok­
ing all others heretofore made by ne. First after death that My Sole ret'irn to Co.-
who -jives it. 2nd That all my Just debts be paid, that the Court appoint thr-**e men 
to make out a inventory of all my property, return it to the County Clerk and he to 
reccrd it, then the Court to have no more to do with it. It is my wish for the fam­
ily to remain on the place that I live upon or so lon.-*' as my //iff? remains a *»'ido*.-. 
In Case of her marriafre the Second time, the She to pay rent for the plac1 to **-/ 
heirs or their Guardians or Attorneys _t that to pay the debts ae-ainst me if an7 that 
Such of the property as can be best done without, be Sold to pay them, ir.it it is 
nv ernist desire that my Children all have a Education that they can do their own 
business. I will and bequeath all of my croperty to my Children to be divided equil. 
to all Share and Share alike without any partiality, in the land, the Ms-roes, the 
cattle, horses I* tenements _• every thin?* named and unnamed known as property that 
belongs to me now or hereafter. I -zive to my .'ife Elizabeth A. Criswell all that 
the law allows her at the time of Cur 'Carriage and no more that is the Community 
property Strictly to the law that at the time of the .".arria-e between us. I have 
the following property: one-eighth of a League i'.y father's head rite. Five hundred 
acres out of A. Karnes League, my head rite on? third of a League, 1-4-76 acres, the 
place on whcih I lived when the Marriage took place. The five hundred acr°s I 
sold and bought the place where I now live with the proceeds of the one-eighth I 
sold for stock and other articles for Family use. _he one-third of a League I 
sild and bought a Ve-To woman and from some dissatisfaction I sold her and with the 
•roceeds of her I bought the one I now own, Malinaa. All of the above property 
I claim as not being* community property, and it is my wish that my children hav<*> it 
as above named, that my .vife have "one of it at all. This is my wish fcr her hich 
-e.'ard felt and acted and exprest on many occasions. In testimony whereof I appoint 
iiliam 3. .-.'ebb my attorney to carry out the intent of this will. I appoint ..'. Z. 
•C_:>h and :i. !*'enefree Executors to the fore-*oir.- •.•il.!, and I have subscribed my name 
:his the 5th day of August A.D. 1*362. Interlined before signed. 

Lero*.' V. Criswell 
witnesses: 
<.'icob Castleman; Janes demons 

X X 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

mvSHTCRY OP THE ESTATE OP 
WILLIAM VANNOY CRISWELL 

According t o Payette County Court records (statement of Mary Criswell , widow) 
the following In an inventory of t he proper ty of VfUliaa Vannoy O i e w e l l , 
who died i n t e a t a t e on January 19. 1838. 

Inventory and appraisement f i l e d 22nd Maroh 1858 of the common proper ty of 
Vta. Criswell deed end Mary h i e surviving wi fe . • 

2 Bey horses $200. 1 old mare $35. $235*00 
1 - k year old mare $66. 1 - 2 year old mare $40. 106.00 
1 - 1 year old c o l t 30. 1 yoke oxen $50. 80.00 
1 c a r t $5 . i - 2 horse wagon $65* 70.00 
50 heed of Ce t t l e $6 . 30 heed hoge $ 1 . 330.00 
1 Negro man $900.00. 1 Negro g i r l $200.00. 1100.00 
250 acres land $7 . 300 acres lend $4.00 2950.00 
300 acres lend • 30$). 200 acres land t 5ty* 250.00 
Cash $88.50. 300 I b a . cotton 9#. 115*50 
Household fu rn i tu re 4 Perming t o o l s 50.00 

To te l $5,536.50 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRANSCRIPTIONS OP LETTERS TO/lROM THOMAS MENUSE CRISWELL - VARIOUS CCRESPONtENTS 
1V-flf lfrnP^e Criswell. b. Nov. 5e 185/V. Payette County, Texas. Never married, 
died April 12. 1886. Buried Milam County, Texaa. 

Dodge City KS 
Jan 24th 1881 

Dear brother I will write you e few _4nes to let you know where I aa. aa 
well freeent 4 hope this may find you enjoying the same good health. 
Dave I received e letter from you on lest Christmas day, 4 I answered it 
In e few day efterworde but have not roe. any answer 4 I write this thinking 
Probly my letter never reached you. 
I have no news to write it has ben a terrible herd winter up here the worst 
ever known In Kansas. Every thing hue ben Arose up since about the fir at of 
November but atock ia doing very well eo far. Dal got back to the ranch 
yesterday he brought hie wife with him. aoat of the boys that waa on this 
ranch when you waa here ia still here now Brown, John George 4 Wash Lankins 
the letter started for Bryan Texaa four days ago to return the firat of 
March. 
J o a a Driaklll ie here also. Dave the fellow called Concho that worked here 
when you did killed Henry Heck, the nan that kept the Mulbury ranch about 
an old blister end haa ben convicted of murder in the second degree but 
sentence haa not ben passed or him yet. The generl opinion ie that he will 
go up for about twelve yecre Dave you asked me in your letter if I knew Tolbert 
Driskills POaddress it ie_.Colenan City, Coleman County Texae he ie working 
down there for old Bill Day he brought two herds up for him last year. 
Dave write as soon aa you'get this 4 tell ae how you ere getting a long 4 
give ae ell the news I would like to come back 4 see ell the folks once 
more but I have not been anywhere in ao long I dont feel like going at al So 
I will close for the Present hopeing to hear from you soon I remain as 
ever your brother 

T. M. Criswell 
Direct to J. W. Driskill 

Dodge City K.S. Feb 21 1881 
Mr. D. R. Criswell, Schulenburg Texas 

Deer brother I received your letter a few deys since, was glad to hear from 
you, & to know you was well. I have no news to write the weather is nice 
end warm just now the first pleasant weather we have had since the tenth 
of November, 1880. On the 5th of this month we hed the worst snow storm I 
ever seen, it lasted about ten days if we have another such storm as it 
were cattle will die hare by the thousands, they ere dicing now in the 
western part of this state & in Colorado also. A few is dicing here 
me & Dal Joes 4 SOB french skined nine to day. the railraoad cars is 
killing an average of 25 heed pr. day out west of Dodge they are cattle 
that has drifted from the Stocky river end Piatt river it is reported that 
there is fifteen thousand head lodged on the arkaneas river above Dodge City 
thirty men has come to Dodge to cross them on to the south side of the 
Arkansas river if they succeed I guess they will clean up this range before 
spring there has ben lots of men t r o w to death in this country this 
winter eoae has had their face frost bitten until it would peal off like 
e scald. Their ia fifteen nan in the hospital at Port Elliott waiting 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

to have their feet amputated caused iron being frose. eoa_a looses one foot 
A some looaea both.—I have just got over the mumps I come out from Dodge on 
the 13th a the Mumpa went down on ae. I was In a bad fix for about a 
week but I think I aa over them now all the damage they have done me except 
to make ae suffer a good deal is to coat aa one hundred dollars $100.00 
Dave I aa glad you are going to get married every young man I think ought to 
nary before he gets too old I wish I had of aarried five years ago, but as 
it is I donft know whether I will ever marry or not. Probly some day I 
will, but not soon to who when or where aboute I have no more idea than en 
unborn b a b y - — ao hoping to hear from you soon I will close aa ever 
your brother T. M. Crlawell 

Camp Supply I. T. 
July 31et 1881 

Dear brother aa I have just finished a long letter to ay girl I will en­
deavor to drop you a few lines in answer to yours recd to day before I 
retire, no news that I know of but the world could half burn up ft I 
would not know it down here where I ea it has ben raining for everl days 
A grass is better that ever eeen lt in my country A cettle is fat A getting 
fatter I got a letter from Jim Sknodgress the other day he said Lee come up 
the trail this spring but I have not heard anything about him arriving yet 
you asked about how was corn crops in Kansas I dont know any thing about 
what ia going on in the forming pert of KS for I have not seen a paper 
thate went to press since the President wee shot 4 some tine before that 
I am just three months behind the times 
Dave ie your wife a sister to Bud Secrest or a daughter of Frank Secrest. 
I dont know which one of the girls you got tell Lillie I aa patiently 
waiting for her to answer my letter Dave you said Driskill must have 
•40,000,or 50,000 head of cattle They have got about 30,000 head besides 
this year's calves they still own or ranch in Dakota 4 two ranches in KS 
A one in the territory bud told me the other day that he would not take 
$23*50 per head for theae cattle in the nation they keep up three different 
brenda therea .... ̂  _h_. . jr —._ 

Cal A Evans keeps up two brenda thus ._.. 

Jess brenda thus J f c < R / Z h 

So I will close for the present hopeing to hear from you soon I remain 
as ever your brother 

T. M. Criswell 
Camp Supply 
I. T. 

{Transcriber's notes: T. M. Criswell was an operations manager for the 
Driskill Land and Cattle Company. David Robert, Milam, and Lee, three of 
the other brothers are also known to have driven cattle for the Driakills. 
the I.T. ref. above = Indian Territory, nation m Indian Nation. The 
President who was shot is a reference to James Garfield, who was shot on 
July 2, 1881, and later died on Sept. 19. 1881. 
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TR_-N_K_aiprioH OF TM M a t t \ tTTP? 

Weight, Beverly A Co. 
Dealers in 

General Merchandise 
Dodge City 
April 6th 1881 

D. R. Criswell 
Deer brother I received your letter to day was glad to hear from you A em 
glad to know you are married end eettled down. I have no news to write 
there is better prospects for grass this year than waa ever known in this 
country at the time of year roundup began on the first 30 alias below 
Driskill ranch on the Cimmaron I loft the round up party yestredey morn­
ing on Snake Creek I en in Dodge City at Present waiting for some fine bulla 
to arrive from Kansas City Mo to take then to the ranch Dave I would like to 
have a picture of yourself and wife you must send ae one soon I would send 
you one enclosed in this but there is no artist at Dodge City when I have en 
opportunity to have eoae taken I will Send you one I will eend you the 
Ford County Globe a paper printed at Dodge City ao hopeing to hear firos 
you soon I will close aa ever your brother 

T M Criswell 

Ft. Supply I. T. 
July 10th 1881 

D. R. Criswell 
Dear brother I received your letter to day was glad to hear from you I have 
no news to write times is quiet A cattle is fattening fast I aa in the Indian 
Territory on the Canadian river A have ben for two months Driskill bought 
out Lee A Reynolds last winter end is holding on their old range I an camped 
26 miles below Supply. Driskill bought out the %/ cattle owned by John fraser 
Deceased there is seven thousand head of them 
Dave how long haa Milam ben down in Fayette co A how come him to leave Bill 
& Sues (?) A does he know how to read A write well. I thought he was still 
with Bill you had better persuade him not to go to where Lee is yet he ie too 
young to start out yet try A keep him from going tell him I will give him a 
nice euit of clothes if he will not go A stay wher he is have you heard from 
Lee lately A what is he doing So hopeing this may find you A wife well I will 
cloee as ever your brother. T.M.C. 
Direct to Ft. Supply Indian Territory 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRAMSQ-IPriONS OP T.M.CRISWEIX UTTERS CQWTIWED 

Camp Supply I.T. 
Aug. 25. 81 

Deer Brother I rood your letter the other day waa glad to hear from you I 
have no news to write lt is very worn here during the day, but the 
nights is getting cool there is no news in these ports that I have heard of. 
Bud Driskill sold these cattle the other day for $22.50 A ae A L A Brown 
will start up to the Cimarron ranch day after tomorrow the reet of the boys 
that was working for him here ia going to work for the nan that bought the 
cattle I have not eeen Jeee nor Del in three months Wash Lankine John 
George A Brown hae ell bought eoae cattle this year they all bought heifers 
yearlings et $12.00 per head A Wash bought 210 John 100 Brown 80 head they 
ere going to put then in with Bud after frost I heard of Ton Jackson passing 
up the trail this spring but didt see him I got a letter from Bill the other 
day he said Milam waa back at hie house A waa going to echool this fall 
ao hopeing to hear from you soon I will close your brother 

T M Criswell 
PS. Direct to Deep Hole. Clerk P0, Kane, thata the new P0 where the Trail 
crosses the Cimarron 

Deep Hole Kans 
Oct 3 1881 

D. R. Criswell 
Dear Brother 
I recd your letter the other day. I waa glad to hear from you. I have no 
news to write things ia getting quiet now A will be mere eo soon for we will 
ell soon go in our winter quarters to crawl out again next April. The outfit 
is gone to t___tt_ n o w *lth 1000 beeves to ship when they get back we will 
bound up andbrand and make a small shipment A then the circus is over until 
next spring 
it is terrible lonesome here after the work ie all over and every body in 
winter camps. Bud Driskill has sold his intrest in this Ranch to the old 
man Y I for one hundred end seven thousand dollars and has bought the Ranch 
in Dakota you aaked how long I expected to stay in this country or whether 
I expected to make this my hoae or not I expect to make this country or some 
country north of here ay hoae for years or until I make a stake I never 
intend to go any where or let up trying until I get a good stake if I never 
get it I will be found en old man a Trying. I have had no opportunity 
to have any Photographs taken I believe ther is en artist in Dodge now A 
when I go there again I will have some taken A send you one. About Tolbert 
Driskill I dont know where he ia now he is not working for Bill Day any 
more after he left Day this last spring at Colenen City Tex he went to 
Coleman City ao I heard A went to Drinking whiskey A gambling A waa there 
the last I beared of him he has ben going down hill A loosing foot holt 
for two years I will find out where he is if I can end let you know so I 
will close for the Present hopeing to hear from you soon I remain as ever 
your Brother 

T M Criswell 
Deep Hole Kans 
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TRANSCRIPTION OP T. M. CRISWELL LBTTBtS CONTINUED 

Deep Hole Kansas May -4 1882 
D R C&ISWELL 

I will atart down in the nation 
a hundred miles south east of ho_po/in 
the aomin^on_a r m hunt — Daar Brother 

your postal Several days since but waa with the roundup end have 
not had tine hardly to eat until to night. I got a letter from Lee at the 
time I received your postal he ie up end will be able to go to work in e 
few days, the Scrape wee ell about nothing it waa caused from Lee being 
Drinking and another Party aging him on, A it was a lad of a boy 18 or 20 
yeare old that cut Lee the out was just inside the left thigh about throe 
inches below the groin A wee six inches long, it wee the worst looking 
Place I ever eeen in my life. When I was down there end they Said it wee 
well then to what it had ben 
Lee has been with the rong crowd of boys down in that oountry boys that 
would work a while A then go end Spree their money away I think if I 
can get him up here with ae he will do better aa there is none of the boys 
here that Drinks and rowdya around Lee hed no money nor horae or Saddle when 
he got into the fuaa he got sixty dollars about three or four days after 
lt had happened that I had eent him to come up here on. by rail the whole 
thing cost ae just even three hundred dollars but I dont mind it more then 
if it had only cost ae five cents if Lee will do better end try to do eoae 
thing for himself end not spend all hie money as fast as he Bakes lt I 
would of wrote you about it sooner but I was waiting for you to answer ay 
last letter when I would of wrote you all about lt I have ben very busy 
since I got back gathering horses end getting ready for roundups write scon 
as ever you Bro T M Criswell 

Buffalo Kans July 8 1882 
D R Crlawell 

Deer Brother 
I will drop you a few lines this evening as this the first chance I have 
had since roundup began I aa now ona hundred A fifty miles north of the 
ranch on ay way to Dakota with a herd of four thousand yearlings for J.L. 
Driskill A son. I an going to take charge of their new ranch up there at 
$75 per month this year and a hundred dollars per month next year if they 
put more cattle on their ranch 
I would of wrote sooner but I actually have not hed time Dave if you will 
find out how much money it will take to rail in mothers A fathers A 
brother Lerkins graves A write to me I will pay for it all my self. I 
feel ashamed for ay part that lt haa not been done long ago. so I will 
close for the Present ae ever your Brother 

T M Criswell 
P S Direct to Spearfieh P0 Dakota Territory 

Little Moiasouri river 
Montana territory 

Sept 20 1882 
Deer Brother 

I received your letter to day A waa glad to heer Area you. I got here 
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A turned ay herd looee on the let of thla month I have just got through 
branding the other two horde A started the out fit back to Kansas. 
I have 9005 heed on the range besides the cattle that hae been here since 
'79" I hare not heard from Lee since before I started from the Cimarron. 
if you know where he ia A what he ie doing let me know, also where 
Brother Milam la A what he ie doing about the old eorel horse you can have 
him if you can make anything out of him keep lt I will pay all tho expences 
of fixing up our-father A mothers A brother a gravee. aa you have a family 
to take cere of end that ia more than I ever expect to have 
Dave if I wee you I would leave that country If I over got able and go 
north to some stock country. I will go to Daadwood some time this winter 
A have some Pictures taken A send you one I dont think I will ever go back 
to Texaa any acre. I think it la the Poorest country in the world. I 
will close for the present hopeing to hear from you soon I remain aa ever 
your brother , ,T. M. Criswell 
Cere J. L. Driskill A sons 

Spearfleh, D. T. 

Ranch Belle fourche 
Nov. 5th 1882 

D. R. Criswell 
Dear brother 

I reoelved your letter Several days Since would of answered before now but 
have hed no opportunity to nail a letter until now. no news to write we are 
having nice weather for thla time of year in this country only had one snow 
storm that amounted to much, that wee on the l6th of Sept. last. I have 
turned all the cattle looee now and have nothing much to do until next 
apring 
I dread the time from now until next apring worse then ell the working 
Season on account of a v a r y thing being ao dull 
Dave I will send you the $20.00 the first tine I go to Spear fish or Dead-
wood and you can have the graves fixed to suit your self. I have not 
heard from Lee or Mlliem Since last Spring. I dont know where either of 
them is. I will have soae pictures taken soon A send you one. I dont 
know what is going on down on the ranch in Kansas, have not heard from 
there lately Tobe A the old nan has sold their Kansas Ranch to Dock Day to 
be delivered next Spring Dal and Evans haa also eold their ranch there to 
Dock Day for the sum of Sixty five thousand dollars $65.000 Jesse has 
sold his cattle too end hae about eight thousand dollars in money 
L. A. Brown is running the Kansas ranch for Driskill John George is still 
on the 7 ranch yet and runs one hundred half breed three year old 
heifere in the spring Wash Lamkin ia up here with Butte out fit with 
Tennessee or J. A. Vaughan in Charge. Weah haa got one hundred cows A 
calves up here with Bud. My camp ia 15 miles a bove buds ranch on tho 
Belle Fourche river I had six men A 150 heed of saddle horses to look out for 
A no more til Spring four of us went out deer hunting for three daya and 
killed 28 of the finest black tail deer you ever eeen the deer is aa fat 
aa the fattest fat cow you ever seen we killed all the deer in 4 miles of my 
camp there ia also mountain sheep elk and bear in two miles of my camp, 
but in the roughest place on earth, no acre at present your Brother as ever 

T M Criswell 
Dave todey is ay birth day I aa 26 years old today the 5th of Nov 1882 TMC 
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TRANSCRIPriON OP T. M. (*7ffBTfE U T * * * OONTINDED 

COSMOPOLITAN HOTEL 
Olaf Helweg, Proprietor 

Daadwood, Dakota. Nov. 9th 1882 
Dear Brother 

I received your letter on the 6th Inst wee glad to hear from you. no 
news to write we ere having very nice weather I came down to Deed yestra-
dey. ae A Wash Laakin. we will start in about an hour for Speerfiah by stage. 
Dave in regard to aeeing old nan Driskill about what you said I will say 
that I will probly not eee him until next summer and maybe not then. I 
never seen the old old man but three times in ay life end the third time 
wee when he hired ae to bring up the herd A run the ranch. I never spoke 
over a half dosen words to him in ay life. You ere probly better acquainted 
with hia then I am if you think you can make a deal with him you can write 
to hia at Austin Texaa. I would like to help you if I could but lt ia just 
aa I tell you. I will have to close aa the stage is waiting on ae now as 
ever your brother TM. Criswell 

Stoneville M. T. 3/27/8fc 
D. R. Criswell 

Dear Brother I received your letter yestraday A was glad to hear from you. 
no news in this country, we have had two weeks of as nice weather as I 
ever Seen. A the snow has all melted except in Places where it wee drifted 
5 A 6 feet deep, but it commence storming again this evening A from the 
present Indications I think we will have 5 or 6 Inches of enow by morning 
cattle A horses look well considering the Bad weather from the let of Jen 
to the middle of March. You asked about the fight at Stoneville between 
the officers A horse thieves it happened on the |Uth of Feb in this way. 
there were six of the horse thieves A one of their number was In Jail at 
Miles City for Stealing Indian horses in Dakota A a Deedwood officer 
would peas Stoneville _ _ on or about the 14th of Feb with the prisoner 
bound for Daadwood A these 6 friends A p a r d n a r a o t the Prisoner made their 
threats all over the country that they would liberate the Prisoner or kill 
the officers in charge of hia before they passed Stoneville in fact they had 
ben waiting for several days at Stoneville for the Prisoner to come a long 
A the officers from Speerfiah A Daadwood found out that the thieves were at 
Stoneville waiting to liberate their Pal. A on the l<Hh of fob four of 
the officers came to Stoneville A went to a house a bout 4 hundred yds 
from the Saloon where the thieves were stationed they expected to meet 
the officer from miles et Stoneville but as they dident meet him A the horse 
thieves started toward miles immediately after the officers arrived they 
thought then waa thier only chance A so they steped out of the house A 
commence firing on the thieves they killed k head of horses A wounded 
one Harry Tuttle of the gang A one of their party was killed It la not 
known whether any more of the gang wes wounded or not one of the Horse 
thieves were killed the next night five alios below Stoneville Where he 
was waiting for some one to bring him a horse you did not know any of the 
Parties that was killed or wounded there was about 8 or 10 cowhands at 
Stoneville the day of the fight A among them were these two men of mine 
Harris A Cunningham after the fight had stopped between the officers A 
thieves the Boys ell stepped out of the Saloon to see what was the natter 
outside A they were ell Standing in a bunch when the horse thieves fired 

E-26 



-

CRISWELL FAMILY 

aiMMraa. it Wt s a r a y m a _________g__a 

into the croud froa the Brush A killed Cunningham A wounded Harrie they 
had no cause what ever for shooting into the cowpunehere aa they took no 
Pert uhatever in the fight J. C. was etending in the crowd of oowpunchera 
when Harris A Cunningham was ahot this horse thief Tuttle that waa wounded 
in the era wee eent to the hoepital at Speerfiah and after words taken out 
A hung by aaeked men I will speak to Lee about what you aald when I see 
hia again ao no acre at Present Your Brother 

T. M. Oiewell 

March the 19th 1885 
Gordon City Neb 

Mr. T. M. Oiewell 
Dear friend ton I will drop you a few lines to let you know that I am still 
on the turf end hope that these few lines will finde you in joying good 
helth Well ton I have had a hell of a time thla Winter a drifting a round 
over the country lt haa been ooeld aa hell in this country lots of cattle 
died Snow ie e foot deep now torn I eaw old Bill H. not long ago he Is still 
in the ring 
Well torn I ea coming up the trail In the summer this country is no good 
the grangers has took this country Jim Murray is aarried and doing Well he 
took his old name alien he got aarried Bennett Irwin Is doing Well he has 
got a hotell and llbery stable in gordon city Well ton I went -you to Write 
to ae and tell ae all of the newe Vfiiet has become of lee I have written 
too letters to Hood but have not heard from hia yet I want you to Write 
the general newe of the country Ton I started to go to Texas last fall but 
Jim dldent want ae to go Tom let ae know What old Hood is doing What has 
become of George Jackson is Billy Howell still in the country and Bill 
Coyle ton have you heard froa D.R.C. lately has he give out the notion of 
coming up to that country or not Well torn old boy I believe that is all I 
can think of So I will close hoping to hear froa you soon 

I still remain your friend 
D. W. Tate 

Direct your letters to 
S. J. Irwin 
Gordon City,,Nebraska 

(Transcriber's note: The next letter ia from Lee Oiswell to D. R. Oiswell, 
but since it concerns T. M. Oiswell, lt is included here.) 

Chadron Neb May 10th 1885 
Mr. D. R. Oiewell 

Dear brother I thought I would write you a few lines end let you know that 
Ton la in a very bad fix and I want you to cone get hia he has a bout two 
thousand dollara. 
Dave come wrlght away and get him. 
I cant stay with hia aa I had a little trouble up there laat apring 
Dave I have been down in Neb after cattle for J. S. Irwin and I am on my 
way back to Montana Dave be euro and cone after Tom. I will give hia all 
the money I make after hie gone I will cloae aaking you come and get Tom. 
give my love to Bell,, and tell her brother is with ae 

Lee Oiswell 
address -your lettere to Miles City Montana in care of J. S. Irwin 
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Ranch Feb 2k A. D. 1885 
Mr. T. M. Oiswell 

Stoneville Mont 
Deer friend Ton 

Your anxiously looked for letter came te hand this evening A aa I aa at 
leisure I will hasten to answer. 
I was truly glad to hear from you—end to learn you are still holding down 
your old job. I should like very much to pay Stoneville end vicinity 
one acre visit. But fear never acre shall behold its Busy and Oowded 
streets—I can only wish— such of my friends that have engaged in Business 
there success A pressure there ie still a bitter feeling against ae in 
Speerfiah and Daadwood my only wish is that they may forget entirely that 
there ever waa euch a human being exiated as ae. I would freely give five 
years of my life to recall that one act of ay life Not that I feel any 
remoree whatever. But if these were my last words on Earth I would say I 
had no acre intention of injuring those girls than the unborn babe 

But the verdict of the people is I know different— 
I cent realise that I have done any thing or that there ia any charge 

against ae but of course ther is. 
But I ea almost euro we will never meet again I have written her 

about you giving her some Brotherly advice I think more of her than any 
girl I ever seen end have good reasons to believe she reciprocated my love. 
Press your suit friend Toa I think you will filially win her affections 
only dont get too impatient. Remember (Faint heart never won Fair lady's 
hand) 
How is Wash and Jess making it with the Devises do you think they ere 
getting there on them or do they mean business—What for haa Rood 
and Morris, la Stoneville as lively aa it was last winter 
I an sorry to hear of those "punchers" getting it put to then. Old Davies 
ia worse than he looks. I had net Alx Black aoae two or three times. Is 
Tom Green of the -Ct out fit still in the Country yet. Do you have aa many 
dances as we used to have last winter in Stoneville? I suppose the Little 
Missouri Country is settling up isn't it? 

Who is running the <L outfit now. Well Thomas I will close for this 
time hoping to hear from you soon. I aa as ever your friend _ - f f 
P. S. 
I impose quite a punishment on you Tom namely answering so many foolish questions 

Direct as before 
Good night 
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TRANSCRIPriOtl OF T. M. CRISWELL UTTBRS CONTINnED 

Winchester PO Payette Co Texas 
March 9..1885-.-,., 

Mr. T. M. O i s w e l l 
deer Cousin 

I will try this lonesome morning to answer your kind A most appreciated 
letter which I received in time. It found all well, but this letter 
ie leaveing mono of ue well ay little Benna boy wee very sick last week 
but he Is up now A __ath is very near sick A I feel worse than git out. We 
have not planted any corn yet but will next week we have planted water­
melons A garden seeds, every thing looks like spring here, the grass is 
peeping up A the trees is budding and blooming, well I just dont know 
notheing to write 
Sister Em has another little girl that is two for her her post office is 
Ihdlanappolia Mason County Texaa I had a letter froa brother Ton about 
two weeka ago they were ell well A doing well hia poet office ia Cowboy PO 
McCulloch County Texaa. 
I ahell call you a mean boy here after, here I was eo uneasy about you I 
did not know what to do A come to find out lt waa a girl causing your heart 
disease, never mind old fellow 1*11 pay you for that—why didnt you write 
A tel ne all about lt you know your own affair a would Interest me more than 
anything else A you know that I have kept secrets for you A why cant I 
again I have not changed any unless I have gotten a little better A I aa 
not ao wild aa I used to be. aa you know I had plenty of room to get better 
but I have one great consolation A that ia I can get forgiveness for all 
the meanness I ever done before I die. if I will only ask it. I want to 
know your girls name A all about what kind of a girl she Is A I want yours 
A her pictures A an invitation to the wedding well I will have to close as 
I aa out of something to write I en truly glad you are better hope you will 
be well in a ahort time, if we can sell out this year we will move up the 
country A then you will come to see us wont you. good by Tom if we n a v a r 
meet again in thla world I hope will in a better place aa ever your true 
cousin Mollie Walsey 
Give my love to Lee tell him' he is not forgotten 

fare thee well Ton 

Mollie Walsey 

Winchester 

Texas 
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TRANSCRIPTION OPT. M. 

Odell, 111., Maroh 22. 1885 
Mr. Thomas Oiswell 

Dear friend 
Yours of Mareh 7 received to day and can say was truly glad to hear froa you 
we have hed it fearful cold hear A lote of enow it is froce herd yet I an 
going to bring back 30 of the finest horsee that you ever eaw in fact they 
are as good as there is in the East. In regard to wife Aepey (f) has left 
thie pert of the country so I have not seen her this month I brought Daves 
picture back A Nell is badly gone on it she aaya he did not answer her 
last letter so you will hafto talk to hia I have been so busy buying 
horses that I have not had much time to look after the girls but I took a 
peep at some of them end In a while I aa coning back as soon a a the wether 
is warn enough How is all the boys getting a long A how is Stoneville A 
Jinaie Harrisburg give them ay regards. 

I received a letter froa Harper a few days a go he Says the widow is sick 
I think I will have to come back and look after her I will be on my way 
by the time you get this so good by 

froa yours truly 
(signature indecipherable) 

Rock Port, Mo. Nov. 21st 1885 
T. M. Oiewell 

Dear friend Ton— 
Your letter of somewhat ancient date written to Stoneville wes forwarded 
to me and I recd the same only a few days ago- and Old Boy I'll assure you 
I was truly glad to hear from you once more—I have bin in this part of 
the world since the 1st of Sept—I am in here on a visit Dont know how long 
I'll remain here I'm having a good time you bet their ie Just lodes of Dandy 
Girls and they ere nice end not ao nice— But thru ly all coat money to 
Fly high you know. I have not heard a word from the Ranch since I left 
their Dont know why 1 have wrote them several times-
Well Old Boy how are you any how? Hope you ere intlrely well _____ this and 
are haveing your usual amount of fun— Do you know where Lee is? Essie Brown 
is teaching the school at Huletts School House. I heard Jess A Roeie Davis 
vere aarried. I dont know weather I'll go back to Stoneville or not— I 
will not stay in thla country longer than Spring — Say Tom mu_.C I get 
married or not eh? I want your advice ae I think it ia good— She ia just 
aa nice aa can be—I will close for the preaaant write ae soon—address aa 
the head of the letter-

Very respectfully yours 
Jarrett E. Todd 

DRISKILL BROTHERS 
Stock Growers 

Range: Belle Fourche and Little Missouri Rivers 
Speerfiah, D. T.. Nov. 7th. 1885 

T. M. Criswell 
Buckholts, Texas Friend Ton 

will start you a check to day for eeventy Dollare, aent you by the _P boya, 
I think I will get eome more, but cent say where lt will be. I have no 
newe to write ae it la very dull up here. The Marshal of Rappid City 
waa killed a few nights ago by cow boys, also one cow boy. 
Plenty of boys out of a job this winter. Tell Dave to write and let L. A. 
Broun know when you get this check, also Ua. Colaan about the twenty-five 
dollars I sent before thla, ao as to let then know that you got all money 
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that they give aa. I will etart to the Ranch to Borrow or next day 
wash Laakin ia in Texaa I guess he will come end see you while down there. 
Write soon. 

As ever your friend 
W. D. Driskill 

Driskill Brothers 
Stock Growers 

Range: Belle Fourche and Little Missouri Rivera 

Spearf ish,, Dakota Territory 
Mar. 24,, 1886 

T. M. Oiewell 
Friend Ton 

I have not heard froa you in some time, eo I thought I would drop -you a 
line, end let you know about thla part of the country. We will have our 
stock meeting on the 15th of April,,I think I can raise you some money 
there. We will have a Theatre that might and I hope We can raise you as 
much as two Hundred dollars A maybe more, but cant tell yet for certain. 
Have got the tickets printed,» and.will do our beat to sell all we can. 
I hope this will find you better. We are ell well at present, and Slnore 
sends love to Mr. Oiewell. 
Wash Lamkin hae sold his cattle to ? Weare. 

I think cattle will come out ell OK thla winter 
kindest regards to Dave and 

hia family 
so I trill close—write soon 

As ever your friend 
W. D. Driskill 
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TRANSCRIPTION OF LETTER OF JAMES HARVEY CRISWELL TO DAVID ROBERT CRISWELL, 
Auguet 12, 1883. 
(Note: Jeaee Harvey Oiswell was b o m Black Jaok Springs, Fayette County, 
Texae 13 Nov. 1852; he died In Corpus Christi, Texaa 22 Feb. 1952; aarried 
Mellette Jane Heater on l<t March, 1872 in Da Witt County, Texaa. He was 
the seventh child of Leroy Vannoy and Elisabeth MeMickene Oiewell.) 

Johnson City 
Blanco C. Texas 

August 12th, '83 
Mr. D. R. Oiswell 

Dear Brother I eeat myself this morning to enaer your kind and welooa letter 
that I recieved yeaster day. I was glad to hear from you this leaves us all 
well and hope it nay find you and family all well it has ben very dry here 
this year but the moat of the farmers haa made enough corn to do then I will 
make corn enough to do ae end I will make half bale of cotton to the acer. 

I like thla country very well but I aa not settled yet I want to look 
round futher weat before I Settle I will give you a diaoription of this 
country it has got good farming land wher you can get land that can be 
cultivated the country is rough and rockey but lt is healthy and is the 
best watered county I ever wes in and.the grass is good Stock does fine here 
and this is a good cotton country. 
land for farming (indecipherable) ie worth fToa $2*50 to $5*00 unimproved 
and grseeing land is worth $1.50 per acer and improved is not selling much 
I can not toll you any thing much a bout any reglar price this is a very 
good Stock country the grass is good and water is pleentyful end ther is 
pleanty of out let the country open no nasters I would like that you would 
come to see us if you are thinking of moveing form that country you must come 
up this fall I think you would like this country if you can put up with the 
rocks Dave you must come to see me before you go any wheres if you dont 
like this country we can look at the country futher west I cannot tell yet 
whether I will stay here or not if I dont find anyplace that suits ae 
better I will stay here. I think I would like Kimble oounty very well end 
land ia not so high 
I would like if we could find a place that would suit booth of us and settle 
to gether where we could see one another once end a while. 

If I settle this faul I will try to get a place for Sister Joe I would 
like to help her All I can. I did not know that Wright was deed untill in 
July I went out to see Brother John en he told ae snout Wiright being dead' 
I have not heard from Joe aence she waa marled I would have writen to her 
before now if I had knowed wher her PO waa Dave you must tell Joe to write 
to me You must come up if you can tell Joe I will do all I can for her if 
I can get wher I can settle her close to ae 
I beleave I have told you all I know come if you can I must tell you that 
I taken the premua here with the fir at Bale of Cotton thla year. I had 
it glned end sole it yesterday I goet $20 dollars preaua I will close 
for this tine so good but for tine 
Shumpy (?) jolnes ae in love to you and your wife Dave I wold like to see 
your wife, .humpy (?) says for you to come and bring your wife 

Your Brother 
aa ever 

Harvey Oiswell 
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TRANSCRIPTION OF LETTER FROM RUTH SPURS TO TOM CRISWELL, Nov. k, 1885 
(Note 1 Ruth Spinks (nee: Oiswell) wee the eleventh child of Leroy V. 
end Elisabeth McMiokena Oiswell; b o m Bso. 23; 1855 In Fayette Co., 
Texas, T(honae M(enfTee) Oiewell, b. Nov. 5, 1856, her brother) 

Gontales Nov. the- 4, 85 

Mr. T. M. Oiswell 
Dear Brother I aeat __y self to drop you a few linea to let you know 
how I aa getting a long I aa doing very well no end the ohlldren ere ell well 
I aa hired out to 000k at eight dollare a month to a man by the name of 
(indeolperable) juet hia and hie wife end two boarder a they are old people 
end their ohlldren ere ell aarried. I like lt very well end have a pleasant 
home ae end the ohlldren pioked 38 hundred pounde of cotton they ere getting 
large enough to help ae eoae. how ere you getting a long I would like to 
ooae end see you end will if I eon get off de you need any thing in the 
way of bead clothes or any thing alee if you do let aa know and I will aend 
you what I oan how is Dave end Bell getting a long, end sister Joe how is she 
getting a long and what is Lees to if you ere able to write -you must writs 
to ne end tell ae ell about yourself I have thought of you often In your 
afflictions and wiahed to be with you and help to do something for you and 
I would of gone to you if it had not for ay ohlldren It haa been a tight 
pull untlll now I think I will get a long very well end I hope you will 
aoon be up again I know you auffered death a thoueand tines but I hope you 
are over that by thla time and if you have run short of money let ae know 
I will send you seas every month I will divide with you as long as I can 
nake a cent end anewer thla aa aoon as you get this and tell Dave and Joe 
to write so I will close with much love to you give my love to Daves family 
and Joea too I remain ae your true sister 

Ruth Spinks 

Explanatory note: T. M. Oiswell had been operations manager for the 
Driskill Land and Cattle Company holdings in the Dakotas, but in May of 
1885. the youngest brother, Lee, had written Dave to "eoae get Tom for 
he ia In a bad way". He died in Dave's home on April 12, 1886; he la 
buried in the Corinth cemetery in Milam county. 
Ruth Oiswell Spinks is fairly obviously a widow at the time of this 
letter. Sale refers to children, so had more than one, and since she 
refers to thera as old enough to pick cotton, they are probably over 5 
years of age. She would have been 30 at the time ehe wrote this letter. 
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ffijaaaggg BE L H. _ai_a_a a a w _aawL 
Sabinal Texas 
Sept. the 28th 1885 

"Mr. T. M. Oiswell" 
"Deareet friend 

Many weeka and even aontha have elapeed since I last wrote to you, and 
it seeas an age since I had a letter froa you. but during this long 
silence dont think I have ceased to think of you or even hear from you. 
I have had letters from "Jho. P. C."and "Aunt Bottle" • always letting ae 
about your health "Dear Toa" if you remember the last letter I wrote to 
you wae sometime in Mareh" I sent you my valentine" which I received in 
February" It waa an old comic picture together with all the nonsense I 
could think of. well weeks passed by and every time anyone would go to 
the office I would think ahorely I will get a letter from Ton "thla tiae" 
but waa always disappointed. I could not imagine why you did not write but 
finely concluded you had grown tired of so poor a correspondent. So in July 
Billie and I went up to John Oiswells. You cant imagine who surprised 
I was to hear you was in Texas "and how shocked to hear of your poor 
health. I had a letter t r om John only yesterday bearing the good news 
that you was improving rapidly and giving ae your address" John told as the 
last tiae I aeon hia he expected -you would stay with hia the ecaner and I 
fully intended going up there to aee you if you cone to Johns' but they 
always write that you have not cone. Do you Intend comeing this fell or 
winter, we are still living on the "Sabinal" Billie thinks of moving to 
"Devine" this winter if nothing happens. Dear old friend if we do novo 
to Devine" and get a good comfortable house to live in I want you to cone 
and stay with ua this winter. I will not listen to any excuse at all. It 
would be the greatest pleasure in the world to have you with us if we can 
make you comfortable. I have not aeon John or any of the folks "since July" 
John said in his letter that Milan had started out here to work for Billie 
but he has not gotten here yet. I didnot get to see Milam ? while I 
was at Johns 
Tom Jack was here and looks more like Uncle Ben _T_ then ever. Aunt Bettie 
and cousin Rhilie is just as little and poor as they can be. I think lt 
would take all three of them to weigh one hundred. They were ell well and 
in very good spirits end enjoyed myself splendidly, but I always enjoy 
myself at Johns A Toa I want you to write ne a long letter end tell ae every 
thing you can think of. I have been wanting to write to you for e long-long 
time but I didnot know wheather you would underetand my letters or not. I 
would give anything if I could eoae to see you, but it is so very for. 
Well, I will try end tell you something about ourselves. Billie has his 
cattle in a pasture, he intends selling them the very first opportunity 
presents itself. Billie is at work i_a_king "Hay" he is running the Mower end 
gets one dol per ton for cutting, he has cut as high as eight ton a day. 
The men he is at work for is going to put up one thousand ton. I expect we 
will stay here till cold -weather. I have not been hoae for sometime. I 
had a letter t r om Ma a few days ago. Pa-and Ma has joined the Christian 
Church" since I was down there, they still live at Devine"Sister Bobble 
is living at her sane old place. Bro Willie lives about two ailee thla aide 
of Devine " he la getting along badly. It seems like he cannot give up hia 
bad habits and have and bulsness about hia he has a case in Court at Castro-
ville next month which keeps one in a world of trouble. Willie has a good 
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T. M. CRISWELL TRANSCRIPTIONS CONHmED 

wife and a sweet little gifl end it would be ay one greatest pleasure of 
life te see then de well. Brother Mareland Ma'a oldest child is up here at 
work I know he ie one of the beet hearted boya ever lived, he is just 
like Me. "Toa I know you reaember enough about Ma to know a better woman 
nevar lived. 
Wall I have just~been te Uvalde end stayed two days and had just a nice 
tine. I went to the "Skating Rink" one night and had such e nice tiae. I 
wee at a splendid dance about two weeks ago. we danced till three o'clock, 
had e nloe supper, loo lemonade" end e good tiae In general. Ma haa been 
writing to ae about going to dance and not struddlng myself down to be 
old folks" but I tell her I dont feel old and I can be old yet awhile. I 
wish I could bet ay consent to give up all the pleasures of this world end 
live for a better one end be en old " t " altogether but I oent eee it 
now. but perhaps I will someday. Who knows shat is in the near future. 
Toa I know you will get awful tired of this old letter for I have nothing 
in the world interesting to write but I went you to write ae e long letter 
end tell ae every thing you know. "Tell ae how often you hear froa" 
Miss Jennie end when you think of going back after her. kt*a you going to 
make "dear old Texaa" your future hoae. Do you reaember what you praised 
me you would do if you ever came back to Texaa. X hold you Sacred to that 
proaiee. I want you to come to eee us Just as soon as you can. There is 
no one on this earth I would rather see."Billie ssys tell you to be shore 
end eoae. I will atop writing for thla tiae be Shore and write to ae soon. 
Give ay best regarde to Dave"A family hoping to hear t rom you I aa 

Your own true friend 
"Gassie 

Address Gassie E. Davie 
Sabinal Poet Office, Uvalde Co. 
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TRANSCRTPTION OF T. M. CRISWELL I_CTTH.S CONTINUED 

Blddeford, Maine Apr. 5. I885 

Dear Mr. Oiswell: 
Your letter received end delighted to hear froa you so quickly. I 

aa very sorry that I obtain one correspondent only to loee another. I 
r a t a r to my dear Mr. Hood. Why haa he deserted ae? I did not wish to have 
him stop corresponding, for I have always greatly admired Mr. Hood and I 
really fear if he doea not write that I shall go out West. If possible 
persuade hia. Go on your knees to hia and implore hia to write to M lea 
Maud Denney and I. Please tell ae how ia Mr. MB. Howell or do you not 
know the gentleman. His "little pet". Miss Denney, received a letter froa 
him last night and she told ne to send love to hia froa her. She could 
not wait to write. I think she will write to hia this week. How Is the 
weather out there? Since Mr. Hood stopped writing I aa not informed. He 
always told me about the weather, dances, and hia admiration of ne. Do 
you think he ia going to be married aoon? He told me he had hopes. I 
hope he won't be disappointed, whoever she ia. You aee I can't think of 
anybody but Hood. Do you know there are about ten Stoneville young aen 
who have written to ae since I commenced corresponding with Humphrey 
Hood. Please tell ne how they get ay directions. One would imagine that 
my lettera were posted up along the atreete, in the P. 0. office, or 
some other conspicuous place, or places. I know they often do so with 
letters. Tell Mr. Hood I should be delighted If by posting ny letters 
he can amuse hia friends, and do hope he will continue. Well to-day la 
beautiful. Tia Easter Sunday and crowds of people ere passing and I am 
sitting near the window ao of course have to keep looking out. My thoughts 
are therefore rather scattered consequently ay letter must be rather "dry". 
I have company downstairs—a young gentleman waiting for ae ao I cannot 
write a very long letter. To-morrow night I am going to a Ball. Don't 
you wish you could be here? I'll dance one dance for you if you wish me to. 
Miss Denney is going too and we expect a splendid time. I am going to 
have three dozen photographs taken next week or rather I am going to ait 
for thera. Don't you wish you could have one? Well I era very much aftraid 
that I cannot send you one. I an getting them taken to exchange with our 
class. We exchange photographs in our school when we graduate and their 
are about thirty scholars in the class with three teachers so I will have 
about three left. Well, I will now bid you good day. 

M. Campbell 
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TRANSCRIPTION OP LETTERS FROM £__W1_J3___J_ TO n. w. rttTgwnp.T.. c. early 1880'8. 
( Note: Joe E. Oiswell, sister to D. R. Berried G. W. Iaard en Nov. 8, 1877. 
She waa born in XSiA, ao was /7 at the tine of her marriage.) 

Schulenberg, Tex. 
June the 26, 1880 

D. R. Oiewell 
Dear Brother 

After eo long a tiae I will drop -you a few lines to let you know that we 
have not entirely forgotten you yet I would have written sooner But have 
been So bulsy I have not had tiae. I arrived hoae Safe and Sound. I found 
Joe A the children well. And also a pretty good pro ape ot for a Splendid 
crop.••Corn ie needing rein It will make pretty fair corn without any 
more rain. 
Dave that was John with sloe at Schulenberg that tiae It was the next day 
after you left here. News. There la a camp meeting going on up at Oso. 
There haa been several Conversions aaong them waa Miss Nannie Ross. She 
haa not joined the Church yet well Dave The Country ia roused up at a 
Considerable rate There an ortroucious murder in the Neighborhood Wandsday 
morning. Bob Ragadale waa killed on the hill between Bill Waddlll and Mrs. 
Seacreat. The difieulty waa about Cattle The ie no clue to the one that 
did the deed* The Supieition lies to Blake and Sirce Seaney and Short day. 
He waa shot six times and then drug five hundred yards down that Branch 
thla aide of Bill Waddills and thrown in the Branch. There ia a great 
deal of talk about the Mob law. The people ia at a fever head. Wall I 
must dose. John Waddlll la here waiting on me to go to Schulenburg. 
Joe says aha haa not had tiae to write. Our love to you So write aoon. 

Aa ever your Brother 
G. W. Iaard 

P. S. Old Ball la getting fat. My pasture is not closed as yet. Hy 
poneys all range out aide. 

I recieved a letter froa Bill Ola he is well he going down in LaSall 
Cou. will be gone (?) day. 

Cowboy Aug the 1880 
Mr. D. R. Oiswell 

Dear friend after my beet regards to you I will endever to write you a 
few lines to inform you how times are in thla part time are dull aa usual 
grass is fine and cattle -and forses fat Dave I wish you would see what a 
man could sell a email bunch of nixed cattle at down there about the mid­
dle or last Sept 1.2.3* yr. steers cows and 1. A 2. yr heifers pleaa 
find our A write to ne -jmeeadtly the folks in this country are all well. 
Write aoon and believe ne your friend. 

G. W. Iaard • 
'(TRANSCRIBER'S NOTE: The signature on thla letter could be J. W. instead 
of G. W. The handwriting in the two letters does not appear to be the 

..) 
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CfUSWELL FAMILY 

5 
TRANSCRIPTION OP LETTER FROM P. Y. ROBERTSON TO 

G. W. IZARD. 
Note: G. W. Iaard waa known to be living on June 26, 1880, and presumed 
still living on 21 July 1882, ref. hia wife's letter to D. R. Oiswell. 
It can therefore be assunad that he died between July 1882 and Mareh, 1883*) 

L. R. Robertson F. Y. Robertson 
ROBERTSON BROTHERS BANKERS 
Buffalo County, Nebraska 

Kearney, Maroh 2k, 1883 
D. R. Oiswell Eeq, Adra. Est. of G. W. Iaard 

Schulenburg, Texas 
Sir: 

Tours of 19th Inst, in relation to G. W. Iaard'a transections with 
Robertsons Bros. Bankers at hand: On June 22 1882, Mr. Iaard deposited 
$650.00 with said bank end on July 1, 1882 drew it out taking in payment 
our draft No. 206l on Mareh Bros. Mareh A Co. bankers, at Lincoln, 
Nebraska for $650.00, being the only transaction Mr. Iaard had with said 
bank, and of which I enclose a statement as requested. 

Very respectfully, 
P. Y. Robertson, Cashier 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRANSCRIPTION OP LETTBl FROM f, j, BIRR TO P- £_ fflfi-T-V July 21, 1882. 
(Note: J. B. Iaard is Joe E(lieebeth?) Oiewell, eighth child of Leroy V. 
Oiswell, b. 1854 in Fayette County.) 

Neb. Pine Ridge, Agency Po. 
July the 21 1882 

Dear Brother I eeat ey Self down to let you ell hear froa ua one more tiae 
we ere all well at present and hope you all nay be in joying the Same life 
Dave I would of writen to you before now but we have Just got to the ranch 
e few days ago and have not had tiae to write to you ell we had A long tire* 

trip we was two weeks on the road from Korney to Newnan'e ranch and 
to a Oeek that we had to take the horses out of the wagon and the 

three nan had to take it down by hand it waa awful lookingspace it wee A 
mile down it they tide ell of the wheels and tide It to trees a long the 
bluff a aver bendy says they do not now how we got down that place with 
out braking the wagon but we did not brak a thing I thought that we had 
come to the Jumping Off place they had to lead ae down the hill for I 
could not walk down alone the Children cried end bollard all the time 
they wes bringing it down we never seen a tree on the road until we got to 
Snake Oeek 60 miles froa the ranch end Gaaale got aiek and a lady cane 
down to our Camp fournd out Gaaale waa aick and ahe told us to get in her 
hack and go to the ranch 60 miles they put in two fresh fat horses and 
told ua to get in the hack and go to the ranch that day and we make the 
trip that day and they did not Cargo ua one cent for lt the folk la very : 
clever in this Country I beared at Oglala and went to Karaey and 1 half 
days travlee on the 2d Cass and stayed two weeks. We have not got to 
any ranch yet but Mr. Iaard le going to Borrow to look at A ranch to 
I con't tell you any thing A bout what we are going to do yet Lou A 
Bennet ia well tell Bell and her Bother that I would like to see them and 
that I have not forgoton them yet and tell them to write to me and tell 
me all A bout little bird and all of the family kiss Bettie and holly 
for ma and all of the babye. So I will Close for this time you must 
write as aoon aa you get this ao no more your sister 

So good bye 
J. E. Iaard 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TP.A.VSCHIPTlcy OF LES CRISWELL L5TTERS _ _ 

Doge City Kansas Sep 1? 82 
Q Mr. Dave Criswell 

Dear Brother 
I am going to work Driskill Tom is Bossing the ranch in Decota he is getting 
1 hundred dollars -per month I am getting 30 dollars per month. I am going to 
Decota in the spring. 

Chadron Neb. May 10th 1885 

Lee Criswell 

Mr. D. R. Criswell 
Dear brother I thought I would write you a few lines and let you know that 
Tom is in a very bad fix and I want you to come get him he has about two 
thousand dollars. 
Dave come wright a way and get him. 
I cant stay with him as I had a little trouble up there last spring 
Dave I have been down in Neb after cattle for J. S. Irwin and I am on my 
way back to Montana Dave be sure and come after Tom I will give him all the 
money I make after his gone I will close asking you come and get Tom. give 
my love to Bell and tell her brother is with me 

Lee Criswell 
Address your letters to Miles City Montana In care of J. S. Irwin 

Sun Dance, Wyo. Terr. 
Feb. 25, 1887 

Mr. D. R. Criswell 
Dear Brother I would drop you a few lines to let you that I 

was still alive. I have never made anything in this country. I am going to 
leave this country in the Spring and go to New Mexico or Colorado. I can make 
more money in Souther Texas work for $15 dollars a month, there ar so many 
Eastern cattle men in this country and they all work Yankeys and Texas men 
don't stand much of show. Dave cattle is dying like sheep with the rot. Snow 
is about one foot deep on level all over this dam northern country. Dave 
when I came to this country a man could get $40 and k $ dollars, but now a 
man can but $25 per month. Dave you need not answer my letter until you 
hear from me again I will write to you when I locate again I give ray best 
respect all the folks. I will close for this time. 

L. V. Criswell 

4_S*"/-/--- <_ 

Lee Criswell (probably his full name was La*uy Vannoy Criswell after his father) 
was the thirteenth of fourteen children born to Leroy Vannoy and Eliza McKickens 
Criswell. No birth date is available, but he was born between Larkin (Dec. 11, 
1862)and Milam ("arch 18, 1866). These brief letters are all available which 
he wrote himself, but letters from other family members refer to him as being 
in constant scrapes.•• However, he must have reformed along the way, since he 
is referred to in a history of Motley County, Texas as one of "our most respected 
founding pioneers". It is not known when he died; apparently he married, 
since two of his daughters (in their 80's) were living there (Motley County) 
in the early 1970's. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRANSCRIPTION CF WILLIAM MELTON CRISWELL LETTERS 

Comfort Texas June 15, 80 
Dear brother I received your letter just a week a go to Day I found all well 
and all our stock all wright I recd a copy of the journal of Agriculture 
yesterday as I come home from John I have bin over their all week helping him 
put up a house to live in I will start down to Frio County next week after 
Toms estate and to see what I can collect on old Lee A Milam Lee went to a 
dance friday night and has not got straight yet old man Heren from F*io town 
pased John while I was over their and Lee told me that Charley Slaughter had 
swindled Billy Slaughter out of nearly all Billy owns and gone to New Mexico. 
Old man Her in had a bunch of horses of Bill Doughrites Bill was not a long. 
But they was expecting every day for 3ill to over take him so I will close 
for this time 

as ever your Brother 
W. M. Oiswell 

Austin, Texas Sept. 7, 1880 
Dear brother I am on my way to Dallas me and Nelley A Milam we will be gone 
about 25 days then I expect to come down to Fayette with some horses you 
write to my lawyers and see if they wont take horses for what I owe them 
Gazzie Davis and Billy was seperated when I was donw their I have not heard 
from them since I left I dont no wheather they live to gether or not write to 
me at Dallas and tell me the news and what has ben done about the Secrest & 
Ragsdale murder case I remain as ever your Brother W. M. Criswell 
give Joe and Wright ray love 

Dutch Comfort Texas July 17 1881 
Dear Bro I arrived home right side up with Call on the 1th of July I have 
just got back home from above I went off to Seth Makery (?) ranch about 90 
miles above here to take some horses I seen some mighty fine country while 
I was gone old Dick Woods has bin killed at the ? by Moh (?) so you see he 
is got justis of so long a time he is James Louis Dick Wood I reckon you 
do re cole ct him this Louis as all well give my love to your baby and all the 
balence of the family 

W. M. Oiswell 

Comfort Texas Feb 28, l88l 
Dear Dro I rec your letter this morning Dave I well start below some time after 
the Ik of month all _11 ho Sallis 1 year old steers 650 1 
year old Pt 600 2 yr steers 950 3 yr old 12 k yr old \ k , horses 900 is how they 
are selling up here I can send you the money I owe you now but I will make 
it all wright when I come down as ever your Bro 

W. M. Oiswell 

Comfort Texas August 29, 81 
Dear Bro 
I will answer your letter I have no newes to write of interest it is getting 
dry up here if it done rain pretty soon I cant now what stock will do this 
winter I an afraid I will have drive my cattle and old back to the 
Nueses River old Pancho Berraro passes here this morning and said it had 
rained good rains from fort Ewe 11 to Loredo and grass was fine out there 
Dave if your hip is not eny Better you had better see a Docktor about it 
the Post boys is going to move up to where Bro. John lives with theire 
cattle I am going to start to S.A. to morrow with some horses to sell they 

E-26 



CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRANSCRIPTION OF WILLIAM MELTON CRISWELL LETTERS CONTINUED 

say a l l in about Pleasenton and sommerset san megil and Frio City and my 
old Ranch the hole face of the Earth i s burnt off timber a l l burnt off 
clear no more a t present give ray love to Jim Shugar Pie as ever Bro 

W. M. Criswell 

Lockhart Texas Oct. 29, 81 
Dear Bro & Sister 
I will scratch you a few lines this leaves us all well at present I will 
leave for home tomorrow grass is fine up in my Country stock fat write me 
wheather you are going to plant eny crop next year or not and wheather you 
have got eny plow team or net if have not Come up and you can git one I 
have sent $75 to G W Izzard to pay the B & T note so no more as ever your Bro 

W. K. Criswell 

Comfort Texas Dec 18, 1881 
Dear Bro A sister 
I recd your letter a short time ago was glad hear from you all this leaves us 
all well at present grass is not the best in the world up here if we have 
a bad next winter cattle will fare bad. Come is selling up here at 130^ 
per bushel I am feeding 2 horses a gallon a peace a day and plent of oat 
straw which caps them up splendid. Dave my San Anontio trial is set for 
Jan 3 1882 I writen to Shook to have an attachment issued for you if it 
dont come in time for you you come up on the train if they bring you up 
under attachment this will save expenses I want to try and dispose of the 
lease this time I will send you Shooks letter as 

ever your Bro 
W. M. Oiswell 

Comfort Texas Feb 17, 1882 
Dear Bro 
I will start John down with two horses the Best I could get 2 greys one in 
good fix the other first class middling her will start the 19 or 20 You keap 
the horses for your trouble in going and coming from SANantonio give my love 
to all. They have Tom Jackson in Bandera for stage robbing But I think he 
will probable get off it the Robery as ever your bro 

W. M. Criswell 

Comfort Texas Jan. 12 1882 
Dear Bro 
I rec your Letter yestrday as to the watch the man was drinking and I asked 
him for his watch to fool a fellow and he taken it out of his pocket and 
gave it to me and Iput it in my vest pocket and him and went off to 
Bells Bro to by me a knife for me and they was gone some time and O a come 
a long and asked me to ?o and eat dinner with him and I went and never thought 
eny more of the watch until I felt in my pocket 8 miles from SA for a match 
and felt it I sent it back before I got home by one of my neighbors the next 
day after I left you and I suppose it was delivered on Saturday Nay brought 
two cawies with him one a little sorrel Bro SR on left shoulder one a black 
ball face pony Spanish branded he said that heleft a horse at his brothers 
that there was $25 dollar reward for Lee this talk when he first come 
up here I think that Lee come by Gonzales A Newbraunfels the two that Lee 
brought up was not match biger than Days as ever your bro 

W. M. Oiswell 
I trot a letter from Milam he says he roped a buffalo calf 

CriswsU .. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

TRANSCRIPTION OF JOHN FINES CRISWELL LETTERS 

Bandera County Texas May 5 1881 

Dear brother I seat myself to write you a few lines to let you no we are all 
well and hope these few lines may finde you and Will and Sister Joe all well 
I written you long since and have got no answer and also I written to Wright 
and have got no answer this leaves us all right Brother Bill was at my house 
about two weeks ago and Said he would come over in 8 or 10 days but has not 
come over yet there is lots of cattle going up the trail this Spring Schrinl­
and John Lytle has drove fifteen thousand from this Section and Bill Waueh his 
two heards gone by Couch of Frio Town has several heards all ready gone by 
and Woodard and Asha has been sending cattle I saw Till Driscoll in Bandera 
he bossed a heard for Shriner A Lytle this year Till is nearly as large as 
Brother Bill the cold frieqe on the 18 of March killed every thing in this 

country that was up corn and the small grain and all the Pecan crop is 
killed and the earley most of every description to was killed and it has 
been prity dry up here till a few days ago it rained and we neede rain now 
I hav some 5 or 6 acres of corn and some oats planted and I am working my 
corn out--the frost did not hurt me on account of mine just a coming up and 
the cockel burrs is numerous among the corn a nan by the name of John McLoren 
living on the Frio Canyon had his wife murdered by some unknown assassain his 
wife and a young man by the name of Leas both was shot and killed by a black 
looking men so the little six year old girl Says they are on trail of them 
yet 15 men and one Indian gide the robers took all the valuabels and broke 
the Sewingmachine and carried off bed clothing and some 18 or 20 dollars 
the ladey was wattering some plants in her garden when She was murdered this 
was on the head of the West Frio in Bandera County & Daivey write to me and 
tell rae if thera lawyers ever said anything concerning ray owing thera I will 
be in there this Summer or fall and make anything all right. You must come 
and see rae give ray love to Bill Williams and tell him I hav not forgotton 
him tell Wright to drop me a few lines and to let me no how he is doing your 
Brother untill death John F. Oiswell 

Bandera Texas Sep. 19. 1882 

Dear Brother I Seat my Self to write you a few lines to let you no that 
I have not forgotton you I hav bin waiting for a letter from You till I hav 
gave it out and thought I would write to you and tell you all the news 
All is well and Billy as fare as I no I have not heard from Billy in k weeks 
there is no news of any importance It has turned off dry up here the grass is 
fine Stock looks well the old lady Jackson and Ben Lane came to my house on 
the 15th of last month Ben stayed k or 5 days and started home he lives in 
Leon County on the Trinity River in East Texas Ben looks old and broken Med 
Gibsons childe came along with Ben and got crazy on the road and the old lady 
Jackson & Ben Lane had a Big time with him on the road but he come all right 
again Ben talks of moving out here this fall give my love to Belle and Mrs. 
Secrest family and Bill Williams too Davey write to me and tell me what horses 
is worth down to Schulenberg and around their Tell me how Vick Dickinson is 
getting along Since he was wounded I saw the account in the Galveston News 
where he was Shot at or near Moultcn pt a dance and hav not heard from him 
since and tell me how you made lt hone 4 you must come and see us you and 
3elle when you can I think I will come in your country this faul if there be 
any chance to sell any forses for a good price I think me and Bill can put 
up 8 or 10 gentle horses between us Billy told rae you lost Old Sorrel after 
you got home I have a big work horse 15 hands high verry heavey set and a 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 

JCHN FINDS CRISWELL TRANSCRIPTIONS CONTINUED 

nare Ik hands high 2f years old gentle to ride or work what is such stock 
worth down their I an in a hurry for Olley and Harvey is going to school and 
I have to Shove myself around lively now to keep up I have 23 calves now 17 
heifers among the lot Rhilie and the children sayes for you to come and see 
us if you possibly can we had a local option election on the 11th of this 
month whiskey won_ nearly 3 to 1 all over the county So I will close as I 
have got to go to town this eavening to mail this and other letters So write 
soon and often dont wait for me to write Your Brother until Death 

Jno. F. Oiswell 

NOTE: John F. Oiswell was the third child, first son, of Leroy Vannoy A 
Eliza McMicken Oiswell. He was born 25 December 1845 at Black Jack Springs, 
Fayette County, Texas; married Margaret Rhilie Jackson on Feb. 5, 1868; he 
died in Bayard, New Mexico some time after 1918. 

0 
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Transcript of letter from John Finis Criswell (Son of Leroy) to his 
cousin Elizabeth J. (Bettie)(daughter of William V.) married to Calvin 
Jones• 

BAYARD NEW MEXICO (Grant County) 
Dec. 12th, 1917 

Dear cousin Bettie and Calvin; I just recd. a letter from my sister 
E. J. Boykin. I had not heard from her in years and have been trying 
to locate her for a long time. I was so glad to hear from her and to 
know she was still living and in good health. This (finds) us all vell| 
and hope the same for you and Calvin and family. 

I have one widowed daughter and little boy Lane. All the rest is 
married and gone. My wife Rhilie died the first day of August 1915 
over two years ago. I will give you the names of my children. 

James Harvey living 10 miles from me. Ranching. He has 500 head oi 
cattle. William Henry, living on the Frisco River 125 mi. from me. 
John Yancy and George Leroy lives 50 miles west of Albuquerque, N.M, 
They have between them 600 head of Cattle. Clarence Martin the young­
est, 22 years old. Just married. Lives at Fierro, 8 mi. from me. 
He works in a Copper Mill. He gets $5.00a day. 

Now my girls, Anna Lee lives up at Fierro. Her husbands's name is 
Byron Fat on. Eva Feaney lives in Morenci, Ariz. All the girls has 
one child. Anna Lee's is a girl. Eva Feaney1s is a girl 9 year old. 
Stta who lives at home, one a boy 8 years old and is going to school. 

I live 140 miles North West of El Paso, west of the Rio Grand in 
9 miles of the Grate Continental divid in the Rocky Mountains in Grant 
County N. Mex. I tell you it is some dry out here. I have plenty 
running water. I irrigated a patch of Spuds and raised 1500 pounds of 
fine irish potatoes. They will keep well out here. You never see a 
rotten irish potatoe out here. I taken up 640 acres adjoining me in 
the additional Stock raising homested law passed by Congress about a 
year ago. 

I have 50 head of cattle now. Beef Cows is from $55.00 to 165.00 
a head to the local butcher. This years sucking Calves sells to the 
local butcher for $35.00 and up. Flour is 17.00 per 100. bacon, salt . 
.400. Swifts premium .500 a pound. Onions 50. 50 pound Lard $11.50 and 
beef and pork out of the Butcher Shop .400 pound, and evry thing else 
in proportion. Whiskey Sealed quart $3-00 but New Mexico went State 
wide probition by 16,500 majority. The whiskey Men have untill the 
first of Oct. to get shut of all Spiritous licors. 

Bettie, I will be 72 years old this comeing Xmas day, born in 1845 
I can do a lot of riding if I am 72, and (do) work of all kinds. Now 
Bettie write me when you receive this western News Sheet. Etta and 
little boy is going to Morenci, Ariz, to see Eva and family. She will 
start the 22 of Dec. go from here to Lordsburg by Auto and take the 
train on the Western Pacific, same road that runs to Flatonia, Tex., 
and travel West toward California. I will be alone untill she comes 
back. I can pick up some old stiff to stay with me for his board and 
loding. 

Well Bettie I just dont know for certain how long it has been 
since I was at your house but I think it was in 1882. You lived then 
near the place I first went to school near Mrs. Robinsons. I shur woul 
love to visit my old child-hood Scenes of long, long ago. 

Bettie, Santa Rita and Hurley is working 1200 men at each place. 
I live right on the RR line that hauls to ore from Santa Rita to Hurle 
where they have machinery to extract every particle of copper from roc 
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John Finis Criswell letter to Bettie and Calvin Jones—continued. 

Grant County is the richest county in N. Mex. by 5 million dollars. 
50 miles to Deming where 40 thousand American Soldiers is camped. 
About 100 miles to the line of Old Mexico. Silver City is the County 
Seat. 

It gets pretty cold out here at times. I seen the trurmometer 
15 below zero 4 y e ^ r e ago in Jan. So I will close this time as I dont 
know if a man has to have (a) licence to publish a paper or not. 

J. F. CRISWELL 

(J.F. does not mention his oldest child, Oliver (Ollie) b. 1870 who 
was probably dead then) 
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In September 1967, Cecil Robert Criswell (son of David Robert Criswell) 
visited Clarence Martin Criswell (youngest son of John Finis Criswell, 
oldest brother of David Robert Criswell) in Tombstone, Arizona and 
afterwards received the following letter from Clarence's brother 
George Leroy Criswell. 

Alb (Albuquerque) N. Mex Sept. 16, 1967 
2442 Nalencia N E 

Mr. Cecil Criswell 
Dear Sir 
My Bro Clarence was over from Tomb Stone, Ariz A told me you had been 
to see him. If you ever come to Alb come & see me. I A Clarence are 
all that is left of my Bros, how was Your Father the only uncle 
I ever seen was uncle harve Criswell I have 3 sisters but we are all 
giting up in years I will be 81 in Jan 11 (1968) & is in good helth. 
I have ranch all of my life Sold the big ranch in 1949 hut (bought) a 
farm A farm for a few years. I came to N Mex in '94. hope to her from 
You As ever yours trully 
George L Criswell 
come A see me. 
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CRISWELL FAMILY 
Res iden ts of Motley County 1891 

iv - •:• •»..• \;»/>> r . _ i : \ i»9i 
T.i'.t* 'r*-::*. '•'•••• •••*•. *«.•. rd vshuh were :sii*,>ir.plfle'. fron. 

ncw>|i.t,H*r stones, ami friends. 
J L Aiken. W Ake. U* .Anderson. J.M. Askins. J.L Austin. 

G Austin. J P. Bagley. Frank Baxter. G Baxter. John Ballard. 
G.V Bains. W.W. Bains. Marion Blackerby. CD. Bird. A.L. 
Barton. P B Barton. J.C Burleson. J.L Burleson. Joe Beck* 
tiam R C. Beckham. A.D. Beauchamp. Hugh Beauchamp. J.F. 
Briscoe. Dan Browning. J.F. Brown. J. T. Baker. R.B. Bishop. 
CF Beaty. Jim Blackman. CM. Buchanan. C.W. Buchanan. 

C F Berry. B F Brock. J T. Cornett. H.H Campbell. LB. 
Campbell, joe Campbell. S.D Carlwright. John Cole. Dan 
Cribbs. C.V. Cribbs. PA. Cribbs. A. Coleman. P.G. Coleman, 
CF. Chandler. AG Caruth. A.B. Cooper. G.F. Coffman, W.R. 
Clemenis. J.B. Clements. J.W. Cowart. J.C Cowart. Pete 
Chandler. J.A Chztwood. WS Cook. C.W. Cook. J.W. Cooper, 
John Colthopr. Sam Chalk. Lee Criswell. E.E. Carter, J.W Car­
ter. 

T.N Cammack. J.B. Clifton. W.T. Cloyd. S.W Cassell. W.B. 
Currie. Tom Capehart. W.C Collins. E.A. Day, J.S. Day, W.H. 
Denny. E.H. Denny. J. Dooley. J W Dilliard. W.F. Darden, HA. 
Demic. W.A. Davidson. CC. Davidson. James Dalziel. Will 
Drace. Preston Drace, T N Dodson, Steve Daffern. TG. Dun­
can. D.S. Dunwoody. SA. Elliot. J.A. Elliot. D E. Elliot. WD. 
Elliot. A.B Echols. T.N. Edmondson. 

TB. Edmondson. TR. Edwards. E.A. Foster. J.F. Fullingim. 
R S Forbes. W F Forbes. J A. Frezell. W E Gaines. D B. Gar­
rison. W.F Garrison. D G. Griffith. J.E. Griffith, W.H. Graham. 
Frank Green. Arthur Gates. Walter Gates. W B arner. Frank 
Golden. Frank Gallagher. W.E. Hefner. L P Hefner. S.A. Hat-
ley. J H Hodges. EN Henry. D.H. Horton. SR. Harris, J.W. 
Hartris. T J Harrison. R C. Harper. W.L. Hood. EC. Heath, 
J D Hooper. CB Heffner. Wilson Heffner 

Bob Haley. Hobbs. DC HusUn. E.C Harris. H.F. Hotchkis. 
Will Hyatt. J D Harkey. L. 0. Hin_on. J.F. Hardy. RA. Haley. 
SL Hardest>. J.W. Ivester. FM Jinkins. J.W. Jinkins. S.L. 
Jinkins. J.A Jones. W.R. Jones, Wiley Jones, J.G. Jones. W.B. 

J-»k.-i>on. G G Johns. LAV Johns. J D. Jeffenes. J M ;,., 
E B Kimble. W.B Kimble. D C Keith. H.B. King. J.G d 
J.D. Kutch. D.F. Lancaster. J.C. Lancaster, G'.B. __;•_ 
E.J. Leslie. E.J. Leslie. Frank Larquey. 

J.W. Long. J.H Long. Lee Long. RE. Long. WD Long. 
Lanier, A.G. Ligertwood. Jack Luckett. Lai Lewis. Georgel 
J.P. Lovelady, Dr. James Mooney. C.P. Martin. W A Ma 
William Martin, Sr.. William Martin Jr., I.E. Martin, pw 
tin.G S. Martin, J.W. Martin. FM. Morrow, M.A. MiSwg 
Meacham. J.M. Miller. J.D. Miller. L.A. Medlin. Lum M 
J.L. Moore. DE. McDonald. W.T. McDonald. Jeff Morns 
ham Moses. C.W. Moore. Charles Morns, R.L Muore. 
Moore. 

W.W. Moore. J.E. Meador, M.E. Meador. RE MeadorJ 
Meador. Joe Meador. Pat McHugh. J.T. Montgomery.SK 
Cal). S.G. MacAdams, E. Madden. E.L. McBride. B MacE 
Henry Marhsall. Jim McCommis, W. Methley. A.L M_ 
LT. Maurey. W. McRea. Clarence Nugent. W.A. Newman, 
Newman, Stacy Newman. E.W. Nolan, J.J. Oates. J L Orr 
On*. W.E. Powers, J.H. Powers, Rev. J.C Powers, H B Pt 
ian, W.C Patterson. J.E. Pritchart, M.E. Pitts. L.A Pitts 
Pitts, J.B. Pierce. 

J.M. Price. Bill Parks. CD. Pipkin. ST. Pepper. SamP 
J.H. Russell, Ed Russell, J.J. Russell. LL. Russell,EJ 
F.H Ross, W.E. Reeves, F.C Rinehart. J.M. Rowden 
Reynolds, Eugene Raymond, CC. Ralls. W.H. Rattan. J.C 
erts, John Ross. Joe Rhodes, Joe Reese. RA. Sea?. R.J 
T.H. Seay. N.B. Seay. J.H. Shelton, Lee Smith. WM Smith 
Smith. CC. Smith, J.B. Sanders, Jonathan Sanders. W.N 
age, C.V. Simpson. G.B. Simpson. Bill Stafford. 

Nathan Shands. Charlie Stradley. Jay Stradley. J.H Sher 
D Sommerville. A.A. Tibs, J.H. Thompson. George ThoOfj 
J.C Turner. Till Thomas. J.C Thomas. C Taylor. S.F Ti 
I.G. Trimble, W.R. Tilson, John S. Thomas, John Vaughn 
White. J.W. White, W.A. Walton. MF. Warner. DC Wayli 
Wharton. N.A. Wray, B.C. Wray. W.J. Whit worth. Hamsun 
liams. W.M. Wason. G.T. Wagoner, R.S. Watson. C.P 
bourn. CE. Wideman. FM. Wells. B.C. Worswick. J.W 
taker. GA. Yantis. J.H. Zanick. 

' i . ' 
J 

•J 
J, 
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•_.:,ar ii'.:.Cc Ch_.rman 1937-1938; W. D. Macdougall 
Dundee1 Chairman 1939-1951. No chairman was indicated in 

the ar.'.ual reports of 19i«> through 1909. 

Payrol l of the Matadors 

Wago i bosses were the highest paid employees of the Matador 
Ranch more than a decade after its establishment in 1878 by ii. 
H Campbell. They received the astounding sum of $75 a month 
as compared with $.5 to S3S paid the other cowboys and the one 
woman employee. 

The following is the payroll of the Matador Ranch in 1890-91 
compiled by Miss Mary Keith. 

The preceding year, 1899. there were 69 men on the ranch 
payroll with a total monthly payroll of $1,989.25. 

S. T. Pepper. J. H. Smith, J. I. Briscoe, S. G. MacAdams, W. 
T. Goyd. J. M. Campbell, Frank Larquey, W. A. Walton, J. R. 
Moore.C W. Moore, J. H. Thompson. F. M. Wells, D. C Hustan, 
D. C Keith, J. P. Lovelady, D. S. Dunwoody, H. B. King; 

E. C. Harris, J. G. Kegler, W. Methley, J. F. Brown. J. T. 
Baker, A. L. Murphy, M. Blackerby, J. L. Austin. G. Austin. J. 
H. Hooper, R. C Beckham. H. F. Hotchkis, John Ballard, J. P. 
Beckham, Will Hyatt, B. G. Worswick, J. D. Harkey, L. 0. 
Hinson. Will Thomas, J. W. Whittaker; 

L. T. Muarey, J. W. White. W. C Collins. R. B Bishop. E. W. 
Molan. W. McRea. Charles Orr, J. E. Beckham, C. F. Beaty, 
Jim Blackman, G. W. Buchannan, D. Browning, J. F. Hardy. D. 
Somerville. Varner. W. Akes, Tom Capehart, John 0. Ross, D. 
H. Horton. C. F. Berry, R. A. Haley, Lee Crisswell. Frank 
Greear, Doc Edwards. John Jackson, Arthur Gates, Walter 
Gates; 

Dan Cribbs. E. Madden. Joe Reynolds. Stacey Newman. E. L. 
McBride. George Thomson. W. Garner, J. H. Qurick. Frank 
Gallagher, W. A. Newman. W. T. McDonald. Jesse Hams, C. M. 
Buchannan. Pat McHugh. Frank Golden, Mrs R. Zurick; 

W. B. Currie. Charles Morris. S. L. Hardisty. George Lutz. B. 
MacElroy. R. S. Watson (first bookkeeper). Joe Rhodes. B. F. 
Brock. Henry Marshall. J. A. Frezell; 

W. R. Tilson, G. W. Cook, Tom Harrison, Sam Prince. Tom 
Jones, Jack Luckett. Jim McCommis, Tom Sharard. S. W. 
Cassell. E. W. Nolan. John Martin. W. McRea. Newman. Jas. E. 
Beckham. Jim Blackwell. J. L. Moore, J. D. Kutch, Joe Reese, 
J. E. Pritchard. 

J. K. Fullingim. G. B Simpson. W. S. Cook. W. M. Miller. F. 
M. Morrow, J. C Roberts, Andy Jackson (broke horses), F. G. 
Baxter I blacksmith; D E. MacDonald and R. A. Haley (wagon 
driver). 

Payroll in 1H96-97 
In 1896-97 the following names were added to the ranch 

payroll: 
C T . Wafford (cook). Will Drace.Jim Meador (cook). Adam 

Drace ifence rider). Ned Richards (cook). 
As the ranch continued to grow, so did the list of employees 

and in 1898-99 the ranch gained another woman, Mrs. J. R. 
Moore on the payroll as well as the following men: 

C R. Adams ranges). Tom Barley (fence rider), P. E. L*e 
'ranges). Rav McLine ranges). W. E. Parks (Pitch Fork Kid) 
Calvin George. Henry Cook?R. J. Seay. A. D. H. Ligertwood. 
Jim Swaringin. Parker Randolph, Lai H. Lewis. Bert Browning. 
John Morriss, Tom McNutt, Dave Carpenter. Shelton McCall. 
Will Cammack. J. P. Plumlee and J. R. Moore. 

Payroll in 1900 
The following new names were on the ranch payroll in 1900: 
J. M. Jackson. C H. Harper. A. L. Murphy. E. C Harris. J. F. 

Leonard. Ed Russell. B. R. RusseU. T. G Duncan. Wa_;c 
Hooper, James Dal.iel, John MacBain. J. C I__ncaster. D. G 
MacKenzie, Sid Dunwoody. George Davis; 

Pete Courtney, Walter Gower, Joe Meador. George RusseU 
George Thomas, E. Simpson and Mrs MacDonald: 

Later His tory 

In August 1946 when John Stevens became superintendent of 
the Matador Division of the Matador Land and Cattle Companv. 
Ltd.. he had been preceeded by four other men. H. H Campbell, 
the first superintendent, had served from 1882 to 1890. Arthur G. 
Ligertwood. an Englishman, acted in the capacity from 1891 to 
1909. and J. M. Jackson from 1910 to 1923. Maurice J. Reilly who 
served from 1923 until his death in 1946 was the fourth. John 
Stevens the last superintendent, stayed on with the Scotch 
company until it was sold to the American holders in A-igust 
1951. 

The sale of the Matador I_ahd and Cattle Company was 
comtemplated long before any actual transactions were made. 
As early as 1945. scattered land in the Croton breaks were sold tc 
the Pitchfork, and other isolated tracts of several sections per 
tract were disposed of in Dickens, Floyd Motley, and Cottle 
Counties. 

Still, five years later, rumors of the sale of the entire ranch 
came as a surprise to most people-and as a heartbreak t( 
many. The Matador Land and Cattle Company had become ai 
institution to the people of Motley Cnunty-a vast ranching 
empire which was in some way a part of the life of every in 
dividual in the area. Nevertheless, in June of 1951, t-azarf 
Freres and Company Ltd. of New York a firm of invest men 
brokers representing themselves an a number of America! 
buyers, made an offer of $23 70 per share for the 800.00 out 
standing shares of the Matador Land and Cattle Company Ltd . 
In July, the offer was accepted. The great Matador Ranch wa 
no more. 

The disposition of land in the Croton breaks and in the fou 
above mentioned counties had been handled as a straight lan-
sale The difference between the 1914 evaluation of the 42,00 
acres and its 1951 sale price created a sizeable tax problem tha 
the company wanted to avoid a second time. Therefore, th 
breakup of the more than 400.000 acres remaining in th 
Matador Division was facilitated by the sale of corporate share 
in the companv. Buyers in turn organized corporations an-

.».*>**? 
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Cowboys on the Matador Ranch about 11115. Croup include, two wagons. At left 
diagonally upward toward the right are 1. to It: Lon Vivian; Harry McFarland 
(horse wrangler»; Monk Ituckcr and Hill Bucket'. Downward toward the right, the 
next three men are Hob C'riswetl: Htrnice l lurkev; and Jack Smith Center baek 
l_ H o y \ \ I _ I \ f l_nkt '< l hy t h e I w u l l a r r o l d b o y s . 'I In- f i v e m e n _t e x t r e m e b a e k <>II 
I h c r t K h l u i ' v t - l o l t i H a i i K T l i i i i i i u n i ; UUJr l*»t»Hj U u l k i - r VMMtaiai- ; Ci i lUer t K . - . t l i ; 

and Buddy Plumlee. In the foreground beginning at the left of the picture a r e L to 
R: Delmar McNemar; a horse wrangler ; Lee Neeley; Slim Black, in front; Hous­
ton Schweitzer, in front on while horse with black hat rmisrti; Jet Lewis (behind 
Houston with white hat ra i sed) ; Charlie Fullingini; Bob Alley, wagon boss of one 
of t h e o u t f i ts ; Mig J o h n S o u t h w o r t h , t h e o t h e r %>va_!on b o - _ . T h e _*fca_-_-_ b o y in a t e x -
• r e m e ri*<lii M a n tM-hiiid I»«K J o h n is u n i d e n t i f i e d . 
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Tbe John Henry Criwell FamUy 

John Henry Criswell ;md wife, Lettitia Josephine 'Jones) 
Criswell arrived in Motley County in 1896. They settled on a 
ranch at Four Corners, cast of Whiteflat. In 189U they moved 
their family to Matador. 

Both Mr. and Mrs. Criswell were members of pioneer Texas 
families. The Criswell family migrated to Texas from Kentucky 
in 1839. They settled on a Mexican Land Grant in the Matagorda 
Bay area in a Stephen F. Austin Colony. Two sons. William 
Vanoy and Leroy fought in the Texas Revolution. William was 
the father of John Henry and Leroy the father of Lee, who was 
also an early day settler in Motley County. 

The Criswells were married in Fayette County where both of 
them were born. They followed the pattern of many young mar­
ried people of moving West and in this case also north. Due to 
the drought of 1886. John Henry and other male members of the 
family made a reconnaissance north to the Red River and west 
searching for better pasturage for their cattle. They found grass 
knee high to a man. and learned that people were moving to the 
Panhandle area of Texas. John moved his family, now six in 
number, first to Collingsworth County and later to Childress 
County. His son Albert was the first white boy born in the newly 
organized county. Their youngest child. Florence Myrtle, was 
two years old when they arrived in Motley County. 

The Criswell children attended school at Whiteflat. They rode 
horseback each day. On the cold winter mornings trying to wrap 
up enough to keep from freezing seemed almost impossible. The 
girls especially had trouble trying to keep their skirts from be­
ing made into balloons by the winter wind. A young man from 
Floyd County was one of the teachers. 

In 1899 Mr. Criswell was roping a steer when by some chance 
the rope intended for the steer fell on his neck. He was jerked 
from his horse and dragged a great distance. A friend made a 

. quick horseback ride to Childress, sixty miles away, to get a 
doctor, but Mr. Criswell died before the doctor arrived. At the 
time of his death, he had land holdings in the south and south 
eastern section of the county as well as his original ranch at 
Four Corners. 

Mrs. Criswell was active in several organizations in Matador. 
She was a devout member of the Baptist Church where she 
taught Sunday School classes. She was a charter member and 
the first president of the Baptist Woman's Society. She was also 
a charter member and the first Grand Matron of the Rebecca 
Lodge. She spent much time in helping to nurse the sick. She met 
an untimely death in 1909 when she contracted blood poison from 
working with a young mother who died from blood poisoning 
after childbirth. 

The John Criswell family grew to adulthood in Matador and 
married members of other Motley County pioneer fami!'--s 
Alice married Albert Johnson who died of typhoid fever in l_h9 
Later Alice married Homer Sheats. Claud married Betty 
Darden (Darden Canyon was named for her family). Effie mar­
ried Ransom Pinckney Moore, an early publisher and mer­
chant. Ora married Roy McLane, a Matador Ranch cowboy. 
Lena married Lute Davis, pioneer cowboy and later carpenter. 

• Lettie married Ernest Herring. Albert was a bachelor. Myrtle 
married Frank Stubblefield in Pecos County where she was 
teaching school. 

Grandchildren of the couple were Alma Johnson •'married 
Robert Hoyt), Kathryn Sheats fmarried Murray Johnson). 
Esther Criswell 'Cleveland), Edna Criswell (Blankenship-. 
John Gaud Criswell. Mary Criswell <Lee). Jessie Criswell 
(Harold), John Moore (married Lila Bird), William Ranse 
Moore (married Velma Walters), Olive Moore 'married John 
Russell), Josephine Moore 'married John Hamilton). Marjona 
Moore 'married J.M. Harper) and Ray Peyton Moore who was 
killed when he was thrown from a horse as a child: Raymond 
Davis (married Hettie Patton), Donald Davis <married Carol 
Allen), Lena Mae Davis (married Dan Ellis', and Juandell 
Davis Hicks B y Josephine Hamilton 

The L.V. (Lee) Criswell Famll? 

Mrs. Priscilla (King) Blackshear was a widow with eight 
children when she moved to Motley Co. Her children were 
William Thomas. Catherine 'Katie" (rn. Charlie O m . 
Elizabeth "m. Sam Graves). Viola; George •,Tede" <m. Mary 
Davis). James 'Pete" (m. Lantie Hensley), and Ora "Daby" 
<m. Jim Orr) 

Trie Criswell girl.. Back row L to R: Myrtle (Stubblefield); Lena (Davis); Effie i Moore). Seated: Ora iMcljne*: Mice 
'Sheats); and Lettie (Herring). They were the daughters >if John Henry Cris * ell. 
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Back row L to R: Oda Criswell (Mrs. George Birchfield); Mrs. Lee Criswell; Tose Criswell (Mrs. Riley A. Day); Mary Davit 
(Mrs. Tede Blackshear). Seated: Pete and Tede Blackshear. twins; and Sam Ballard. Pete's brother-in-law. 

Mrs. Blackshear married Lee Criswell on December 11. 1895. 
They had two daughters: Oda "Odie" (m. George Birchfield), 
and Zora Lee "Tose" tm. Riley Day). 

Tose Day remembers that her father always wore a white hat 
and bib overalls. Mr. Criswell raised corn, and had an orchard 
and a garden. He worked for A. B. Echols and freighted with T. 
E Long. He drove 6 mules to the wagon and rode one of the 
mules on the right side of the wagon-guiding the others. Their 
old dog. Jack, straddled the mule behind him and put his paws 
on the back of the saddle. If he couldn't go with Lee hed "go to 
town and stay with T. G. Duncan." 

Mr. Criswell died March 1. 1926 Mrs. Criswell who was born 
in Kentucky April 24.1854. died December 20.1935. 

Lee Criswell 

The L.W. CroweU FamUy (See Tipton.) 

The Bob Crump Family 

life with four boys has its little moments. Jon, who ran away 
from home at the age of two, kindly declined any help from the 
policeman his mother had frantically called, as a baby, Kevin 
tried to eat a fish hook; and the atrocities committed by Bobby 
were legion. 

Then there was the evening the family cat brought home a half 
eaten parrot. Bob was outside playing hall with his second son, 
Randy, when a little old lady tottered into their yard. "I've lost 
my pet parrot," she said. "You haven't by any chance seen one 
around, have you0" 

Now Bob has always been taught that a lie is an abomination 
unto the Lord, but he quickly calculated that it's also a very 
present help in time of trouble. "'No-no," he stammered, 
"haven't seen a parrot-no-uh-no parrot." The woman started 
to leave when the voice of "Honest Abe" piped loud and clear. 
"Sure we have, Dad!" Randy said. 'Don't you remember'-". 
Our cat brought one home and ate it Here's one of the feath­
ers!" 

Bob Crump is the son of the former Naoma Mitchell, and the 
grandson of Mr. and Mrs. Grover C. Mitchell He is married to 
the former Mary Pelfry. They reside in Phoenix, Arizona. 

f3 

_rW*J 
The Bob Crump Family L to R Back row: Jon: Randy 

and Kevin. Seated are Bob and Mar\ and Bobby. 
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Feb. 24, 1936. 

Mr. D. R. Criswell , 
Buckholtz, Texas* 

Dear Sirs 

Please pardon the liberty we are taking in addressing 

you, but in the past we have done considerable research work 

in regard to the history of Fayette Coginty, this includes 

the Criswell family. 

Of these there seems to have been two brothers, one was 

William V. Criswell, a Hero of the Battle of San Jacinto, and 

Leroy V. Criswell, his brother, whp participated in the Siege 

and Capture of Bexar, $X*C* *rf"3t A> ̂ o f t d o 3 5 > 

We have just about all the information we desire about 

Wm. V. Criswell, but next to nothing about Leroy V. Criswell 

ind we understand from Mrs. Jones of Muldoon that you are the 

son of our hero Leroy V. Criswell nnd that you still have his 

discharge. 

The State of Texas and tho undersigned would be very 

greatful to you if you would give us all information that you 

can about your father. 

Our story of Wm. V. Criswell is printed in the La Grange 

Journal on date of Feb. 13, 1936 and we sent a copy of it to 

our old friend 17, Ton Jones of Muldoon. 

Please let us hear from you. 

E-29 
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Bmokholts, Texas* F e t ' y . BTti_,isot|,« 

Houston Wade, J j 

£914 Morse S t . , 
Houston* foxes . ' / ';'' 
• # 

Deer B i n I a a In r eoe lo t of yours of the 84th Inst , 
making i n q u i r i e s aa to LKBOT *- gBI8________ii ««* * a w ^ 1 ' * i U ••? 
t h a t X an a soa of tho s a l e LlftoK T. BSlBWlLI, and I waa TT yean 
of ago on l a a t Oot. 10th,1986, and X waa born near old f l a ton la 
In Fayet to oounty. Toxas. 

With roforonoo t o my f a t h e r 9 a diaoharge from tho a n y 
a r BlSTiR o r OAMP WdXM. w i l l aay t h a t tho onoloood l a a oopy of 
tho or .fri-nai fllsohnrgw whioh X ooplod more than f o r t y (40) yoart 
a§o, the org lnn l waa than In tho pooaooalon of my doooaaod BroM 
Henry tt, Orlawoll of Yoakum Texaa. 

The o r i g i n a l diaoharge nay bo in tho possession of 
B i l ly (OB W.H.) Orlawoll now of Yoakum,Tox. 

Xn ao f a r aa X know my fa ther ,Leroy f .Or l swol l , f i r s t 
s e t t l e d a t BLACKJACK Spring* near what lo now Muldoon, and 
tho roa f to r sowed and s e t t l e d near old F l a t i n l a In Fayet te Co. 

Loroy ?. Orlawoll dlod in the yoar 1066 a t whioh time 
X waa about 64 yours of a g e . 

My fa thor i a burlod i n what waa known ao the DUFF 
g ra r e yard or o e w t e r y whioh la about * to 1 mile 3 .S . from tho 
v i l l a g e known aa PRABA whioh l a 3 , i . , f ron f l a t o n l a . 

I j rjoo_.l-.ut lon i s t h a t _v f a t h o r ' s <_ruro haa no marker 
by whioh i t oould be l d o n t l f l e u from otfcor g r a roa . 

My antecedenta oame to Toxas, In the yoar 182V, and 
the family oonsinteu of ny grand f a tho r Crlswoll who wont on a 
business t r i p to Yj.% soon a f to r oomlng to Voxcis, and ther* died 
in Ky. while he waa t h e r e 9 and in so fa r as I can romombor hie 
f o a i l y cons i s ted of the fol lowing sons and daughters to w i t : 

Ii_KC V. Cr.IHHil.L: *ILLIAJ' V. JLIVTVH.: JOHJT Y. 0KX8*.*_XLt 
Juii (J . j_.) Qfcl». IOI:JAKES CF-TBT.-SX A?:i) JAC7 OMiiT-.-LL, SONS, 
AI'U r c ujdP_:?.ERa, n r . OAM^AOR ctti.-nsLi. ABJD MARY C;<ISYKLL. 

Hy f a t h e r ' s uisofchrpodf I did not make a mistake in 
daioo) shows to have boon issued HOT. 84th,_8^6, whilo In your 
l o t t o * to oa you o t a t o t h a t ho,Loroy V. Crlswol) , was a t the tak­

ing of 3__.>._tii (ton Antonio) on £oo. 5th to 10th, 1036. 
But h <*>•*•» a Tr»r, rny t n t h n r m*y *h#.w» r*f****tned at OAW? 'JIT*.S 

for somo tlmo a f t e r h i s dlsohargo was Issuod t o him. 

i Willlam / . Cr»s*ol l i s ourled in tho soma grave yard or 
oonotory In whioh niy ru thor Is burlod as sti_tod abovo, end • UHaa 
V.'Jriewo] l ' a gr*\\'<\ oa." bo o a o l y l o c i t e d , as I t had oonsldorsolo 
rock and oenont work plaood ovor i t* 

thanking you for your Madness ana hoping t h a t I hare 
horoln glwon you suoh Information r o l a t l r o to Loroy V. Criswell 
as you wish to have in ycur H i s to r i c a l rosoaruh. and with kind 
lognrds mo. oont wishes , I remain. 

Yours t r u l y , 
7) ' ' ?A ' 

i . 0 . Sox 2 , 

Buokholto, 'Jsxas. 
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Hnu«-ton, T e x a s . .; • i 
Feb* 2 9 , 1 9 3 6 . 

I ' r . D. R. C r i s w e l l , 
B u c k h o l t s , T e x - s 

• i 
. i 

ii 
D e - r Mr. C r i s r e l l s 

( » 
• ! 

F i r j - t o f f 1 want t o t h - n k you f o r y o u r k ind l e t t e r t o \ ; 
i 

me d a t e of F e b r u a r y 2 7 , 1 9 3 6 , -nd most of - 1 1 do we w-n t t o ( 

1 
t h a n k you f o r t h o v o l t h of i n f o r m a t i o n c o n t - i n e d t h e r e i n . ; 

3y way of c o m p e n s a t i o n 1 am i n c l u d i n g h e r e - copy of 

my s h o r t b i o g r phy of t h e h e r o of S^n J a c i n t o , 7 / i l l i a m V. • 

C r i s w e l l , t h i c i n c l u d e s i l l t h . t I knew up t o t h - t d a t e on 

t h i s f - r a l l y , ! 

J h a v e w r i t t e n a b o o k l e t • The_p•\2__on-^en___f_Zayet_t e 

Counter, which i n c l u d e s some i n . ' o r m a t i o n a bou t t h e K!ier P r i s ­

o n e r s , ' l s o J am t h e c o - u t h o r of a volumn The_Hi s^o rv^of 

jf________i_.__C__u_.J-_. 9 3 m e n t i o n t h e r e f a c t s t o r h o r you why I am 

so much i n t e r f t ad i n t h e h i s t o r y of t h e f l o r i u s p e o p l e of 

o u r o l d home t h » i h e l p e d so much t o m-ke T*ex-»s h i s t o r y . 

I have ni 'de •• copy of t h o h o n o r - b i o i s c h a r r j e of y o u r 

F a t h e r , L e r o y V. C r i s w e l l , so I -* m r e t u r n i n g t o you your c o p y . 

A copy of i t 1 so r o e s t o t h e S t a t e r e c o r d s . I wonder i f t h i s 

d i ccha r g e r e v e a l s t o you a s m;>ch a s i t d o e . t o mc ? From t h e 

d - t e of e n l i s t m e n t rhown t h e r e can be l i t l _ e doubt bu t t h a t 

y o u r F a t h e r a n s w e r e d t h e c a l l f o r h e l p c a r i e d by "Old P a i n t ' 1 

C - l d w e l l , »n t h - t t he J o i n e d C o l . John H. Moore nd went t o 

t h e r e s c u e of G o n z a l e s -nd t o o k p a r t i n tho o p e n i n g of h o s ­

t i l i t i e s t h e r e on O c t o b e r 2 , 1 8 3 5 ; noc on ly , t h a t but he i s 

shown a s a member of t h e a r t i l l e r y company - t h a t tne-ns t h a t 
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h e was d e t a i l e d t o h e l p man t h e l i t t l e cannon t h a t wie t h e 

c a u s e of a l l t h e r u m p u s . 

Up t o t h e t i n s t h e b a t t l e of C o n c e p t i o n vaa f o u g h t t h e 

T t x i a n army had o a l y o a e c a n n o n , t h e l i t t l e f o u r p o u n d e r , -

a t t h e b~<t: le of C o n c e p t i o n t h e y c a p t u r e d a b e a u t i f u l e i p h t 

p o u n d e r w i t h which t h e y d i d such t e r r i b l e e x e c u t i o n d u r i n g 

t h e s i e g e of B e x a r . They c a p t u r e d s e v e r a l guns l a t e r , a f t e r 

t h e b u t t l e of C o n c e p t i o n and t h e O r a e s F i r . h t . 

1 wish I c o u l d send you «*• copy or my s t i r y a b o u t John 

I n g r a m nd l s o my b i o g r a p h y of Dr . W i l l i < m F. S m i t h . I t 

i s j u s t p o s s i b l e t h a t t h e Li C r - n ^ o J o u r n a l e n f u r n i s h you 

w i t h my s t o r y -«bout S m i t h ; i t w i l l h e l p you to u n d e r s t a n d 

t h e e n t i r e c ^ m p i i g n . - * 

As a m a t t e r of s u g g e s t i o n t why no t w r i t . • l e t c r of i n - • 

q u i r e y t o M i s s H a r r i e t S r a i t h e r , Box D D. C - . i t o l S t a t i o n , n t 

A u s t i n , T e x a s , - n d r e q u e s t he *.o s c n i you . h e o f f i c i a l army 

r e c o r d s of Leroy V. C r i s w e l l , I have f u r n i s h e d you th - t t of '.Vm 

V. C r i s w e l l and p a r t of t h a t of Jhr. Yancy C r i s w e l l . 

I would l i k e t h e b e s t i n t h e wor ld t o h ^ a r from you " g a i n 

-ind 1 w i l l be c l a d t o g i v e you >11 t h e i n f o r m a t i o n i p o r r e s s 
• 

i n e x c h a n g e fo r *.h-»t you know. T h e r e a r e sev r a l morn men I 

w-n t t o ask you a b o u t , ono of them i s John S lack of o l Elm 

Grove communi ty : he fou,*:ht a t t h o b a t . l e of San J a c i n t o • i t h 

',7m V C r i s w e l l . 
Your ' t r u l y , 

2314 _!orso 3 t . ^klW±.?ki.<h^lU.._ 

P. S i - I f you h a w of »ny c c r ^ n n i n t e r e s t e d _n my b o o k l e t 
The D- •**:'*• a l»en **• f F a y e t t e C o u n t y , g i v r th--,n*' my n - m e . 
T h i s b o o u l o t c o l l s f o r one d o l l a r , p e s t p - i d . 

•7a d o 
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. :• joout caxe 6_*»ng Tne * *o young-
'-••und tnerrseives alone at Home one day 
never aaving had ail the cake that they 

k . to eat. they decided to remedy the 
i ton by baking one Neither Knew the first 
*• about baking, but they decided tne more 
ir they used the better't would be. The 
: was a diaster. of course, and the worst 

was when their mother discovered the 
te of the precious sugar — she never 
oped the boys but left that up to ^er hus-
d. The boys were very contrite and begqeTJ 
not to tell on them, but she told them she 
; going to tell their father and she wouldn't 
k down on her word However, the good 
avior and contnteness of the two little fel-
s tugged at her tender feelings until she 
npromised as best she could without giving 
:o their pleas. Just before their father re-
led she gave each ot them an extra pair of 
Us to provide some padding in the area 
ere the blows would be felt. 
Jewey Turner engaged in the lumber busi­
es on a rather extensive basis during the 
ties and founded the D. E. Turner Oil Com­
ly in 1945, which he operated until his 
ath and which his family carries on today. 
He was interested in fishing and sports and 
•s a familiar figure at ball games with his 
xer. Patsy at his side. He encouraged young 
opie in sports and education and many 
jng men who strayed afoul of the law knew 
tt they could get a helping hand from him. 
my people who found it hard to make ends 
jet at times were carried on the books at the 
)re for long periods of time. Some neve 
id these aaccounts, but from time to time. 
en after many years, people repaid h im. 
ar his death in 1972. his family received 
_ny testimonials from people he had helped 
id tor kindnesses he had done that his family 
:ver knew about. 

His zest for life was manifested in his smg-
3 and for many years he was a familiar figure 
church choirs at regular services and in the 
h Sunday singings which were widely 
tended. These choirs used the shaped note. 
.cred harpe's type hymnals. 
His family consists of D E Turner. Jr. 
ommy) and his wife Adeline Messic Turner, 
.zelle Shumaker and husband Clyde W. 
-.maker. Marie Snider and husband Clate 

'er. His wife Ruby is now retired. There are 
Asndchildren: Mark Shumaker. Gena Shu-
^er Pries. Michael Turner. Alex Turner and 

ihy Snider. 
: jrces Family records and personal knowledge. 

— Mozelle Turner Shumaker 

THE VANNOY FAMILY 
1049 

The genealogy "James Hook and Virginia 
Her" published in 1925 contains about all that 
; yet known about the first generation of the 
annoy family in the United States. That 
ource states that the Vannoy family is of 
"jguenot extraction, the early family having 
ed from France to Holland and later to En-
land during the reign of Charles I. The name 
i France was spelled Vannoise or Venois. The 

later were names of distinguished families in 
France during the 16th and 17th centuries. 

The emigrant to America. John Vannoy set­
tled on Statler Island. New York. The best 
records indicate his children to be: John. Fran­
cs . Abram. Rachel. Catherine, and Sarah. The 
second generation traced is through Francis 
Vannoy. The children of Francis Vannoy were 
John. Hannah. Cornelius, and Andrew. The 
third generation traced is through John Van­
noy. The children of John Vannoy were 
Rachel. Andrew Vannoy who married Susan­
nah Shepherd October 18, 1779. Abraham, 
Francis. Nathaniel who married Elizabeth Ray 
of Ashe County. Hannah. Daniel. Susannah, 
and Katherine. 

The fourth generation is traced through 
Andrew Vannoy and Nathaniel Vannoy. 
Andrew was a captain in the N.C. Regiment, 
Revolutionary War. and Nathaniel was a 
sergeant major on the staff of Col Ben Cleve­
land. Both Andrew and Nathaniel participated 
in the Battle ot Kings Mountain Nathaniel Van­
noy was granted 100 acres of land on Decem­
ber 15,1798 on a branch of Lewis Fork Creek. 
On December 10, 1802 and November 28. 
1812, two additional tracts containing 20 
acres and 50 acres respectively both on the 
waters of Lewis Fork Creek were granted to 
him. Nathaniel Vannoy and his wife were 
founding members of the New Hope Baptist 
Church. The churcn was constituted June 26. 
1830 to serve the people of Lewis Fork Creek. 
The children of Nathaniel Vannoy and wife. 
Elizabeth, were John. Joel, Sarah. Jesse, 
Andrew. Elizabeth. Jane. Ann. and Susannah. 

The fifth generation is traced through Jesse 
Vannoy. The children of Jesse Vannoy were 
Elizabeth Ray. Joe. Eden. Sarah Jane, John 
Humphrey, Katherine Ann. Wiiliam Kilby. Jes­
se Whitfield. James Nathaniel. Abraham Wes­
ley. Frances Susannah. Andrew Jackson, 
Mary Caroline, Franky Matilda, and Anderson. 

The sixth generation is traced through 
Anderson Vannoy. Anderson Vannoy died in 
1862 at Winchester. VA. from wounds re­
ceived at the Battle of South Mountain in the 
War between the States. The children of 
Anderson and Martha Wheeler Vannoy were 
Richard Leroy, Catherine (Eliza). James New­
ton. Mary C . Doane. and Hester 

The seventh generation is traced through 
James Newton Vannoy born July 6.1857; died 
March 17.1926; married Cornelia Bumgarner 
October 1881. Cornelia, born September 28. 
1865, died April 9 .1936. was the daughter of 
Adam and Polly (Brown) Bumgarner. They had 
a family of sixteen children as follows: George 
Everett. Hannibal Roscoe. Mary Ethel. Robert 
Glenn. John Thomas. William Andrew. Jesse 
Albert. Mattie Mae. Virginia Dare. William 
Raynor, Mintie Hester, Benedict Arnold, 
Richard Newton. Joseph Conrad. Carl John­
son, and Clyde Smith. 

Source: James Hook and Virginia Bier publisned in 
1925. 

— Thomas G. Vannoy 

THE VANNOYS and RAYS 
105(1 

.John Vannoy, grandson ot John Vanncy* 
and his wife Susannah Anderson went from 
New Jersey to S.C. about 1735-6. and after 
several years moved to the "Jersey Settle­
ment" in Rowan Co., N.C. There John sym­
pathized wi th the "Regulators" ' in their 
opposition to unjust taxes and the service fe: 
policy. After the Battle of Aimance in 177' 
many homes along the Yadkin River were de­
stroyed, including the Vannoy home, and the;, 
went up-nver to the Wilkes area. 

Children were Rachel, b. 1741; Andrew, b 
12 Aug. 1742. m. 18 Oct. 1779 to Susannah 
Shepherd, d. 9 Oct. 1809; Abraham b. 15 Jan 
1745: Francis, b. 13 Aiiq. 174fi rl 26 J_. 
18?? in Knox Qo . KY, Nathaniel, b. 16 FeS. 
W4_, d. '_. July "1835. married Elizabeth, 
daughter of William and Elizabeth Ray. Har.- • 
nah. b. 26 Mar. 1751; Daniel, b. 22 Feb. 1752 
m. 2 Oct. 1779 Sarah Hickerson; Susannah, _ 
6 July 1754; and Katherine. b. 26 Dec. 1755 

Nathaniel Vannoy lived most of his life ir 
Wilkes Co. He served as Sgt. Major to Co:. 
Benj. Cleveland at the Battle of King's Mtn. ana 
in skirmishes with British. Tories and Indians 
He became a planter. Register of Deeds fc: 
Wilkes Co. 1814-15 and. finally, a Baptts: 
evangelist. He died at the home of his daughter 
Sarah Cleveland in Greenville. SC. Nathaniel 
married Elizabeth Ray ca. 1773 in Surry Co. 
They were "founder members" of New Hcpi 
Baptist Church in 1830. After a full life s t ) 
predeceased him and was buried, in a Yate" 
family cemetery on Lewis Fork. Her parent*. 
Wi l l iam and Elizabeth Ray. came from 
Amherst Co.. VA. ca. 1772. 

On 1 June 1778. Nathaniel. Daniel a n : 
Andrew Vannoy were among those appoints'. 
"jurors" to 'lay out" roads in the county. ' . 
the 1782 tax list and the 1790 census Elizabc' 
Ray appears as head of family; apparently W-: 
liam died between 1778 & 1782. 

Their son Col.tlesse Ray (b. 1760. Amher:. 
Co. VA) married Elener Baker 8 Jan. 1782. K. 
was active in the organization of Ashe Co. froi 
Wilkes in 1799. 

Daughter Ann Ray and her husband Nathan­
iel Vannoy had nine children: John VannG 
b. 22 May 1775. m. 1st Elizabeth Kilby. an . 
died ca. 1796 in Missouri. Joel Vannoy. b. ? 
Feb. 1777. moved to Pike Co. KY; Sarah Van­
noy. b. 16 Jan. 1779, d . 23 July 1856 in SC, 
m. 31 Aug. 1801 to Jerimiah Cleveland, son . ' 
Robert Cleveland; Jesse Vannoy. b. 2 Jul, 
1781. d. 26 Nov. 1875, m. 12 Jan. 1804 Mar 
" P o i l y " Kilby Shepherd, widow of Joh." 
Shepherd; Andrew Vannoy. b. 4 Nov. 1783. .. 
22 Jan. 1869. m. 1st Elizabeth Degan in N*. 
and 2nd Jane McMichales in TN. He was \ 
soldier, school teacher. Baptist minister an -
Clerk of Court in Bedford Co. TN. Elizabeth 
Vannoy. b. 4 March 1786. m. 1806 Neil Pat­
ton. Jane Vannoy. b. 20 Aug. 1788. m • 
Thurston. They moved to Arkansas. Ann Van­
noy. b. 4 May 1790. d . 21 May 1873. m. _ 
Jan. 1809 to John Foster, son of Thomas an 
Elizabeth Jones Foster. Ann and John lived o 
a plantation on the Yadkin, some nine miles 
east of Wilkesboro and had 15 children 
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•'.annah Vannoy. b. 4 Nov. 1790. a twin to 
\ m. a Parks. 
jurces Geo Micha iE i ie f by Hooks: Hunterdon Co. 

Rowan Wilkes and Ashe Co. records: King's Mtn 
s H e r o e s ' b y Draper 

— Mrs. John M. Richards. Jr. 

IANNIBAL ROSCOE VANNOY 
1051 

I t Ross Vannoy was born 9 April 1884 and 
d 3 September 1974. During his ninety 
*s. he left a significant influence for de-

.ndants, friends, and community. 
He was the son of James Newton and Cor-
' i (Bumgarner) Vannoy of the Purlear com-
•."lity. He left his fathers farm at an early age 

i d began selling insurance in North Wilkes-
AO. New Hope Baptist was his church. He 
:s married to Ruth Ella McNeil, daughter of 

Cornton Sylvester and Eda Elizabeth 'McNeil) 
CNiel 10 May 1914. 
/-fter his marriage his father-in-law, Thorn-

en McNiel. brought Ross Vannoy into his 
jsiness. the North Wilkesboro Coca-Cola 

.owing Company. He worked there until after 
•;.ih Vannoy's death 11 January 1919. 

Their three children were (1) Ella Sue Van-
.oy Colvard. (2) Annie Louise Vannoy Gray. 
:r,". (3) H.R. Vannoy. Jr.. called "Johnny." 
"'formation about them may be found in their 
. other's biography, located elsewhere in this 
cox. 

The Vannoy lineage is rich in history. Ross 
ennoy 's grandfather. Anderson, the 
cnges t of fourteen children, died in Win-
c .s ter , Virginia, after being wounded at 
S: th Mountain as a Confederate soldier. His 
"•at-grandfather, Jesse, was a soldier in the 

volutionary War, serving in the regiment of 
1!. Benjamin Cleveland. He was granted land 
- his military services. Jesse Vannoy was a 
nding member of the New Hope Baptist 

.lurch :n 1830. 
The Vannoy family is of Huguenot extrac-

cn , having fled from France to Holland. Later 
: :y went to England during the reign of King 
C irtes I. The emigrant to America, who set-
*..d on Staten island, was John Vannoy. who 

•_ fought under Oliver Cromwell and was 
ated to him by marriage. He was the great. 

T..at-grandfather of Jesse Vannoy. 
After the death of his wife. Ross Vannoy 

" .ved to Ashe County in 1923 where he had a 
: jb-tranchise for Coca-Cola, a distributorship 
: r Gulf Oil. and he founded the Dr Pepper 
' .tiling Company of West Jefferson in 1934. 

He returned to Wiikes County to court and 
~arry Lena Florence Poplin, eldest child of 
.-"et and Kushat (Harris) Poplin of Ronda. 
Lena Vannoy was born 19 July 1901. and she 

d Ross Vannoy were married 13 September 
C25. Her father was a member of the Wilkes 
r junty Board of Commissioners. 

Ros. Vannoy's daughter, Ella Sue, moved 
.th him to Ashe County, while his other 

' ]ughter. Annie, remained living with her 
• jnt. Mamie McNiel. in North Wilkesboro. 
. "ihnny had died in 1924. 

Lena and Ross Vannoy had two sons. (4) 
. *.mes Leet Vannoy, who was bom 4 October 
VJ26. and (5) Raymond Kyle Vannoy. who 

was born 9 May 1928. Leet Vannoy resides in 
AustinvilEe. Virginia, and is married to Mildred 
Dean Phipps. They are the parents of (1) Patri­
cia Vannoy Inge. (2) Edith Vannoy. and (3) Neil 
Vannoy. Kyle Vannoy lives in West Jefferson 
and is married to Shirley Hartzog. His children 
from former marriages are (2) Teressa Van­
noy. (3) Phyllis Vannoy. (4) Michael Vannoy, 
and (5) Susan Vannoy. His oldest son, (1) 
James Kyle Vannoy died in 1978. 

Ross Vannoy was the second eldest of six­
teen children, all of whom were born at Pur­
lear. 

( I) George Everette Vannoy was born 21 
July 1882 and died 18 July 1945. He was 
married 18 March 1916 to Julia Florence Max­
well. They had two children and two grandchil­
dren. (2) H. Roscoe came next and his lineage 
is found above. (3) Mary E. Vannoy was born 1 
March 1886 and died 9 May 1960. She was 
married to James Harrison Davis 29 April 
1906. Their children number ten and their 
grandchildren, twenty-six. (4) Robert Glenn 
Vannoy was born 16 May 1888 and died 1 
August 1974. He was married 8 August 1915 
to Lessie Phillips. They were the parents of six 
children and seven grandchildren. 

(5) John Thomas Vannoy was born 23 De­
cember 1889 and died 26 February 1975. He 
was married 26 September 1915 to Lora Ellen 
Watts. They had five children and eleven 
grandchildren. (6) William Andrew Vannoy 
was born 5 November 1891 and died 5 August 
1927. He married Margie Lee Dosse and had 
two sons and seven grandchildren. (7) Jesse 
Albert Vannoy was born 27 March 1893 and 
died 13 April 1973. He married Liila Gilham 6 
February 1916 and they had two sons and two 
daughters. There were seven grandchildren. 

(8) Mattie Mae Vannoy was born 26 April 
1895 and died 26 January 1972. She was 
married to John David McLean 5 November 
1921. They had a son and a daughter. Their 
grandchildren number four. (9) Virginia Dare 
Vannoy was born 24 December 1696 and died 
18 February 1970. She was married 1 May 
1926 to Robert Lee Reavis. They were the 
parents ot a son and a daughter and four 
grandchildren. (10) Wiiliam Raynor Vannoy 
was born 29 December 1898 and died 19 Au­
gust 1947. He was married to Lacy Fiorence 
McNiel 7 January 1923. They had one daugh­
ter and no grandchildren. 

( I I ) Mintie Hester Vannoy was born 29 De­
cember 1900. She was married to Archie Allen 
Bumgarner. She has one daughter and five 
grandchildren. (12) Arnold Vannoy was born 
14 March 1903 and died 27 May 1919. He was 
unmarried. 

(13) Richard Newton Vannoy was born 28 
J.'y 1904. He was married to Dorothy Scott. 
September 1925. They had two sons and two 
grandchildren. (14) Joseph Conrad Vannoy 
was born 19 March 1906 He was married 12 
February 1929 to He'en Whittington There 
were four children and seven grandchildren. 
(15) Carl Johnson Vanoy was born 18 No­
vember 1909 and married Leida Church 1 Jan­
uary 1931. There are three daughters and five 
grandchildren. (16) Clyde Smith Vannoy was 
born 3 March 1911. He was marned to Virginia 
Money 5 February 1935. There are three chil­

dren and five grandchildren. 
Ross Vannoy has only one surviving a J 

Mintie Vannoy Bumgarner. and four s l 
brothers. Richard. Conrad, Cart ando 
Vannoy. Forty-six nieces and nephews 
born, although some are deceased 

With the large family and humble be 
nings, Ross Vannoy learned early to m 
contribution to mankind. His life was inter 
ing and full. The counties of Wilkes an. A 
benefitted from his having been one of n 
noble citizens. 

Sources. Hook, George M<chael Eiitr •>>,-.-.-
His in Amenca. Vannoy. The James Newicn,;,--'", 
y. fami'y records and memories 

— C. Frank Cc 

THE FAMILY OF JAMES 
NEWTON VANNOY 

m 
(1) George Everette Vannoy (July 21 ii 

July 18.1945) married March 18,1916 f 
ence Maxwell (Apnl 23. 1880: January 
1970). They had two daughters. Annie La 
(January 1.1917). married Charles Rayrr 
Hill December 24. 1937. and Winnie M 
(March 30.1918) married Troy ManusCh 
June 16. 1940 

(2) Hannibal Roscoe Vannoy (April9.' 
September 3. 1974) married May 1914(1 
Ella McNiel (See Ruth Ella McNiel Vai 
story). 

(3) Mary E. Vannoy (March 1.1886:MJ 
1960) married April 29,1906 James Harr 
Davis (July 8.1884; February 19.1955). 
had ten children; Theta Ester (Februarl 
1907; October 18. 1913); Parks (March 
1908); Scott (April 18. 1909; married \ 
Whittington September 11.1928 and had 
children; Ralph (February 2. 1911) ma 
September 18. 1937 Pansey Kendall an. 
one son; Ruth (October 24,1919) marned 
Wiles June 27. 1934 and had three das 
G'adys (March 25.1914) married Eugene 
ings November 5.1938 and had fivec-: 
Grace (September 13.1915) marred Feb* 
12. 1938 Arl.e 0. Foster and had three 
dren; Warren G (February 26.1921. Cc: 
26. 1981) marned Junleen Nicholson '̂ 
ary 28.1942 and nad one son; DonsiOc! 
29.1922) marned George EysenbKh Vai 
1944 and had seven cnildren: md Ma1 

(August 22. 1925). 

(4) Robert Glenn Vannoy (M-y 16.'j 
A.gust 1. 1974. married Augvist 8. '9' 
Less e Phillips Vannoy .September '3 ' 
June 16, 1959). They tad six tfJdfci 
D t t on marred Reba Campbell. E«rr 
lips. Inez Dcra "January 20. 1 9 2 0 . ^ 
15. 1934). Robert G.ennJr Sicec-
and Betty Jean 

l5) John r^cmas Vannoy iDecei"-
1889 February 26. -975 marr-:.o" -•• 
ber 26. 1915 to Lora E'en V i t t "• 
1890. February 4. ;973i They":" ' ' 
dren Wayne Win.fred iSr-D'en.:..' 
red Ruby Beile 9a*er a°.fl hae ' - ' J ' 
Rtuber. Wrenn (January -3. •' " 
Ann.e Beile Par.ue and ha'.: two' -•" 
Faye. married Roy Taylor Casn-en'--' 
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13531 and nad 'our children. her sec-
_ * aTia*;. was to Jim Sp'cer: John Thomas 

;*i_rrie_ Ada Sue ucvette and had four 
I'dret: He ward Had:ey marned Mary Gladus 
jnton and ^ad three nughters. 
i6 j Wil 'am Andrew Vannoy (November 5. 
191 August 1927) married Margie Lee Dosse 
ebruary 11,1896: January 23.1972). They 
id two sons: Lacy French and William James 
eceased). 
(7) Jesse Albert Vannoy (March 27. W93; 

DM 13. 1973) married February 6. 1916 to 
lla Blanche Gilliam (August 9.1892. Decem-
er 22, 1972). They haa five children* Sarah 
ornelia (January 3. 1917). Charles Albert 
\pnl 23. 1919;. Margaret Ruth (February 27 
324. January 17.1925). Betty Louise (April 
9. 1927, December 10. 1927). Mary Eliza-
eth (August 19. 1928). 

(8) Mattie Mae Vannoy (April 26.1895: Jan-
ary 26. 1972) married November 5.1921 to 
ohn David McLean (September 3.1895. No-
ember 15. 1978). They had two children: 
rederick Carl (August 26. 1922) and Winnie 
•ue (November 25.1923). 

(9) Virginia Dare Vannoy (December 24, 
896: February 18. 1970) married May 1. 
926 Robert Lee Reavis (May 9. 1897; Sep-
ember 26. 1972). They had two children: 
lames Arnold and Iris Allene (Nancy). 

(10) William Raynor Vannoy (December 29. 
898; August 19,1947). married on January 

'. 1923 Lacy Florence McNiel (May 29.1902). 
"hey had one daughter: Mildred Katherine. 

(11) Mintie Hester Vannoy (December 29. 
.900) married Archie Allen Bumgarner (Febru-
iry 19.1886; March 25.1936). They had one 
laughter: Archie Alan Bumgarner (November 
_5, 1936). 
« (12) Arnold Vannoy (March 14. 1903; May 
.7. 1919) 

(13) Richard Newton Vannoy (July 28. 
1904) married September 5,1925 to Dorothy 
Scott (September 11. 1906). They had two 
sons: Max Clinton (January 7. 1929; June 8. 
1938). and Thomas Gene. (April 20. 1933). 
Thomas Gene married Evelyn Englebert and 
iad two children: Sharon Ann (Sherry) (Octo-
oer 7.1953) and Larry Thomas (December 3. 
1956). Larry married Susan Dare Wachter 
Seotember26. 1981. 

(14) James Conrad Vannoy (March 19. 
* 506) married Helen Whittington and had tour 

A.ren: Louise; Joseph Smith (March 13. 
• 34; November 11,1939), Linda; and Frank 

•^•jglas (November 16. 1943). 
(15) Carl Johnson Vannoy (November 18. 

909) married January 1.1931 Leida Church 
January 7.1914). They had three daughters: 
Jariee. Barbara Jean, and Mary Maxine. 

(16) Clyde Smith Vannoy (March 3. 1911) 
married February 5. 1935 Virginia (Virgie) 
Money (October 2 1 . 1918; February 19. 
1975). They had three children: Mildred 
Carolyn; Eugene Smith; and Daniel Jeffrey. 

Sources: family records and personal Knowledge. 
— Thomas G. Vannoy 

JOEL VANNOY 
1053 

Joel Vannoy was bom in 1792. presumably 

m Wilkes County. N.C. It has been said. 
Sheriff Vannoy was a man of great promi­

nence in his day. He was sheriff of Wilkes 
County almost for a life time. I have been told 
that he was a very striking personality, strong 
mentally and physically." Offical records of 
Wilkes County indicate that he only served as 
sheriff for six years, from 1824 to 1830. He 
was the father of 22 children. 17 of whom grew 
to adulthood. Seven of his sons served in the 
Civil War. 

So far as we know, no definite proof ever 
has been found as to the father of Joel Vannoy. 
Two sources say he probably was the son of 
Daniel Vannoy who married Sarah Hickerson 
in Wilkes in 1779. Others have stated he was 
the son of Nathaniel Vannoy. 

Joel Vannoy served as a corporal in the Fifth 
Regiment of Wilkes County in the War of 1812. 

A marriage bond was issued March 18, 
1817 in Wilkes County to Joel Vannoy and 
Elizabeth Saint Clair. She was bom on Septem­
ber 12.1 796 and died February 10.1831. She 
is buried at Presbyterian Church in Wilkes-
boro. Seven of her children lived to maturity 
and were: 

Joel Alfred Vannoy (1818- ? ); Elizabeth 
Caroline Vannoy (1819-1876) married Horatio 
Nelson Miller and had ten children; John 
Hamilton Vannoy ( ? -1862); Rebecca Elvira 
Vannoy who married a Walsh: Emily Amanda 
Vannoy (1821-1888) married Edward Welch 
and had a large family; Amelia Adeline Vannoy 
(1827-1897) married to Willis Parker and they 
were parents of ten children; and Ann Marie 
Vannoy who married first Rodolph McClel­
land, married second Henry S. Swink with 
issue by both. 

On July 6.1832 a marriage bond was issued 
in Burke County, N.C. to Joel Vannoy and 
Lemira E. Sudderth. daughter of Abraham and 
Martha Sumter Sudderth. She was born in 
1819 and died in 1858 at the age of 49. She 
also is buried in the Presbyterian churchyard in 
Wilkesboro. Ten of her children lived to be 
grown and were: 

Abram McLean Vannoy ( ? -1862) with one 
known child; William Wiley Vannoy (1834-
1905) had two children; Sarah Martha Vannoy 
(1835-1905) married first John Nooe and had 
five children, married second Joseph P. 
Shields and had two children; Alexander 
Washington Vannoy (1836-1862); James Van­
noy (1838- ? ); Harvey Sudderth Vannoy 
(1840-1935); Thomas Irwin Vannoy (1842- ? 
); Elijah Ross Vannoy (1844-1863): Catherine 
A. Vannoy (1849-1872) was married to Vance 
Taylor and had two known children; and 
Anderson Mitchell Vannoy (1854-1922). 

In 1833 Vannoy wrote a letter to Gov. D.L. 
Swain in which he said that he had been to 
Cherokee County, N.C, He was protesting in­
truders from other States who were destroying 
the land and timber by gold mining. Sometime 
between 1836 and 1840 he moved his family to 
Cherokee He purchased about 900 acres of 
land the. e in 1839. He and his family of eleven 
males and five females are listed in the 1840 
Census of Cherokee County. They also appear 
in the 1850 Census of Cherokee. 

Family tradition says that he was appointed 
by the Governor of North Carolina to gather up 

the Indians of Cherokee County for the*r re­
moval to Indian Territory, or what is now th 
State of Oklahoma. This may be true, but if so 
he only served a short time. Records frr— 
Washington, D.C. indicate that he paid a sc. 
stitute to serve in his place. 

It is not known when Joel Vannoy return? 
to Wilkes County, but he died on October 25. 
1858 and is buried in Wilkesboro between his 
two wives. He left a will which was probated: 
Wilkes County. 

Sources: Land ot Wilkes, by Johnson J. Hayes: . 
Heritage. The People ot Cherokee County, by Margaret v 
Freel: Muster Rolls of the Soldiers of the War of 1812. 
A.iutent General. Abraham Sudderth Family History. : 
Alfred A. Kent. Jr.; Wilkes County records. Cherc 
County Records, family correspondence, census recorc; 
grave markers. 

— Virginia Lee Satterfie. -

JOEL VANNOY ANCESTORS 
AND DESCENDANTS 

itt_-; 
John Vannoy was born about 1716. di.:.' 

about 1778 in Wilkes County. He settled in t>. 
Jersey Settlement of Rowan County vwji r . 
wife. Susannah Anderson of New Jersey. ' * 
rendered public service during the Revolutlc: -
ary War. He and his wife had nine children._ i 
believed to have been born in North Caroii.:: 
(1) Rachel, born 12 April 1741. married r.':i 
Patton, (2) Andrew, born 12 August 1742. 
died 9 October 1809. married 18 August 177 J 
in Wilkes County. Susannah Shepherd. (C 
Abraham, bom 15 January 1745. (4)<&_____ 
born 13 Aunust 1746, died ?fi -J-JIV 18?? : 

Knox County. Kentucky. (5) Nathaniel, _ . r 
I6 rHBruarV m y , married Elizabeth Ray. >Z 
Hannah, bom 26th March 1751. (7) Dam C 
bom 22 February 1752. married 2 O t t o t c 
1779, Sarah Hickerson. (8) Susannah, born ; 
July 1754. (9) Katherine. bom 26 Decern.'*' 
1755. 

Daniel Vannoy. son of John and Susann„.: 
(Anderson) Vannoy. and his wife Sarah had .: 
least nine children, one of whom was J< 
Vannoy. who was bom in 1792. died 1853 ". 
Wilkes County. Joel lived for awhile in Ch:.-
okee County. N .C . was a cabinet maker. 
Col. in the War of 1812. and sheriff of W " -
County from 1824 until 1830. and was mar' . 
twice. He and his two wives are buried in -
Old Presbyterian Cemetery in Wilkesboro, 

Joel Vannoy first married on the 18 Har. 
1817 in Wilkes County. Elizabeth St. CC. 
born 12 September 1796. died 10 Febr. 
1831. There were eight children born to t r : . 
as fol lows: Joel, Jr . . Elizabeth Caroii -
Alford. John Hamilton, Rebecca. Emily A m . 
da, America Adeline and Ann Marian. 

Joel's second marriage was about 183. 
Emily Lemira Suddeth. bom 1809. died 13" _. 
daughter of Abraham and Martha (Sump. 
Suddeth. Joel and Emily Lemira were the p 
ents of nine children, viz: (1) Abraham. b< 
1832, married Martha James. (2) WC, 
Wiley, bom 22 June 1834. died 9 Jane 
1905. married Susan Elizabeth Crowson. 
Sarah Martha, bom 18 July 1835, died Feb 
any 1905 in Charlotte, N.C.. married 1st 4 J . . , 
1857 in Wilkes County. John Nooe. and 2n" 
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jclwi Preston Shields, (4) Catharine, bom 
1..S, died 1910 Laurel Springs. Alleghany 

jnty , marned Vance Taylor, (5) Washing-
- Alexander born 1839. (6) Harvey Suddeth. 
-n 1841. died 15 January 1835 at Ronda. 
,.s County, married 19 September 1867, 

cnanne Welbom, (7) Thomas Erwin. bom 
. ' 3 , died 1864 at Gettysburg. (8) Elijah 

ss. bom 1844. (9) Anderson Mitchell, bom 
abruary 1855 died 21 March 1922, married 
• me Smith. He was sheriff of Wilkes County 

A is supposed to be buried in the old Presby-
c n Cemetery. Wilkesboro. N C. 
t/.!liam Wiley Vannoy. son of Joel and Emily 
-:ira (Suddeth) Vannoy married 7 July 1867 

, '.Viikes County. Susan Elizabeth Crowson, 
. n 7 November 1837. died 22 April 1903. 

ghter of Adam and Nancy Crowson. He 
'•_ a major .n the Civil War. They are both 
•-".ad in the old Presbyterian Cemetery, Wil-

r-fbrro, N.C. They were the parents of five 
Cren: (1) William A., bom 4 April 1868. 

. r i e d 8 February 1898, Addie Forester, (2) 
:?.es Edward, born 4 Apni 1368. twin to 

liam A., died 26 January 1819. married 27 
cy 1899 in Stokes County. Hartie Roberta 

ecca Ward. (3) Joseph, born 1879, died 
__ng, (4) Anderson Mitchell born 1875. (5) 

' i ca Belle, born 1879, married January 
' , Jesse M. McNiel. They lived at Oonna-

. Forsyth County; then Winston-Salem and 
buried in the Salem Cemetery there. 

James Edward Vannoy, son of William W 
* . Susan Elizabeth (Crowson) Vannoy, mar-
ie_ Hartie Ward, bom 25 February 1876. 
cokes County, died 5 August 1963 in Wilkes 
'. Ainry, daughter of Samuel Marion David and 

: ry Ann Ruth (Hutcherson) Ward of Oonna-
. Forsyth County. N C . Ed was a well-to-do 

;.- rchant ot North Wilkesboro. dealing pnman-
"• roots and herbs. He is buned in the North 

. esboro Cemetery. Sixth Street. She is 
•ed m Mt. Lawn with her second husband. 

' Lippard. James Edward and Hartie had 
. children: (1) Maisie Susan, bom 17 De-

Aber 1900. died 8 December 1955. marned 
• on Richard Reins. (2) Lucy Roberta, bom 

. . November 1902. married June 1922 in 
one. N .C . Anns M. (Jack) Hadley. (3) Ruth 

. . iz. born 6 December 1904. died 17 April 
'•6. married. 1st. 11 January 1836. Kenneth 
Chilton. 2nd . Walton LeGrand Black (4) 

mes Edward, Jr born 20 July 1906. is un-
: r ned . (5) William Wiley, bom 1 December 
: 9 , died 1914, (6) Harvey Suddeth. born 4 
cch 1910. :s unmarried. (7) Mary Margaret, 
n 2 January 1914. married William Clyde 
.rson. (8) Infant boy born and died 31 Janu-
1916. (9) Jackson Mitchell, born 3 Febru-
1917, is unmarried. 

Mary Margaret Vannoy, daughter of James 
vard and Hartie (Ward) Vannoy. married 5 
gust 1834. in Nortn Wilkesboro. William 
ce Pearson, bom 4 January. 1913. died 8 
„'ember 1956 in Winston-Salem hospital, 

cf Rom Hall and Maude (Hollar) Pearson. 
/de was a wholesale grocer, in business with 

. ._ father. He is buried at Mt. Lawn Cemetery. 
and Margaret were the parents of three 

. . dren: (1) William Clyde, Jr., bom 12 Au-
r -si 1935, married 14 October 1964. Catha-
• " j Ray Snefl. They live m Cape Coral, Ronda. 

(2) Ruth Vannoy, bom 22 November 1836. 
married 15 February 1961. James Allen Bum-
gamer, born 2 October 1934. died 1973. Jim 
and Ruth had two children (a) Rebecca Lynn, 
bom 24 September 1965. (b) Mark Allen, born 
12 March 1968. Since Jim's death, Ruth and 
her children have lived in North Wilkesboro. 
(3) Margaret Janice, bom 27 December 1948. 
Jan is a cytologist at Wilson Memorial Hospi­
tal. Wilson. N.C. She is as yet unmarried 

Sources: George Michael Eiler _ his Descendants, etc 
by Hook. Wilkes Marriage records. Bible records, tomb­
stone inscriptions, birth certificates. Federal Census, 
newspaper itens. personal knowledge. 

— Ruth Pearson Bumgarner 

RUTH MCNIEL VANNOY 
1055 

Twenty-eight bright and giving years were 
the life span of Ruth Ella McNiel Vannoy. Dur­
ing her relatively brief life, she gave the gift of 
contributing perfection to her surroundings. 

She was the second child of Thornton 
Sylvester and Eda Elizabeth (McNiel) McNiel. 
Bom 2 November 1890, she died during the 
1918-1919 influenza epidemic in the same 
month as did her father and brother. Osco 
McNiel. Her death was 11 January 1919. 

Ruth McNiel was married to Hannibal Ros­
coe Vannoy 10 May 1914. He was the son of 
James Newton and Cornelia (Bumgarner) Van­
noy of the Purlear community. His birth date 
was 9 April 1884. Ross Vannoy's biography is 
found elsewhere in this publication. There 
were three children, all of whom were born in 
Wilkes County, as were their grandchildren. 

(1) EHa Sue Vannoy was born 17 February 
1915. She attended Appalachian State Univer­
sity and was married to Carl Franklin Colvard 6 
October 1934. Born 22 March 1908. he was 
the son of Charles Hampton and Elizabeth 
(Vannoy) Colvard of the Wilbar community. 
(Their biographies may be found elsewhere in 
this book.) They had one son. Carl Franklin 
Colvard, Jr.. unmarried, who was born 30 
August 1939 He attended Wake Forest Uni­
versity and resides in West Jefferson with his 
mother. Both are members of tne West Jeffer­
son First Baptist Church. Carl F Colvard. Sr 
died 28 May 1962 

(2) Annie Louise Vannoy was born 17 May 
1917 and died 4 July 1977. She was married 
31 March 1941 to Alexander Russell Gray. Jr., 
bem 1 June 1919. son of A R and Sarah 
(Campbell) Gray of Wilkesboro. Annie Gray 
graduated from Meredith College and was a 
member ot the Wilkesboro United Methodist 
Church. Her three children are (1) Alexander 
Russell Gray. III. unmarried, born 13 June 
1943, and he attended Lenoir-Rhyne and 
Wilkes Community Colleges His church mem­
bership is with the Wilkesboro United Method­
ist Church, and he lives with his father. (2) 
James Robert Gray was born 12 May 1946 and 
was married 28 June 1969 to Mary Iva 
Reinharot. born 23 February 1945. the daugh­
ter of Walter Ramseur and Gwendolyn (Parker) 
Reinhardt of Northampton County They are 
communicants of St. Paul's Ep .copal Church 
in Wilkesboro. Jim Gray is a guduate of the 
University of North Caro in . Ther children are 

(1) David Christopher Gray, bom 26 r 
1974 and (2) Martha Elizabeth Gray „ 
January 1978. Annie Gray S only d a i , , 
born 27 May 1950. Named for K o , 
mothers. Sarah Ruth Gray, unmarried _ 
ated from the University of North c_roi, 
Greensboro. She is a communicant A, 
Paul's Church. All of the Grays live in wi 
boro. 

(3) Hannibal Roscoe Vannoy. jr. 
named "Johnny," only lived five years U 
been born 9 January 1919 and d,__?7l 
1924. 

Ruth Vannoy had five brothers an. ora 
ter, (6) Mamie McNiel. Her brothers wer] 
William Alonzo, (2) Claude Ackle. (3) _| 
Odell. (4) Richard Tipton, and (5) 
McNiel. For a complete description ofL 
lineages, reference should be made to thef 
tion on Mamie McNiel Hartley. The Hon 
Johnson J. Hayes wrote about the MCNL. 
in general: "As their name implies they we 
that sturdy, thrifty Scotch-Irish stocK 
loved liberty and believed in and prac 
earning their bread by the sweat of the face] 

All the McNiels were born and 
Cowles Creek in the Purlear community] 
though there are var.ations in the spellirJ 
the surname wihin the immediate family] 
original composition of McNiel is usedtor) 
tinuity. 

They were a fun-loving family, andeacfij 
a great sense of humor. They, likewise 
the business of citizenship and comm. 
involvement seriously. 

Eventually their father. Thornton 
founded the North Wilkesboro Coco-Cola I 
tlmg Company. He lived with Ruth Vannoy 
her family in North Wilkesboro during the*. 
to look after his business interests in tt 
returning home on week-ends. His death 
two days after his daughter's. 

Ruth Vannoy was reared m a devout 3a 
home This legacy was continued when 
own home was established. Judge H 
further wrote. The outstanding character 
of the iMcNie!) fam-'y is its loyalty and 
cafed support of ne church in their comm 

t y " 
She was a fine homemaker and an en?1 

cook. Ruth McN el Vannoy's many ace 
plishments during ner snort 'ife continue!! 
remembered and to serve as an insp»'au 

Source. Absvr T— >_'-**.'- V:N-eifater*. 
George M.rije* f.er ui*:en-dans o1 Hsa-M 
H.iyes Csi. . ^y ot ."v V : ' . . ' Car. and Urn v r 

n._ 
— C. Fran« Coh 

THE WORTH and BEATRIC! 
CHURCH VANNOY FANILY 

101 
Waiter Worth Vs-noy. Sr was borr « ' 

Count/ April 7. 1907. S d cf J o s e r l 
Uil-an Colvard Vanr.oy H3 'ec&vec ' ^ " [ • 
tion m the Asne Ccu-ty scroc:? --"•''- "'•'• 
Wt'kes Coi-nty i '924 He has V f 
employee .n a true* -g c_smes? •'•' 
years 

He marred _._t ' . . .- T-r- 'a C*"- '" 
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**-. She was bom January 8. 1904. _t 
: Hrarch. bcng the second of three 

;r*ors born to Zo*ley Cnttef and Rebecca 
C**H.r**. She received Ner education at 

:T*3*n V ow liist.tute Woman's College :n 
•nsboro. and ive's Business School in 
n Wnkesboro She taugni school in Wilkes 
nty for six years, and did clerical work for 
)il company in Norm Wkesboro for two 
5 
our children were born to this union: 
•es Madison Vannoy. born October 29, 
9. received his education at Millers Creek 
n School. He married Mildred Dean Whit-
ton on December 22 .1951 . She was born 
ch 2. 1933. daughter of Walter and Ruby 
sons Whittington. She received her educa-
• at Mount Pleasant High School. 
uime Lee Vannoy. born February 11,1933. 
duated from Millers Creek High School. 
1 Clevenger Business College, and worked 
Ralph Davis. Attorney-at-law. for several 
rs. She married Ivery Haynes on August 5, 
>6. He was born November 26, 1932. son 
Major Dewey and Mollie Brown Haynes. of 
Mulberry community. He received his edu-
ion at North Wilkesboro High School and 
venger Business College. He worked sever-
/ears for Lowes Companies. Inc.. retiring 
1971. He is now self-employed in invest-
nts. 

.laude Elbert Vannoy was bom July 5. 1935. 
is a graduate of Millers Creek High School 

1 received a Master's Degree in business 
ninistration from the University of Utah. He 
ired from the U.S. Army with the rank of 
utenant Colonel in 1977. On September 25. 
56. he married Virginia Alene Brown, born 
jember 4, 1934, daughter of Edward and 
•fa McDaniel Brown of Oklahoma. She is a 
iduate of Cambridgeshire Technical Col-
je. Cambridge. England. They have three 
ildren: David Bryant Vannoy. born January 
, 1958. graduated from the University of 
itimore. Cynthia Anne Vannoy. born June 4. 
59. is a graduate of the University of Mary-
id Mane Alene Vannoy. born July 27.1963. 
i student at Catonsville Community College, 
tonsville. Maryland. 

Walter Worth Vannoy. Jr., who lives in the 
Cket community, was born December 3. 
">3 He is a graduate of West Wilkes High 
• o! and is self-employed in a trucking busi-

He has three daughters: Catherine Anne 
"•,/. born January 11.1967. Brenda Sue 
•cy. born April 14. 1969. and Amanda 
; Vannoy. born September 2. 1971. The 

e. daughters are piano students. 
S._*cas. Family Bible and personal knowledge. 

— Mrs. Annie Lee Vannoy Haynes 

WALKER FAMILY OF WILKES 
1057 

Samuel Walker, an early settler and land-
•vner in Wilkes Co. entered 200 acres of land 
ljoining Aquila Lowe's line in 1779. Samuel 
as born 7 May 1749. married Martha, born 6 
j g . 1759. 
This family moved to Henry Co. Ky. between 

'90 and 1798. Samuel made an Indenture, 5 

months and 24 days before his death, to his 
son Charles, in exchange for "engaging to 
support and maintain the said Samuel his fa­
ther in good and comfortable victualing, .loath­
ing and lodging the ballance of the said 
Samuel's natural l i fe." 

Their children born in N.C. except the lasi 
one in Ky (1) Jacob (1778-1854). m. Sarah 
Biggers; Mary Polly Sharp; and Sarah Miller. 
(2) Zephaniah (1780-1852). m. Polly Butcher 
and Lydia Wheaton, he was living alone in 
Brown Co. In. in 1850. (3) Isaac b. 1782, m. 
Elizabeth Pritchard and moved to Johnson Co. 
In. (4) Ellender b. 1784. m. Jesse Baker and 
moved to Bartholomew Co. In. (5) Rachel b. 
1787. m. Littleton Baker (half brother of Jes­
se), moved to Boone Co. In. (6) Betsy (Eliza­
beth) b. 1790. m. James Crawford. (7) 
Charles Montihon 1798-1843. m. Ann Thixton 
and Elizabeth Parks. 

Jacob Walker, son of Samuel, b. 6 Aug. 
1778. d. 31 Sept. 1854. buried in Walker 
Cemetery. Brown Co. In . , m. Sarah Biggers. 
Children all born in Ky. (1) Samuel 1804-1872. 
(2) James b. 1800/10. and moved to Missouri 
in 1836. (3) Beniamin Franklin 1808-1890. m. 
Frances Long. (4) Arlanda (Landy) b. 1812/13 
m. Nancy Baker and Rachel Young, daughter 
of John Young, moved to Illinois. (5) Zepha­
niah 1813-1897. bur. Hopewell Cemetery, 
Boone Co. in . . m. Martha Baker, Mary Paxton 
and Mary Petro. (6) Isaac. (7) Betsy/Patsy. (8) 
Charles Hazard 1816/17-1890. m. Jane 
Rariden and Mrs. Nancy Burton, sons Samuel, 
John. Henry T. and Jacob C. 

Samuel Walker, son of Jacob, b. 19 July 
1804, died 3 June 1872 and was the first 
person buried in the Sprumca Church Ceme­
tery. Brown Co. In. He m. Nancy Young, b. 20 
May 1807. daughter of John Young. Children: 
(1) Jacob Perry 1828-1907. m. Cynthia White 
and Rachel Amanda Wright. (2) Franklin 1830-
1922. m. Nancy Curry 1836-1892. (3) Sarah 
Jane 1832-1915. m. Wm. Fraker. (4) Wm. J . 
1835-1898. m. Elizabeth Taggart 1839-1924. 
(5) Orlondo (Landy B) 1839-1914. was deaf, 
m. Mary E. Kennett 1842-1913. (6) Harrison 
1841-1925. m. Eliza Ann Hurd. (7) Nancy 
1843-1908, m. Samuel Tracy, (8) James Knox 
1845-1932. m. Catherine Campbell. (9) Scott 
Samuel 1847-1929. m. Clarissa Duchamel 
1852-1895. (10) Daniel b. 1850. d. young. 
Two more children died of Malaria in swampy 
Johnson County, so the Walker family moved 
to higher ground in Brown County. Indiana. 

Harrison Walker, son of Samuel and Nancy, 
b. 26 Aug. 1841. d. 23 Nov. 1925 in Ind.. m. 
Eliza Ann Hurd 1866. daughter of Charles Wil­
lard and Mary A. Henry Hurd. The Hurd family 
came from Somersetshire England to Connec­
ticut, and finally came to Indiana. Eliza b. 2 
June 1845, d. 23 Dec. 1928 in ind. Children: 
(1) John Willard 1872-1936. m. Florence Etta 
Dine. (2) Alta Belle 1875-1958. m. James R. 
Brickey 1874-1956. (3) Bertha Ellen 1883-
1960. (4) Lydia Evaline 1888-1973, m. Ira 
Weddle. and had Irwin H.. Norma, Virgil and 
Virginia. (5) Male b & d 1878. (6) Female b. & 
d. 1881. 

John Willard Walker, son of Harrison and 
Eliza, b. 19 Sept. 1872. d. 12 Jan. 1936. m. 
Florence Etta Dine 26 Sept. 1894. She was b. 

26 Feb. 1876 in Brown Co. In. daughter cf 
Samuel Dine and Mary Ann Pitcher. Florence 
Etta d. 23 Mar. 1936. Children: (1) Dettie 
Eressa 1895-1973. m. Ross Can, Lloyd Hol­
der and Rentist Shultz. Sons. Leland. Lawr­
ence and Russell Cart. (2) Ora Ervan 1897-
1918, unm. (3) Leatha Mable 1899-1972. m. 
John P. Elliott. (4) Herschel Oscar b. 1902. 
living 1982, m. Eloise Rodgers; children 
Helen, George. Reva and twins Tom and Jerry. 

Leatha Mable Walker daughter John Willard 
b. 13 Sept. 1899. d. 4 March 1972. m. \r. 
June 1919 John Parker Elliott 1896-1973. 
both d. in Seminole, Florida and are buried r 
Glen Cove Cem.. Knightstown, In. Children: 
(1) Lloyd Earl 1920-1942. unm. (2) Florence 
Louise b. 1922. m. James R. Abraham anJ 
Robert A. (Lamb) Shaw, children. Patrick 
(Abraham) Albers. James John Abraham and 
Robert A. Shaw II . (3) James Preston b. 1929. 
m. Jean Shertzer and had Steven; m. second 
Jan Shultz, and had James Lee; married th in 
Mary Boyd, and fourth Diana Garrett. 

My grandmother. Florence Walker was 
beautiful with auburn hair and blue eyes. < 
spent many a happy weekend in her home. She 
would find pieces of pretty cloth to make doll 
clothes and let me play tea party with her bes* 
china cups and saucers. Grandfather John was 
always ready to cpen his coin purse and take 
me to the 10c store to buy a doll to sew for. 
Grandfather had a little story he told "A small 
boy asked his mother, "where am I going is 
die?" His mother asked, "why do you want to 
know?" The little boy replied, "because I 
won't ever go there!" Whenever I fill in chart, 
with my grandfather's death place and date ! 
think of him and want to say, "Grandpa, do;'' 
go to Lebanon, Indiana!" 

My mother. Leatha Elliott was a wonderful 
person. She could make a warm inviting home 
anywhere, which she did many times, as .v. 
moved frequently. My father traveled, a r : 
being alone she took us fishing, wild strawber­
ry picking and told us and the neighbor cc ' -
dren ghost stories in the kitchen with all ?*** 
lights out. Once, on my birthday. I sent her • 
bouquet of roses and said "Thanks M o m . " i 
hope she knew how much I loved her. 

Sources. Wilkes Co. N C. records: H-*nry Co. K. Pe: 
o.'ds. Family Bibles. 

— Florence Elliott She* 

CHARLES and SOPHRONIA 
OOCKERY WALKER 

Charles Spurgeon Walker was bom Oecarr* 
ber 29.1880to Isaac Jeffrey (1849-1918) arc 
Minerva Caroline McNeil Walker (1852-190--; 
His grandparents were Isaac (1315-1907) an. 
Sallie Roberts Walker (1817-1905); and Alfred 
and Matilda Vannoy McNeil. The Walkers live, 
on Morris Knob in the Boomer community. 
Charles, his father, and grandfather were ta­
mers. 

A family story relates that when the earlier 
Walkers were corssing the ocean, a child diec 
and was buried at sea. The other children were 
told that this sea burial was necessary to pre­
vent the large whales from attacking their ship 
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STORIES AND PRANKS 

sleeping; on the floor. A veritable cloudburst had disturbed the 
festivities of the day, and after the young men had stretched out 
on the floor, with their feet to the center and heads to the walls, 
it was discovered that the roof was leaking in one spot, causing 
a dripping of water on one of the guests. It was impossible to 
move because of the crowded condition; hence it was agreed 
amongst them that one after another would undergo this tor­
ture every hour, in rotation. The decision was carried out ac­
cordingly. This incident illustrates the good humor and com­
radeship existing among the early settlers. 

Wearing apparel went bark to the primitive, as the clothes, 
the immigrants brought along were worn out in due course of 
time: however, some were stored in trunks and worn on festive 
occasions only. The everyday work clothes consisted of a blue-
striped hickory shirt and pants of blue or brown Kentucky so-
called jeans. Comfort was fortunate in having a proficient tailor 
in its midst in the person of Heinrich Seidensticker. Mr. Seiden-
sticker built the home, which was tom down at the time the 
Ernst Doebbler home was built, and which today is the art 
studio of Peter Hohnstedt. His property extended to what is now 
Chamberlain's Variety Store and the Groos Pharmacy, the Louis 
Lich residence and the Hohnstedt lot back to Albert Faltin's 
residence. Besides doing the tailoring for the community, Mr. 
Seidensticker also operated a dairy, the corner area being then 
known as Seidensticker's Kuhpenne (rowpen). During the day 
the cows were pastured in the river area below the present home 
of Charles Seidensticker, Jr. 

An interesting story was related to the writer by Henry 
Seidensticker. lr. shortly before his death last February, which 
relates to his father's tailoring business. It seems that a man by 
the name of Rill Crisswell, living up the river above Comfort, 
had had a feud with a man named Ed Kelly who lived near the 
"Bend*' in the Block Creek area below Comfort. Crisswell was a 
big man. whereas Kellv was of the diminutive type. On their last 
meeting in Comfort. Crisswell had severely beaten up Kelly and 
threatened his life if he would catch him in town again. About 
two weeks later. Crisswell, accompanied by his wife, came to 
town in his buckboard. stopping at Seidensticker's for measure­
ment for a suit of brown jeans with an extra pair of pants "to 
boot." Seidensticker was strictly a tailor, hence carried no 
stock of merchandise. After finishing the measurements, he gave 
Crisswell the figures for the amount of material necessary to 
make the suit and extra pants. Crisswell walked down to August 
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A HUNDRED YEARS OF COMFORT IN TEXAS 

Faltin's store on the corner, bought the desired material and 
brought it to Seidensticker to complete. 

Crisswell mounted his buckboard again and drove around 
the corner, stopping in front of the Peter Intrenluictt store (where 
the Faust Hotel now stands^ in which was also located the post 
office. Coming out of the post office, Crisswell saw Kelly riding 
up on horseback. Kelly had a carbine strapped to his saddle and 
reached for it. Crisswell tried to reach his buckboard; however, 
Kelly struck him with the first shot. Crisswell turned in his tracks 
and started running east toward die Meyer Hotel, with Kelly 
firing another couple of shots after him. Crisswell turned the 
corner, where now stands the Comfort Museum, and plunged 
into the home of Mrs. Hermann Wille. who resided about a 
hundred feet back from the corner. Crisswell fell over a bed in 
Mn. Wille's home; she summoned immediate aid, but he died a 
few hours later from the effects of the first bullet which had passed 
through his stomach. 

This shooting on October 28, 1882, brought Comfort into 
the category of a full-Hedged frontier town. Kelly was later ac­
quitted on the testimony of witnesses to the previous meeting of 
the two men involved. Mr. Seidensticker found himself with the 
measurements and material on hand; however, his client had 
joined his ancestors —a victim of his own promotion. 

Except for the unfortunate incident above, Comfort had al­
ways been known as a peaceful hamlet. Lawlessness was practi­
cally unknown; the only incidents marring the peace of the 
community usually were the results of the offspring of "nesters" 
in some adjoining counties who, due to local option which kept 
their precincts in the dry column, at times came to Comfort and 
tried to make up for lost time. As road conditions and train 
schedules prevented taking some of these culprits to the county 
jail in Boerne until the following day, it was necessary to hand­
cuff these rowdies with their arms embracing a hackherry tree. 
It was later decided to build a small 8x10 bastille on the present 
site of the fire station; however, the construction was flimsy 
enough to give the prisoner a chance to break out and escape. 
This saved the county a little money, as these fugitives would 
never again return for fear of having an added charge of jail-
breaking against them; thus peace and quiet were again restored. 

Not all of the behavior of these "outsiders" was due to over­
indulgence of the harder spirit. On occasion of one of the big 
dances of the year, which attracted people to come in buggies, 
hacks, wagons and on horseback from every fork of the creeks, 
there again appeared in town two sinister-looking "outsiders." 
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REPUBLIC & STATE SETTLERS* GRANTS 

(Criswell name) 

Land Grants 
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A. F. 
C. M. 
D. B. 
D. E. 
D. P. 
Davis 
Frank 
H. E. 
Harlam 
J. F. 
J. L. J. 
J. I. 
James H. 
John F. 
John Y. 
Joseph 
L. D. 
L. H. 
Leroy 
Leroy 
Leroy V. 
Mary E. 
Mary E. 
0. T. 
S. H. 
Samuel H. 
Thomas 
William 
William 
William 
WiUiam 
William 
William 
William 

Land District 

Fannin 
Robertson 
Robertson 
Fannin 
Robertson 
Robertson 
Milam 
Milam 
Travis 
Bexar 
Houston 
Gonzales 
Milam 
Bexar 
Bexar 
Refugio 
Bexar 
Bexar 
Gonzales 
Fayette 
Gonzales 
Fannin 
— 

Fannin 
Fannin 
Robertson 
Liberty 
Gonzales 
Bexar 
Bexar 
Gonzales 
Bowie 
San Patricio 
— 

Class 

P 
3 
P 
S 
P 
3 
P 
P 
P 
P 
P 
1 
3 
P 
3 
1 
P 
P 
1 
1 
1 
B 
RV 
P 
P 
3 
3 
B 
B 
B 
1 
1 
1 
RV 

(Source: Texas General Land Office, Archives and Records Division) 
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R E P U B L I C & S T A T E S E T T L E R S ' 
G R A N T S 

Headrights were given to the heads of families 
and single men who settled in the Republic. 

/ . First Class grants were issued to those 
who arrived in Texas prior to March 2, 
1836. Heads of families received one 
league (4,428.4 acres) and one labor (177.1 
acres) and single men received 1/3 league 
(1,476.1 acres). 

j£% Second Class grants were issued to those 
who arrived in the Republic after March 
2, 1836, but prior to October 1, 1837. 
Heads of families received 1,280 acres and 
single men received 640 acres. 

£ . Third Class grants were issued to those 
who arrived in the Republic after October 
1, 1837, but prior to January 1, 1840. 
Heads of households received 640 acres 
and single men received 320 acres. 

j f Fourth Class grants were issued to those 
who arrived in the Republic after January 
1, 1840, but prior to January 1, 1842. 
Heads of households received 640 acres 
and single men received 320 acres. 

f Pre-emption Grants (homestead or settler's 
claims) were issued to those who actually 
resided on a tract of no more than 320 acres 
tor at least three consecutive years from January 
22, 1845. Under an act of 1854, all pre-emptors 
could locate no more than 160 acres. Under 
a later 1870 act, heads of households could 
locate no more than 160 acres and single men 
no more than 80. The last pre-emption grant 
was approved in 1898, at which time the Texas 
Supreme Court declared the public domain 
exhausted. 

5 Soc ia l Acts certificates were given under the 
direction of the legislature for individual 
relief. 

M I L I T A R Y G R A N T S A N D LISTS 

p Bounty Grants were issued for the months 
of service in the Army of the Republic of 
Texas. For every three months of service, certif­
icates to locate 320 acres were issued. 

Donation Grants of 640 acres were issued for 
special service during the Texas Revolution. 
Those who fought at any battle, such as the 
Siege of Bexar, Goliad, the Alamo, or San 
Jacinto were eligible. Second donations were 
later made to surviving veterans, destitute wid­
ows and signers of the Texas Declaration of 
Independence. 

Confederate Scrip was a special donation of 
1,280 acres given to permanently disabled 
Texas veterans, or to the heirs of deceased 
veterans. 

Muster Roll Book contains the muster rolls 
from the Army of the Republic of Texas. 
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FAYETTE COUNTY BRANDS 

Mary E. Criswell Brand -fQ 
An under slope in each ear. 
Recorded Feb. 21, 1853 

Napaleon B. Yancy Brand /sjY 
Smooth crop in left ear and half upper 
crop in right ear. 
Recorded March 14, 1853. 

Elizabeth A. Criswell Brand £ C 
Crop and split in left ear and crop 
and under cut in right ear. 
Recorded *pril 8, 1853 

John Y. Criswell Brand ( j 
Mark swallow fork & under bit in left 
ear and swallow fork in right ear. 
Recorded Sept. 7, 1854 

G. W. Izard Brand C s t s 
Recorded June 24, 1867 

I. J. Izard Brand 1 2 . 
Recorded Jan. 21, 1856 

Leroy V. Criswell Brand J! f 
Mark crop each ear. ** *•* 
Recorded Jan. 29, 1838 

Andrew Mc Micken Brand Ni £ 
Mark crop the left ear & half crop * * 
the right ear. 
Recorded Jan. 29, 1838 

William Criswell Brand 
Ear mark a crop and an under bit in right 
ear and a smaller fork in the left ear. 
Recorded Feb. 17, 1840 

James H. Chriswell Brand £ * / } 
Swallow fork in left ear & half crop in ** 
right ear on upper side. 
Recorded August 24, 1046 

Joseph E. Criswell Brand T 0 
Smooth crop & upper bit in right ear & a 
smaller fork in left ear. 
Recorded March 3, 1849. T n 
May 2, 1871 brand changed to J o ( * 

Thomas E. Secrest Brand / <J 
Recorded May 24, 1849 

Mary R. Criswell Brand 3 > 2 
Over crop on each ear. 
Recorded Jan. 11, 1853 
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LIST OF TRAIL DRIVERS THAT WENT UP THE TRAIL WITH DAVID ROBERT CRISHELL 

IN 1877-1878 TO DELIVER CATTLE TO CHEATHAM, RIDING & RAGSDALE AT LAKE 

STATION NEAR HUGO, COLORADO. 

Ward Lampkin 

Charley Moore 

Emil Oberwetter 

Tom Hawker 

L. A. Brown 

Bill Wells 

Jesse Driskill 

Gus Waite 

Nap Adkins 

John GUI 

F. M. Sstee 

W. A. Bates 

John George 

— - Evans 

Frank Love 

Al Andrews 

Dan Cookley 
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District Court, Fayette County, Texas 
Civil File 

652 

Witt. V. Criswell Suit: Libel 

V 3 Date: Spring 1852 

Jackson C.C. Smith 

(In this suit, the Criswell brothers each separately sue Smith 
for libel.) 

Wm. V. Criswell declares that Jackson C.C. Smith is indebted to 
him in the sum of $5t000.00 as damages for libel. He explains 
to the Court that Smith on 16 March 1852, wr6te and published 
a libel on the name of Criswell by posting certain defamatory 
statements as follows: "Look at this N.3. I have said years ago 
that the Criswells was damned thieves. I now say that I can 
prove enough to satisfy any honest man that they are such as I 
have represented them. I wish all honest men to meet Saturday 
week at Black Jack school house and I will publicly expose them. 
And I also wish the Criswells and their friends to attend and deny 
the charges, if they can, I shall bring against them." 

Soon thereafter (3-19-1852), Smith wrote another slanderous libel 
as follows: "I say to all honest men that I only want to regulate 
the Criswells by public opinion, and think that it would be a dis­
grace for any honest man to speak to any one of them, let alone to 
hurt any one of them." 

These notices were posted in several public places by Smith - on 
the door of Black Jack school house "situated at the Black Jack 
Grove" "which building is also used as a place of public worship", 
and at "the Grocery" kept by Smith and at a black smith shop, each 
in the "neighborhood of said school housey and "also by being posted 
up on trees beside the public road known as the 'Gonzales Road1" 

Wm. V. declares that he is one of the Criswells referred to in the 
libels o Re further declares "that in the State of Kentucky from . 
which he emigrated to this country with his father the late 
Criswell, whose character also..the said Smith libels, cruelly, 
falsely and maliciously in each of said publications, the name of 
Criswell was without reproach or blemish." 

Wm. V. declares further that he had been a citizen since 1835, 
"that he participated in the Revolution for its Independence." 

He was awarded by the jury 31.00 damages. 

However, Smith answers in general as follows. Ke tells the Court 
that Wm. V. Criswell stole a hat from a resident in the town of 
Matagorda worth $5.00; a hair rope (25.00) from a resident " on 
the road" between La Grange and Matagorda, "cattle from the Mexi­
cans in 1839", a horse from one Mullett (In fact a number of them) 
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worth $1,000,00, "a door from a house belonging to the estate of 
David Betry" in I8V7, rail<£ from John Arnold in 1850, a hog from 
Levi McCIure in 1851. a large quantity of fur from a resident in 
Bastrop County in 184-2, the sum of $10.00 fr0m Joseplv'Criswell, 
in 181*6. " ' 

Smith declares that he was not being spiteful but only wanted to 
give "his friends and neighbors, for their own protection", a 
simple warning, and that the Criswells might be brought to justice. 
He explains that the name of Criswell "i& the State of Kentucky 
whence he came" was not without blemish that in fact "plaintiff 
was a fugitive from justice at the time of his leaving the State of 
Kentucky." 

The proposed meeting called by Smith took rlace as scheduled at the 
school house and Smith proceeded to abuse the Criswells and said tha 
he could prove his charges. 

In the suit, one Dr. Wm. P. Quinn gave a deposition for the Cris­
wells. Smith's attorney had subpoened more than 128 witnesses!!!! 
Whether or not all appeared is not clear from the proceedings. 

Emma L. Cremer nee Brookfleld says that Win. V. was a young man of 
about 17 years in 1835. That she first saw him at Captain Burnham's 
place and that he was living with his parents a short distance from 
the old captain. Jesse Burnham (the old Indian fighter and usually 
known as "Captain" Burnham) says that Wm. V. was known to him since 
l833* Nancy Kenner declares that Win. V. in 18*4-0 "or thereabouts" 
was engaged in stealing horses in the West about Goliad. (He was 
stealing these, she implies, from the Mexicans.) 

000O000 

Civil File 
653 

This is a suit for damages oh charge cf libel brought by John Y. 
Criswell against Jackson C. C. Smith. The usual charges of thievery, 
similar to those levelled against Wm. V., ane enumerated by Smith 
against John Y. He says, however, that John Y. stole a blanket, a 
pocket book with 25£, timber from the land of Samuel Williams in Fay 
ette County, etc. 

A most interesting deposition is on file given by Governor Peter __•• 
Bell of Texas. He has this to say in regard to John Y. Criswell's 
character:"Among his fellow soldiers was in the main a good one. He 
was fond of trading and running horses, or trafficking, etc., and 
participated in all the little amusements legitimate in camp. He was 
considered a wild young man, but generally esteemed a fit associate 
by his fellow soldiers." Bell first knew Bell in l8*+5;"He was a sold 
under my immediate command, and subject daily to my inspection of th 
manner in which he performed his duties as such." He was in Bell's 
company. (See Texas Hand Book, - Peter H. 3ell. From this deposition 
It appears that John Y. was in Bell's Ranger company. WPF) 

000O000 
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Jose oh E. Criswell files suit against Jackson C.C. Smith for 
libel. Both, or rather each, of the Criswells sued for ?5,000. 

P. H. Bell gives identical character reference as for John Y. 
(So. both brothers served under Bell. - '.WF) Charges brought by 
Smith were similar in effect as those brought against the other 
two Criswell brothers. 

oooOooo 
Civil File 

591 
Andrew J. Criswell brings suit for $5*000 against Smith for libel 
He declares that he lived in Fayette County since 1835. 

oooOooo 

John Y. Criswell was awarded $5.00 damages.. 

oooOooo 

Civil File 
651 

Suit: Libel 
Same date as 
the other suits 

Herein Leroy V. Criswell sues Jackson C. C. Smith for damages 
in the amount $5,000.00, awarded $5.00. 
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MC MICKEN 

Records copied from old Criswell Bible in possession of 
Mrs. G. V. Wilkerson (daughter of Eliza Jane (Criswell) Boykin) 
Mrs. Wilkerson is the mother of Gilbert Hale,deceased, but a former 
resident of Waco, Texas. 

Andrew Mc Micken, Sr. departed this life April 2, 1824. 

Mary Mc Micken departed this life Arpil 10, 1826. 

A. J. W. Mc Micken departed this life April 19, 1821. 

Eliza A. Mc Micken departed this life January 7, 1848. 

Other names listed: Eddy Criswell Faires & Alex Faires. 

Records indicate the Mc Micken*s migrated to Texas from Tennessee 

in 1837, after the war for independence. Records of the Black 

Jack (Pin Oak) Cementery show that Eliza A. Mc Micken was burried 

in grave site 18 (located end of Farm Road 373 off State Road 609.) 

No record of grave site of Andrew Mc Micken. 
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MC MICKEN 

Gonzales County Court House Records 
Deed Records E, Bill of Sale of Negro woman to A. Jones -Pages 202-203 

REPUBLIC OF TEXAS) Know all men by these presents that I, Andrew 
COUNTY OF FAYETTE) Mc Micken of the County and Republic aforesaid 
for in the consideration of the sum of five hundred dollars to me 
in hand paid by Archibald Jones of the County of Gonzales and Republic 
aforesaid the receipt where of I do hereby do acknowledge, have 
bargained and sold and alienated, and by these presents do bargain, 
sell and alienate unto said Archibald Jones, a certain Negro woman 
named Maria and aged thirty years, to have and to hold, own and possess 
the said Negro woman Maria unto him the said A. Jones, his heirs, 
Exicutors or Administrators for and during the term of her natural 
life, and I do hereby covenant for myself , my heirs, Executors or 
Administrators that the said Negro woman Maria is sound and free from 
disease and I warrant and defend the title against the claims of all 
persons, whatsoever, and free from all incumbrances. In testimony 
where of I have hereunto set my hand and affixed my Scrawl by way of 
seal this sixth day of August in the year Eighteen hundred forty five. 

Andrew Mc Micken 
Certified by District Judge of 
Gonzales County 
Republic of Texas August 28,1845 
Recorded Dec. 23, 1845 

Gonzales County Deed Records, Bill of Sale..Vol. D. Page 53 

REPUBLIC OF TEXAS ) Know all men by these presents that I, Archibald 
COUNTY OF GONZALES) Jones of the County and Republic aforesaid, for 
value received, have granted, bargained and sold and by these presents, 
do grant, bargain and sell unto James Madison Mc Mickin, a certain 
American Black Horse (named Mingo) and I warrant and defend the title 
against the claims of all personswhatsoever. In testimony whereof I 
hereunto subscribe my name and fix my Scrawl by way of a seal, this 
7th day of August 1845, in presence of Aaron Moore &Andrew Mc Micken. 

A. Jones (seal) 

Recorded 9-8-1845 
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MC MICKEN 

Caldwell County Court House, Lockhart, Texas 
(Carved out of Gonzales County) 

Deed Records 

Arthur Swift to Andrew Mc Micken 7/10/1848 Book A Page 430 

State of Texas, Gonzales County: Arthur Swift of Gonzales County to 
Andrew Mc Micken of Fayette County, property originally in Gonzales 
County, now in Caldwell County, on Plum Creek—two Labors $600. by 
deed July 10, 1848. 

Andrew Mc Micken to A. G. May 10/14/1853 Book C Page 529 

State of Texas, Caldwell County: Andrew Mc Micken of Fayette County 
sells to A. G. May of Caldwell County, a portion of the above two 
Labors of land for $400. by deed on October 14, 1853. 

A. G. May to James M. Mc Micken 10/17/1853 Book C Page 530 

State of Texas, Caldwell County: Albert G. May sells to James M. 
Mc Micken of Fayette County for sum of $412.00, one large load wagon, 
four yoke of work oxen, yoke rings and Maples, wagon sheet, two , 
& wagon bins, onfi American Horse of bay color with star on his fore-
head-7 years old. by Bill of Sale on 10/17/1853. 
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MC MICKEN 

Fayette County, Texas Probate Records. Petition for letter filed 
November 13, 1854 by Andrew Mc Micken. 

STATE OF TEXAS () In the county court , November Term, A.D. 1854. 
COUNTY OF FAYETTE) To the Honorable Chief Justice of the County and 
State foresaid, the petition of Andrew Mc Micken would respectfully 
represent that David N. Mc Micken departed this life intestate on or 
about the 10th Inst, leaving his principal effects in the county of 
said petitioner, further represents that said decendant left no wife 
or children, that petitioner was the father of said deceased and as 
such is his nearest of kin. Petitioner prays that legal notice be 
given and that petitioner may be appointed administrator of the estate 
of said deceased and for such order as may be required in the 
promises. 

Recorded 15th Dec. 1854 

Fayette County Probate Court, November Term 1854 

#338 Nov. 27, 1854 
This day came on to be heard the petition of Andrew Mc Micken, praying 
for letters of Administration of the Estate of David N. Mc Micken, 
deceased—and it approving to the satisfaction of the Court that ten 
days notice has been given as required by law, when force it is orderedi 
by the Court that Andrew Mc Micken be and is hereby appointed adminis­
trator of the estate of David N. Mc Micken, deceased. 

£338 Dec. 29,1854 
It appearing to the satisfaction of hte court that Andrew Mc Micken 
was appointed at the Nov. 27th Term of this Court, Administrator of 
the Estate of David N. Mc Micken and ordered to give bond written 
tne time prescribed by law. It is therefore ordered by the Court 
that the said Andrew Mc Micken, Admr. as said be hereby removed from 
the Admr. of said estate. 
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MC MICKEN 

Gonzales County Court House Records 
Deed Records, Book 59, page 300 

Mc Micken, et al. Alice to A. E. & S. G. Mc Gowen July 1899* 

Surviving heirs of J. E. Mc Micken (his widow, Alice Mc Micken and 
children; J. M. Mc Micken, Mable Spinks and husband Raphel Spinks, 
L. 0. Mc Micken, H. W. Mc Micken, M. R. Mc Micken, T. W. Mc Micken, 
and J. W. Mc Micken) sell blk, 52 in town of Karwood on Galveston, 
Harrisburg & San Antonio Railway, together with improvements and 
gins and machinery to A. E. & 3. G. Mc Gowen for $1,500. 

Deed Records, Book F2, page 510 

James M. Mc Micken & wife convey 123 acres to J. T. Mooney. 

Probate Records—None. 

Judgement Record, Book A, page 169 

Mc Micken, J. M., Defendant; C. A. Richardson & Co., Plaintiff. 

In the Justice Court, Precint No. 1, Mc Lennan Cty. Texas, March 
Term, A.D. 1900. Judgement for Plaintiff for total amount $31.70 
May 14, 1900. 

Marriage Records 

1891 J. E. Mc Micken and Alice Shannon 
1898 Mabel Mc Micken and R. Spinks 
1900 Mrs. Alice Mc Micken and J. H. Snelling 
1900 Maude Mc Micken and W. W. Pendleton 

(Alice Shannon was probably a second wife to J. E. Mc Micken) 
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MC MICKEN 

Fayette County Court House Records of Probate (Book V, Pages 394-398) 
show the will of Mary E. Criswell in which she appoints A. W. Roth 
(attorney) of Flatonia and -J. M. Mc Micken of Harwood, Tx. joint 
executors and the will is wittnessed by M. F. Walker and Henry M. 
Mc Micken. 

The will specifies that her property be sold and that the proceeds 
be distributed (1) Three hundred dollars to body servant Emaline 
Crlawell, colored, and (2) Remainder divided among daughters Elizabeth 
J. Jones; Mary A. Lyons; Lillie M. Wadell and son, John H. Criswell 
and children of my son James Y. Criswell. 

• 

FAIRES 

Fayette County Court House Records of Probate, Books T <k V show that 
R. 0. Faires and his wife were appointed Gauadians of the children 
of W. T. Criswell (son of James Y. Criswell and Ardela Burk) however; 
upon the death of R. 0. Faires, his wife was unable to administer the 
guardianship which was placed in receivership. 

William and Ada Faires were neighbors to John Yancy and Eleanor V. 
Criswell on Woods Prairie. Elizabeth A. (Faires) Mc Micken and her 
children probably viaited her parents on occasions and the Criswell 
boys became well acquainted with the daughters. 
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JOHN YANCY 

A Hero Of The Battle Of San Jacinto 

JOHN YANCY, born in Raleigh, North Carolina, June 22, 1815. Came to 
Texas in 1833 as a single mansettleing in Nacogdoches County, Texas. 
Joined the Texas Volunteer Army March 6, 1836 to June 6, 1836, first 
enlisting with Capt. William D. Ratcliff's Company at San Augustine, 
but withdrew from that command to join Capt. Haden Arnold's Nacog­
doches Company and fought under that command at San Jacinto. Was 
issued Headright Certificate No. 716 for two thirds (2/3) league of 
land, being a single man settleing in Zavala's Grant issued by the 
Mexican Government. Issued Bounty Certificate No. 3074 for three 
hundred (320) acres land for serving in the Army Of Texas from March 6, 
1836 to June 6. 1836. Issued Donation Certificate No. 181 for six hund­
red forty (640) acres for having participated in battle of San Jacinto. 

John Yancy married Elizabeth Mc Anulty in 1837 and moved to Bell County 
in 1851. Mr. Yancy died October 16, 1868 and is buried in a marked 
grave in the Belton Cementary, Belton, Bell County, Texas. Mrs. Yancy 
was born September 30, 1820, died October 26, 1898 and is buried in a 
marked grave in Killeen Cementary, eighteen (18) miles west of Belton. 

Children: Sara J. Yancy 
Mary E. Yancy 
James R. Yancy 
Margaret M. Yancy 

James R. Yancy married Martha E. Caddell, daughter of William Caddell. 
Children: John Yancy (Deceased) 

Mrs. May Mitchell, Winters, Texas. 
Frank Yancy, Killeen, Texas 
Percy Yancy, Killeen, Texas 

Margaret M. Yancy married J. L. Peterson 

Mrs. Robert Conner, great-grand dauthter of John Yancy, Sr., address 
Rt. 4, Winters, Texas. 

(John Yancy belived to be nephew of John Yancy Criswell, Sr.) 
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S. F. AUSTIN REGISTER OF FAMILY3 

Character Certificates in the 
General Land Office of Texas 

Reference # 1037 

JANBY, JOHN (John Yancy/Yancey) 
NACOGDOCHES 

3 August 1835 

Certify foreigner John Ycean is a man of good , single without 
family, resident of this municipality since 1833* 

Jn Egne Michamp Arcaide Interim 

(Source:Texas General Land Office, Archives and Records Division) 

. 
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